DETAILED ENERGY AND COMFORT SIMULATION OF INTEGRAL REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING BUILDINGS IN CATALONIA

Joana Aina Ortiz Ferrà Doctoral Degree in Sustainability Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya Barcelona, September 2016





PhD Thesis

DETAILED ENERGY AND COMFORT SIMULATION OF INTEGRAL REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING BUILDINGS IN CATALONIA

Joana Aina Ortiz Ferrà

Doctoral Degree in Sustainability

Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya

Barcelona, September 2016

Supervisors:

Inmaculada Rodríguez Cantalapiedra.

Departament de Física Aplicada. Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya

Jaume Salom Tormo

Grup d'Energia Tèrmica i Edificació. Institut de Recerca en Energia de Catalunya



Acta de calificación de tesis doctoral

Curso académico:

Programa de doctorado

Unidad estructural responsable del programa

Resolución del Tribunal

Reunido el Tribunal designado a tal efecto, el doctorando / la doctoranda expone el tema de la su tesis doctoral titulada

Acabada la lectura y después de dar respuesta a las cuestiones formuladas por los miembros titulares del tribunal, éste otorga la calificación:

□ NO APTO □ AP	PROBADO NOTABLE	SOBRESALIENTE
----------------	-----------------	---------------

(Nombre, apellidos y firma)		(Nombre, apellidos y firma)	
Presidente/a		Secretario/a	
(Nombre, apellidos y firma)	(Nombre, apellidos y firma)		(Nombre, apellidos y firma)
Vocal	Vocal		Vocal

_____, _____ de ______ de _____

El resultado del escrutinio de los votos emitidos por los miembros titulares del tribunal, efectuado por la Escuela de Doctorado, a instancia de la Comisión de Doctorado de la UPC, otorga la MENCIÓN CUM LAUDE:

🗌 sí	🗌 NO
------	------

(Nombre, apellidos y firma)	(Nombre, apellidos y firma)			
Presidente de la Comisión Permanente de la Escuela de Doctorado	Secretario de la Comisión Permanente de la Escuela de Doctorado			

Barcelona a ______ de ______ de _____

Abstract

The energy renovation of buildings is an essential action to achieve the European target of 20/20/20. However, the dynamics of the energy renovation are very slow and the development of urgent policy actions beyond the national energy efficiency action plans is needed. In that context, the main objective of the thesis is to develop a cost-effective analysis for the energy renovation of the main residential building typologies of Catalonia, considering three main criteria: thermal comfort, primary energy use and global costs. The main building typologies of Catalonia are analysed, comparing the current situation with the effect of different energy efficiency measures. Four building typologies are studied, each of them in different climates and locations, in order to evaluate the differences and the particularities of every one.

The building model definition is an important task where all the methods and hypotheses to estimate the energy consumption are defined. In that sense, the objective of the building model definition is to go further to the previous studies, trying to improve the detail and the results of the simulation. The emphasis of the PhD is on the following aspects: the building characterization, including information from surveys and monitoring campaigns; the user behaviour and its interaction with the building, using stochastic occupancy profiles; the improvement of the implementation of passive strategies, as natural ventilation and the use of solar protections; and the thermal comfort of the users, as a criteria to choose the appropriate measures.

A validation process of the building model is done to obtain reliable results. A pilot site is used to develop the validation of the model. A monitoring campaign has been done to characterize the pilot site and to implement the simulation model. The pilot site is a dwelling representative of one of the typologies analysed under the PhD. The validation of the model confirms that the hypotheses and methods included in the model are appropriate for the residential building simulation.

Finally, the simulation process is defined in two-step evaluation: passive and active evaluation. The objective of the passive evaluation is to reduce, as much as possible, the thermal discomfort with the minimum initial investment cost of passive measures. This first step provides information to make a first selection of the appropriate passive measures in each building. In the second step where the passive and active measures are implemented in the building, the active evaluation wants to obtain the cost-effective measures, minimizing the primary energy use and the global costs. For concluding, the PhD provides technical and economic information to help to take decisions for the energy renovation of residential buildings in Catalonia.

Resum

La rehabilitació energètica dels edificis és una acció essencial per assolir els objectius Europeus 20/20/20. Malauradament, les dinàmiques de renovació energètica són molt lentes i requereixen de accions polítiques urgents emmarcades sota els plans d'acció nacional per l'eficiència energètica. En aquest context, el principal objectiu de la tesi es desenvolupar un anàlisis cost-efectiu per la renovació energètica dels principals edificis residencials de Catalunya, considerant tres criteris principals: confort tèrmic, energia primària i costos globals. Les principals tipologies d'edificis de Catalunya s'analitzen comparant la seva situació actual amb l'efecte de les diferents mesures d'eficiència energètica. S'han estudiat quatre tipologies d'edifici, cada una d'elles en diferents climes i localitzacions, per tal d'avaluar les diferencies i les particularitats de cada una d'elles.

La definició dels models d'edifici és una tasca important on s'han de definir tots els mètodes i hipòtesis per estimar el consum energètic. En aquest sentit, l'objectiu de la definició del model d'edifici és anar mes enllà dels estudis previs, intentant millorar el detall i els resultats de la simulació. L'enfoc de la tesis es centra en els següents aspectes: la caracterització de l'edifici, incloent informació obtinguda d'enquestes i campanyes de monitorització; el comportament de l'usuari i la seva interacció amb l'edifici, fent servir perfils d'ocupació estocàstics; la millora en la implementació de estratègies passives, com ara la ventilació natural o les proteccions solars; i el confort tèrmic dels usuaris com a criteri per elegir els mesures adequades.

S'ha realitzat la validació del model d'edifici per tal d'obtenir resultats fiables. S'ha utilitzat un habitatge pilot per realitzar la validació del model. S'ha realitzat una campanya de monitorització per tal de caracteritzar el pilot i poder implementar el model. L'habitatge pilot és un habitatge representatiu de una de les tipologies analitzades al PhD. La validació del model confirma que les hipòtesis i mètodes implementats al model son els adequats per la simulació d'edificis residencials.

Per concloure, el procés de simulació s'ha definit en dos etapes d'avaluació: avaluació passiva i activa. L'objectiu de l'avaluació passiva és reduir lo màxim possible el desconfort tèrmic amb el mínim cost d'inversió inicial en mesures passives. Aquesta etapa proporciona informació per realitzar una primera selecció de les mesures passives adequades per cada edifici. A la segona etapa, on les mesures passives i actives s'implementen a l'edifici, l'avaluació passiva proporciona les mesures cost-efectives, minimitzant l'energia primària i els costos globals. Finalment, la tesi proporciona informació tècnica i econòmica per ajudar la presa de decisions per la renovació energètica dels edificis residencials de Catalunya.

Acknowledgements

Primer de tot vull donar les gràcies als meus directors de tesi. A la Dr. Inmaculada Rodríguez per accedir a dirigir-me la tesi sense conèixer-nos abans. Gràcies per fer-me un forat a la teva agenda i pels teus consells. Tot i tenir molt aspectes definits de la tesi abans d'anar-te a veure, ha estat molt enriquidor incorporar el teu punt de vista, ajudant a que la tesi quedi mes completa. D'igual manera, agraeixo al Dr. Jaume Salom la confiança que ha dipositat en mi, donant-me l'oportunitat de formar part del seu equip i alhora poder fer el doctorat. Ja són cinc, els anys que porto treballant al grup d'Energia Tèrmica i Edificació; han estat molt intensos i profitosos. Sento que l'aprenentatge ha anat molt mes enllà del doctorat. Gràcies pel teu temps i dedicació, i per transmetre'm la teva passió per la recerca. Encantada d'haver-te tingut com a director de tesi.

No puc oblidar-me dels companys que han passat per l'IREC al llarg d'aquests anys, que no són pocs. Però agraeixo molt en especial a l'Eduard, amb qui vaig començar a endinsar-me al MARIE... tot molt Mediterrani; a la Cristina per guiar-me òptimament pel món estocàstic i pels seus valuosos consells; a la Verdiana, amb qui vàrem passar hores i crisis barallant-nos amb la ventilació, el control i TRNSYS en general; i per últim a l'Alfonso qui em va ajudar a donar l'ultima empenta a la tesi. Perquè un trosset d'aquesta tesi és també vostra.

Part de la tesi s'ha realitzat en el marc del projecte europeu MARIE (Agreement Nº 1S-MED10-002), on he tingut l'oportunitat de treballar amb molta gent, però en especial amb el Xavier Martí, les companyes de l'Agencia de l'Habitatge de Catalunya, Marta Arrufí i Eva Paris, i l'equip de l'Estudi Ramón Folch. També vull donar un sincer agraïment a la Nuria Garrido, al Pau Fonseca i sobretot al Toni Fonseca, amb qui vàrem passar hores fent córrer simulacions i analitzant dades,... i hem sobreviscut! Al professor Josep Mª Gibert que em va cedir les dades meteorològiques per fer la validació del model. Gràcies a la família del Jaume, per deixar-me accedir a casa seva, els hi dedico amb molt de carinyo el capítol de validació. Per últim, vull agrair a l'Annamaria Belleri, al Roberto Lollini i a tot el grup de Energy Efficient Buildings de l'EURAC per acollir-me a Bolzano, va ser una experiència genial.

Vull agrair als amics que m'han acompanyat en aquest camí, els de Barcelona i els que ja no estan per Barcelona, els que queden de Terrassa i els que continuen per Sa Roqueta. Tot això és mes fàcil quan tens amb qui desconnectar, riure, ofegar les penes i els estressos, i per que no, arreglar el mon plegats amb una cerveseta a la mà, que hi ha feineta! Gràcies per tots aquests moments.

A voltros, sa millor famili des mon! Que vos he de dir que no sapigueu ja. Si soc aquí es pes vostro suport incondicional. Confiau en jo, i és lo que m'ajuda a superar-me cada dia. Per ses hores de telefono, correccions d'angles, i viatges exprés per estar una estoneta amb voltros. Marineta, sa millor germana i amiga, tu també pots amb tot!

I per últim a tu Martí, que ets qui m'has acompanyat de mes a prop en aquests anys de reptes i novetats. Gràcies per estar al meu costat i donar-me el suport que necessitava en cada moment, m'has animat, m'has ajudat, m'has aconsellat i sobretot m'has aguantat aquests últims mesos (i m'has cuinat uns tupers boníssims!). Gràcies.

Contents

ABST	RACT I
<u>RESU</u>	IMII
ACKN	IOWLEDGEMENTSIII
CON	rentsV
<u>LIST</u>	OF FIGURES VIII
<u>LIST</u>	OF TABLEXII
<u>NOM</u>	ENCLATUREXIV
VARI	ABLESXVI
<u>CHAF</u>	PTER I INTRODUCTION1
I.1	MOTIVATION AND OBJECTIVES1
I.1.1	GENERAL OBJECTIVES
I.1.2	SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES
I.2	FRAMEWORK OF THIS THESIS: MARIE PROJECT4
I.2.1	ENERGY RENOVATION OF RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS OF CATALONIA
I.2.2	INTERACTIONS WITH THE PHD
I.3	THESIS OUTLINE
I.4	PUBLICATIONS AND CONTRIBUTIONS
I.4.1	JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS
I.4.2	CONGRESS CONTRIBUTION
1.5	REFERENCES12
<u>CHAF</u>	PTER II DEFINITION OF THE SIMULATION MODEL
II.1	STATE OF THE ART
II.1.1	OCCUPANCY IN THE BUILDING SIMULATION MODELS

II.2	BUILDING SIMULATION TOOL	19
II.3	BUILDING FEATURES	20
II.3.1	INFILTRATION	21
II.4	OCCUPANCY AS A DRIVER	23
II.4.1	NATURAL VENTILATION	26
II.4.2	SOLAR PROTECTIONS	28
II.4.3	DAYLIGHTING AND ARTIFICIAL LIGHTING	29
II.5	HEATING, DOMESTIC HOT WATER AND COOLING SYSTEMS	30
II.6	APPLIANCES CONSUMPTION	33
II.7	RENEWABLE ENERGY SYSTEMS	34
II.8	ENERGY EFFICIENCY MEASURES	34
II.9	OUTPUT OF THE BUILDING MODELS	35
II.10	References	40

III.1	INTRODUCTION	45
III.2	VALIDATION METHOD	47
III.3	PILOT SITE DESCRIPTION	48
III.4	VALIDATION OF THE BUILDING SIMULATION	51
III.4.1	SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS	56
III.5	CONCLUSIONS OF THE VALIDATION	61
III.6	REFERENCES	62

CHAPTER IVCOST-OPTIMAL EVALUATION BASED ON THERMAL COMFORT, ENERGYAND ECONOMIC CRITERIA65

IV.1	STATE OF THE ART	65
IV.1.1	BUILDING STOCK CHARACTERIZATION	65
IV.1.2	THERMAL COMFORT EVALUATION	68
IV.1.3	COST-OPTIMAL ANALYSIS	72
IV.2	TWO STEP EVALUATION PROCESS	74
IV.2.1	THERMAL COMFORT EVALUATION	77
IV.2.2	COST-OPTIMAL ANALYSIS	81
IV.2.3	ENERGY LABELLING	85
IV.3	REFERENCES	86

CHAPTER V	ANALYSIS OF THE RESULTS	L
		_

V.1	PASSIVE MEASURE EVALUATION	91
V.1.1	MAIN RESULTS: THERMAL COMFORT VS. INVESTMENT COSTS	
V.1.2	PASSIVE MEASURE SELECTION	95
V.1.3	B EFFECT OF NATURAL VENTILATION	97
V.1.4	EFFECT OF MEASURES	
V.1.5	CLIMATE COMPARISON	102
V.1.6	CONCLUSIONS: PASSIVE MEASURE EVALUATION	
V.2	ACTIVE MEASURE EVALUATION	105
V.2.1	MAIN RESULTS: COST-EFFECTIVE ENERGY EFFICIENCY MEASURES	105
V.2.1	EFFECT OF MEASURES	110
V.2.2	CLIMATE COMPARISON AND THE EFFECT OF NATURAL VENTILATION	112
V.2.3	CONCLUSIONS: ACTIVE MEASURE EVALUATION	115
V.3	GENERAL RESULTS	117
V.3.1	TYPOLOGY RESULTS	120
V.4	Application	131
V.5	References	

VI.1	CONCLUSIONS AND RELEVANT FINDINGS	137
VI.2	CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE THESIS	143
VI.3	OUTLOOK FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	144
ANNE	X I JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS	<u>145</u>
ANNE	Х II ОРТІНАВ	<u>147</u>

List of Figures

Figure I.1 Impacts of the energy refurbishment of residential buildings1
Figure I.2 Mediterranean regions involved in the MARIE project (Source: MARIE project)
Figure I.3 Process to build the MEDBEES (Source: MARIE project)
Figure I.4 MEDBEES interaction process (Source: MARIE project)
Figure I.5 Energy renovation of residential building of Catalonia
Figure I.6 Context of the PhD. Collaboration in the framework of the MARIE project
Figure I.7 Distribution of the residential building stock in Catalonia based on the ERF and ACH
classification. Selection of the building typologies (BT) and their climate for the OptiHab
study9
Figure II.1 Hourly electric consumption for a winter week. Example output of the model: two
random dwellings and a mean dwelling [1, 22]18
Figure II.2 TRNSYS 17 Documentation [23]20
Figure II.3 Building typology BT-8 block of apartments 1990–2007
Figure II.4 Comparison of the methods of air leakage's modelling (K's: K1, K2, K3; LBL: LBL
infiltration; Sh-Gr: Sherman Grimsrud; EN: EN15242; PH: PassivHaus)
Figure II.5 Transition matrix of the Markov chain25
Figure II.6 Structure of the stochastic model25
Figure II.7 Adaptive comfort ranges following the ASHRAE 55 comfort model
Figure II.8 Use of the heating and cooling system obtained from the BSC surveys
Figure II.9 Results of the simulation for a winter (left) and summer (right) week. BT-8 building
typology (multifamily building built between 1991-2007)
Figure III.1 Weather conditions in Terrassa for 2013, 2014 and 2015: air temperature (left) and
relative humidity (right). Official weather station nº 189C, "Agencia Estatal de
Meteorología"49
Figure III.2 Drawing and picture of the pilot site
Figure III.3 Energy consumption by the pilot site for 2013, 2014 and 2015: electricity (left) and
natural gas (right)
Figure III.4 Winter 2015 comparison. Air temperature comparison (top) and CO ₂ concentration
monitored (bottom)
Figure III.5 Summer 2015 comparison. Air temperature comparison (top) and CO_2
concentration monitored (bottom)
Figure III.6 Energy consumption comparison: bimonthly bills of natural gas (top) and electricity
(bottom) with the results of the simulation55
Figure III.7 Comparison of the simulation results done for the iterative process of validation 58
Figure III.8 Comparison of the simulation results: NMBE and CV(RMSE)

Figure IV.1 Percentage of People Dissatisfied (PPD) in function of Predicted Mean Vote (PMV)69 Figure IV.2 Comfort categories comparison. Left: Fanger comfort model (Assumptions for T_{op} :
I _a =I _{rm} , Relative Humidity=50%, V _a =0.1m/s, Metabolic activity=1.2met, External work=0met, Clothing resistance cold period=1clo, Clothing resistance warm period=1clo).
Right: Adaptive comfort model
Figure IV.3 Two-step evaluation process of the energy efficiency measures
Figure IV.4 Architecture of the co-simulation process
Figure IV.5 Software and methods implemented for the active measure evaluation to develop
the cost-optimal analysis (solid line: software; dashed line: method; dotted line: results).76
Figure IV.6 Calculation period for the climates B3 (Tarragona), C2 (Barcelona), D3 (Lleida) and
E1 (Pre-Pyrinees) based on the Fanger comfort model
Figure IV.7 Global costs calculation scheme81
Figure IV.8 Representation of the investment cost calculation. C_i : initial investment cost; C_r :
running costs; C_p : replacement costs; V_f : final value of the component; T: economic
calculation period. Source: [8]82
Figure IV.9 Global costs calculation procedure83
Figure V.1 Economic and comfort parameters of the simulation for Barcelona (C2) with natural
ventilation. Top-left: annual discomfort. Top-right: hours of overheating. Bottom-left: cold
season discomfort. Bottom-right: warm season discomfort
Figure V.2 Comparison between the standard floor and the under roof floor. Top-left: cold
season discomfort. Top-right: warm season discomfort. Bottom: hours of overheating94
Figure V.3 Passive measure selection, following comfort and economic criteria for Barcelona
climate. Left: With natural ventilation. Right: without natural ventilation
Figure V.4 Comparison of the simulation with natural ventilation (left) and without natural
ventilation (right). Top graphs: annual discomfort index; Bottom graphs: cold season
comfort vs. warm season comfort. Colour scale: hours of overheating
Figure V.5 Comparison between the standard floor (right) and the under roof floor (left) in the
simulation without natural ventilation99
Figure V.6 Results of the simulation of the under roof floor in Barcelona (C2) with natural
ventilation: comparison of the effect of the measures in relation to the cold season
discomfort (y-axis) and the hours of overheating (x-axis), emphasising: type of facade (top
left and right), type of roof (middle left and right), type of window (bottom-left) and type of
solar protection (bottom-right)100
Figure V.7 Climate comparison and season length of C2 (Barcelona) and B3 (Tarragona) 102
Figure V.8 Comparison between the results of the simulation in both climates (B3 and C2). Top-
left: annual discomfort. Top-right: hours of overheating. Bottom-left: cold season
discomfort. Bottom-right: warm season discomfort103

- Figure V.9 Cost-energy evaluation: primary energy consumption vs. global cost over 30 years (colour background: energy label scale of Total consumption of dwelling). Building located in Barcelona (C2) with natural ventilation. Right: Energy efficiency measures of the Pareto frontier, detailing the global cost distribution: energy cost, investment cost, replacement cost and maintenance cost. Passive measure description in Table V.1 and active measure in Table V.4.
- Figure V.10 Energy efficiency measures of the Pareto frontier for the Barcelona climate with natural ventilation. Left: Distribution of the energy demand: heating, cooling, DHW, lighting and appliances. Right: Distribution of the final energy use: electricity, natural gas, biomass, solar PV and solar thermal. Passive measure description in Table V.1 and active measure in Table V.4.
- Figure V.12 Cost effective evaluation of the mean dwelling in Barcelona (C2) with natural ventilation: comparison of the effect of the measures regarding the primary energy consumption (x-axis) and the global cost (y-axis), emphasising: type of passive measure (a), type of heating and DHW system (b), type of cooling system (c), type of lighting system (d), integration of PV system (e) and implementation of awareness campaign (f).111

- Figure V.15 Building stock distribution in Catalonia. Top-left: Climate characterization according to the Spanish Building Regulation (Código Técnico de la Edificación, 2006 [4]). Top-right: Number of dwellings for each municipality and typology distribution for each province. Bottom-left: Selection of municipalities according to the climate criterion (grey represents not selected municipalities). Bottom-right: Number of dwellings of the final selection of municipalities according typology criteria.
 Figure V.16 Example of the factsheet of results. Building typology BT-6 in climate C2 without natural ventilation.
 Figure V.17 Information about passive evaluation results included in the factsheet. Example BT-6 in C2 climate with natural ventilation.
 Figure V.18 Information about active evaluation results included in the factsheet. Example BT-6 in C2 climate with natural ventilation.
 Figure V.19 Building typology concluding remarks. Example of BT-6.

Figure V.21 Building typology comparison by climates126
Figure V.22 Thermal discomfort due to overheating depending on building typology and climate
Figure V.23 Summary of the energy efficiency measures effect in building typologies with or
without natural ventilation
Figure V.24 Group of measures analysed to define the two levels of subsidies: cost-energy
measures (red square) and deep renovation (purple-dash square)
Figure V.25 Cost-energy optimization including the two levels of subsidies: primary energy
consumption and global costs (colour background: energy label scale of Total consumption
of dwelling)
Figure VI.1 Thermal discomfort due to overheating depending on building typology and climate

List of Tables

Table II.1 Family description used in the occupancy model	24
Table II.2 Activities included in the state "active at home", based on the TUD activities	24
Table II.3 Use of the occupancy profile in the building simulation	26
Table II.4 Control strategy of the natural ventilation	27
Table II.5 Control strategy of the solar protection	29
Table II.6 Control strategy of the artificial lighting	29
Table II.7 Characteristics of the lighting system	30
Table II.8 Parameter to estimate the efficiency of the emitters and the control system [45]	31
Table II.9 Use of the heating and cooling system implemented in the building model	32
Table II.10 Characteristics of the appliances of the average household in Mediterranean regio	on,
Spain	33
Table II.11 Summary of the energy efficiency measures	35
Table II.12 Energy demand for each building typology and climate	38
Table II.13 Final energy consumption and non-renewable primary energy consumption for ea	ich
building typology and climate	40
Table III.1 Statistical validation following ASHRAE [1] and IPMVP [2] guidelines	48
Table III.2 Characteristics of the appliances of the pilot site dwelling	50
Table III.3 Monitoring campaign description	51
Table III.4 Heating setpoint configuration of the building model	52
Table III.5 Statistic indicators for comparing the annual consumption of natural gas and	
electricity with the results of the simulation	56
Table III.6 Configuration of the simulations done for the iterative process of validation	58
Table III.7 Building model performance according to the calibration protocols	61
Table IV.1 Thermal sensation scale	69
Table IV.2 Comfort categories comparison. Left: Fanger comfort model. Right: Adaptive comf	fort
model	70
Table IV.3 Description of the evolution rates implemented in the global cost calculation	83
Table IV.4 Economic hypotheses	84
Table IV.5 Energy and environmental hypothesis	84
Table IV.6 Total energy labelling scale for each building typology and climate	85
Table V.1 Passive measure selection, following comfort and economic criteria for Barcelona	
climate with natural ventilation	96
Table V.2 Passive measure selection, following comfort and economic criteria for Barcelona	
climate without natural ventilation	96
Table V.3 Climate characteristics	. 102

Table V.4 Description of the energy efficiency measures of the Pareto frontier for each clim	ate
(B3 and C2) and the use of natural ventilation (YES or NO)	108
Table V.5 Summary of the impact of the cost optimal and deep renovation scenarios for the	е
dwelling located in two climates (Barcelona (C2) and Tarragona (B3)) and with or with	out
natural ventilation (VENT and nVENT, respectively).	114
Table V.6 Building typology and climates selections	118
Table V.7 Number of simulation done for each building typology	120
Table V.8 Passive measure selection according to the building typology and the level of	
actuation: cost-optimal and deep renovation	129
Table V.9 Active measure selection according to the building typology and the level of	
actuation: cost-optimal and deep renovation	130
Table V.10 Simulations used to define the subsidies for the two levels of actuation: cost-en	ergy
and deep renovation	133
Table V.11 First level of intervention: subsidy definition	133
Table V.12 Second level of intervention: subsidy definition	134
Table V.13 Annual net incomes and expenditures for the average household in Catalonia	
(Source: INEa, 2013 and INEb, 2013)	134
Table VI.1 Passive measure selection according to the building typology and the level of	
actuation: cost-optimal and deep renovation	141
Table VI.2 Active measure selection according to the building typology and the level of	
actuation: cost-optimal and deep renovation	141

Nomenclature

AC	Air Conditioning			
ACH	Agencia Catalana de l'Habitatge			
BC	Base Case			
ВМ	Biomass			
BPIE	Building Performance Institute Europe			
BSC	Building Stock Characterization			
ВТ	Building Typology			
CIBSE	Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers (CIBSE)			
СО	Cost optimal			
CTE	Código Técnico de la Edificación			
DHW	Domestic Hot Water			
DR	Deep Renovation			
ELA	Effective Leakage Area			
ELE	Electricity			
EPBD	Energy Building Performance Directive			
EPS	Expanded Polystyrene insulation			
ERB	Energy Renovation of Buildings			
ERF	Estudi Ramon Folch			
EU	European Union			
HVAC	Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning			
IDAE	Instituto para la Diversificación y Ahorro de la Energía			
IPMVP	International Performance Measurement and Verification Protocol			
MED	Mediterranean			
MEDBEES	Mediterranean Building Energy Efficiency Strategy			
MIP	Macro Investment Project			
NG	Natural Gas			
nVENT	Dwelling without natural ventilation			

nZEB	nearly Zero Energy Building	
PA	Pilot Activity	
PS	Pilot Site	
PV	Photovoltaic	
RW	Mineral wool insulation	
SD	Standard dwelling	
TUD	Time Use Data	
TUS	Time Use Survey	
UD	Under roof dwelling	
VAT	Value-Added Tax	
VENT	Dwelling with natural ventilation	
XPS	Extruded Polystyrene insulation	

Variables

η	Efficiency of the boiler				
ALD	ASHRAE Likelihood of Dissatisfied				
C _i	Initial investment cost				
C _p	Total replacement cost				
CV(RMSE)	Coefficient of Variation of the Root Mean Square Error				
E _{APP,BC}	Energy consumption of appliances of the base case				
E _{ELE}	Final energy consumption of electricity				
E _{LIG,BC}	Energy consumption of lighting of the base case				
E _{NG}	Final energy consumption of natural gas				
E _{R,label-i}	Energy label scale				
E _{T,label-i}	Total energy labelling scale				
EER	Energy Efficiency Ration of the cooling system				
Ι	Irradiance				
LDP	Long-Term Percentage of Dissatisfied				
n	Sample size				
n ₅₀	Air change rates at 50Pa				
NMBE	Normalized Mean Bias Error				
ОН	Overheating				
Р	Markov Chain Probability				
PMV	Predicted Mean Vote				
PPD	Percentage of People Dissatisfied				
R ²	Coefficient of Determination				
R	Market interest rate				
R _E	Energy evolution rate				
R _D	Discount rate				
R _R	Real interest rate				

R _s	Total Solar Radiation			
RI	Inflation rate			
RX _E	Energy cost evolution			
t	time interval			
Т	Calculation period			
T _c	Courtyard temperature			
T _{op}	Operative temperature			
T _{op,in}	Operative temperature of the building			
T _{op,comf-ASHRAE}	Comfortable Operative temperature according to ASHRAE adaptive comfort model			
T _{out}	Outdoor temperature			
T _{out,m}	Mean monthly outdoor air temperature			
T _{sol-air} Soil-ai	r Temperature			
Q _c	Cooling demand			
Q _{DHW}	Domestic hot water demand			
Q _H	Total heating demand			
Q _h	Heating demand			
Q _{I,em}	Heating losses related to the emission system			
Q _{l,ctr}	Heating losses related to the control system			
Уt	Simulation results for a certain period of time t			
Y _t	Monitoring data for a certain period of t			
Y	Arithmetic mean of monitoring data			
V _f	Final value			

Chapter I Introduction

I.1 Motivation and objectives

Within the European regulatory framework and the agreement signed by Member States, the nations and regions have an essential role in decision-making to reach the 20/20/20 targets, applying the Energy Performance of Building Directive (EPBD, recast) [1] and the Energy Efficiency Directive [2]. The global impacts of building energy refurbishment policies depend on the specific energy improvements of the measures and the rate at which these are implemented in practice. There are very little data on the refurbishment rates in the EU countries. The publication by the Buildings Performance Institute Europe (BPIE) [3] assumes an average of 1% refurbishment rate over the European countries. However, the study remarks that the refurbishment rate is around 0.2% dwellings per year [4], which represents a low fraction of the building stock. These energy refurbishment rates are an order of magnitude lower than the 3% target for EU public buildings [2]. The very slow natural refurbishment rate in the Mediterranean area demonstrates the need for urgent policy actions beyond the national energy efficiency action plans.

The energy efficiency action plan must be designed to increase the energy refurbishment dynamics, but at the same time, guaranteeing the maximum impact of each intervention. The promotion of the energy renovation of buildings is needed, being sure that the measures are cost-effective in a long term as well as they improve the comfort of the users. In consequence, the impact of the energy refurbishment of buildings should be evaluated in three fields (Figure I.1), which also are sided with the EPBD [1]: environmental, economic and social perspective.



Figure I.1 Impacts of the energy refurbishment of residential buildings

The environmental benefits are related directly to the 20/20/20 objectives, and consist in the reduction of the energy consumption and the CO₂ emissions. Regarding the economic impacts, the energy efficiency action plan requires cost-optimal solutions in order to reduce as much as possible the private investment, especially considering the current economic and social situation. In that sense, the EPBD suggests a procedure for the economic evaluation based on the global cost calculation [5]. The last effect of the energy refurbishment is the social impact. The energy renovation of the building must represent an improvement of the quality of the life of the users, increasing the thermal comfort, consequently a benefit on the health of the people (especially in the people with low purchasing power). The last BPIE publication [6] provides an overview of the regulatory framework related to the indoor air quality, thermal comfort and daylight conditions. The report concludes that national regulations and the current building codes should be complemented with appropriate requirements and recommendations to secure proper indoor air quality, thermal comfort as a variable of design of the new and refurbished buildings.

I.1.1 General objectives

The aim of the thesis is to evaluate and to provide the cost-optimal measures for the energy renovation of residential buildings of Catalonia, considering three main criteria: thermal comfort, primary energy use and global costs. The main objectives are:

- Objective 1: The PhD thesis wants to evaluate which energy efficiency measures are appropriate for the refurbishment of the residential buildings in Catalonia. The residential building stock of Catalonia can be classified in different building typologies, each of them with their particularities. For that reason, it is interesting to analyse which measures are suitable in every building typology, climate and environment, considering their costs and primary energy savings. In this regard, dynamic building, The objective of the PhD is to reduce the uncertainties and improve the estimation of the primary energy use. To this end, detailed building model with realistic characterization of the building and its interaction with the user are needed. The PhD proposal wants to answer: Are all the measures appropriate in all the typologies and climates? How can it relate the actual state of the building with the simulation model? How can it be introduced realistic user behaviour in the simulation?
- Objective 2: The Mediterranean climate is a temperate climate and is characterized by warm/hot summers and mid/cool winters. In that sense, Mediterranean climate does not have severe weather conditions over the year. It can be an advantage relative to the energy consumption, because the heating loads are not high in comparison with the central-north of Europe. The thesis evaluates how the comfort of the occupants can be improved only by the

implementation of passive strategies (as natural ventilation, solar protections, improvement of the envelope) in the different buildings, climates and locations. The PhD seeks to answer the following questions: Which are the thermal comfort differences between typologies and climates? What are the differences between warm season and cold season thermal comfort? Is it possible to avoid active cooling systems in some locations and for some typologies with appropriate passive solutions?

Objective 3: The approach of the thesis is to analyse the refurbishment from the point of view of the final user: How much would the refurbishment of my home cost? Which would the amount of my bills be after the renovation? Which are the most effective measures in each building typology and climate? For that reason, the perspective of the economic evaluation is microeconomic, including the Value-Added Tax (VAT) on the costs. In addition, the energy consumption included in the study considers all the uses: heating, cooling, domestic hot water, lighting and appliances. The objective is to have a direct relation between the results of the study and the total energy expenditures of the households. In that sense, one of the results with especial interest is to analyse the energy savings achieved with the cost-optimal measures. This information related to the energy expenditures of the households could help to develop future building regulations and policies, especially for the existing buildings.

I.1.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives of the thesis are described following:

- Specific objective 1.1: To develop stochastic models to reproduce the occupancy behaviour in the building and its interaction with the systems. Using these models, the variability of the occupants is reproduced.
- Specific objective 1.2: To relate the physical and behavioural parameters of the building with the results of surveys, monitoring campaigns and experimental data, in order to define the simulation model with realistic information.
- Specific objective 1.3: To validate the method and hypotheses implemented in the building model. The validation of the model provides the reliability of the method implemented in the building simulation model, making possible to extrapolate it to other building typologies.
- Specific objective 1.4: To define a complete method to implement the whole process in a single simulation, with the objective to integrate the three main criteria in the building simulation. Dynamic building simulation programmes are tools that make possible to customize the building simulation and to include the calculations and interactions with a wide range of possibilities.

- Specific objective 1.5: The building simulation model has to be designed to be used in a co-simulation process, in order to run all the combination of measures automatically. It means, the building simulation model has to integrate all the energy efficiency measures and while being chosen automatically during the co-simulation process.
- Specific objective 2.1: The thermal comfort evaluation of the building is needed in order to guarantee comfortable combination of measures. The thermal parameters used for the evaluation should describe the thermal comfort over the year, but also they have to reflect the punctual problematic situations, as for example the overheating during the warm season.
- Specific objective 2.2: To introduce passive strategies for cooling based on Mediterranean behaviours. To improve the integration of these strategies into the building model.
- Specific objective 3.1: To use an economic method which compares in a neutral way the different energy efficiency measures. The method has to include all the costs generated over a long term, considering the investment costs, replacement costs, maintenance costs, and energy costs.

I.2 Framework of this thesis: MARIE project

The thesis is developed in the framework of the MARIE project as part of the contribution of the Catalan Institute for Energy Research (IREC), who was a partner of the project. A brief description of the project is explained in order to provide a context of the thesis.

The MARIE project¹ (Agreement N° 1S-MED10-002) was a strategic project, whose objective was to develop the Mediterranean Building Energy Efficiency Strategy (MEDBEES) in order to intensify, motivate and facilitate the progress toward the 20/20/20 European objectives. The project was led by Department of Territory and Sustainability from Catalonia and the consortium was made up of 23 partners from 9 Mediterranean countries (Figure I.2).



Figure I.2 Mediterranean regions involved in the MARIE project (Source: MARIE project)

¹ MARIE Project website: www.marie-medstrategic.eu

The process to build the MEDBEES (Figure I.3) started with the diagnosis of the Mediterranean regions involved in the project, determining the main barriers and outlining a first scheme of the most promising strategic lines.

This first proposal was evaluated in the study Potential Impact Evaluation [4, 7], which was carried out by IREC with the collaboration of the partners of the project. The study shows that the MARIE scenario achieves larger energy use reductions in all the analysed regions, both for the residential and the tertiary sectors. The good evaluation results of the first draft of the MEDBEES validate it as a sound strategy for energy refurbishment in the MED space. The benefits of the MEDBEES arrive slowly, but steadily increase with time. The MARIE scenario shows better results in the long run due to the longer cycles associated to the MARIE measures (e.g., market transformation towards easier integral refurbishment).

BARRIERS	STRATEGIC LINES	STRATEGIC MEASURES	OUTPUTS
* Incomplete information on EE, building stock.	DEVISING TOOLS FOR ENERGY RENOVATION OF BUILDINGS	1.1 Information on buildings energy consumption 1.2. Protocol for energy renovation of buildings	INTERVENTION FACTORY
 Incapacity of conventional financial instruments. 	ECONOMIC RESOURCES FOR ERB	5.1. Resource assignment through regional investment programmes 5.2. Implementation of financial mechanisms for resource mobilisation	
 Lack of end user motivation. Lack of technical skills. Lack of awareness. 	MARKET ACTIVATION FOR ERB	2.1. Activate ERB demand through communication and publicity plans 2.2. ERB suppy activation and professionals skills development	TRAINING AND AWARENESS CAMPAIGN
 Low level of technical innovation. Fragmented structure of the supply side. 	COMPETITIVENESS AND INNOVATION IN BUILDING ENERGY EFFICIENCY	3.1. Renewable resources quota 3.2. Innovation in energy related products and equipment 3.3 Local services platforms for energy renovation of buildings 3.4. R+D initiatives	INNOVATION LABORATORY
 Short-term oriented legislative framework. Poor integration of European, national, regional and local polices. 	BUILDINGS' ENERGY EFFICIENCY PUBLIC GOVERNANCE	2.3. Business cooperation 4.1. Alignment of regional legislation and policies to EU objectives 4.2. Local management integration 4.3. Experiences and policy sharing	COOPERATION HUB

Figure I.3 Process to build the MEDBEES (Source: MARIE project)

After the validation of the strategy, the MARIE project defined in detail every strategic measure with the development of several pilot activities. The pilot activities have contributed to improve the strategy definition and their interactions, helping to identify the straightness and also the weakness of the measures.

Figure I.4 represents how the strategic measures are integrated in a cycle process. The key point of the MEDBEE Strategy is to create and to implement an Intervention Factory to produce Macro Investment Projects (MIP) for the Energy Renovation of Building (ERB). This Intervention Factory was conceived as a continuous and efficient process of ERB MIP generation. To implement the Intervention Factory, different mechanisms are needed (Figure I.4): a suitable information system; policies and regulation aligned with ERB; specific protocols for ERB projects; appropriate funding mechanisms; and a monitoring and evaluation system. The

process is conceived as an open cycle, activated by new solutions, experiences and best practices in management, communication, training and technical innovation.



Figure I.4 MEDBEES interaction process (Source: MARIE project)

I.2.1 Energy renovation of residential buildings of Catalonia

One of the pilot activities (PA) developed during the MARIE project was the PA2.2: Regional Investment Plan for the Energy Renovation of Buildings. The goal of this PA was to increase the demand for energy efficient renovation of buildings of the Mediterranean territory, creating a methodology to develop regional investment plans for energy renovation of existing buildings by means of integrating all agents involved, in order to assure that the proposed plan is feasible, considering also the special case of districts with low-income residents. Figure I.5 shows how the project is divided in two parts: Building Stock Characterization and "Cost-optimal evaluation of energy efficiency measures for the energy renovation of residential buildings in Catalonia" (OptiHab study). The Building Stock Characterization has been developed by Agencia Catalana de l'Habitatge (ACH) and Estudi Ramon Folch (ERF) with the collaboration of IREC. The OptiHab study has been conducted by IREC working together with SummLab² and inLab³. The whole study provides the technical and economic information to design a Regional Investment programme for the Energy Renovation of Residential Buildings in Catalonia.

² SummLab - Sustainability Measurement and Modeling Lab. Research group of Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya -BarcelonaTech

³ inLab – Research grup of Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya – BarcelonaTech



Figure I.5 Energy renovation of residential building of Catalonia

I.2.2 Interactions with the PhD

The PhD thesis takes part of the PA2.2: Energy renovation of a residential building of Catalonia of the MARIE project, where the collaboration of several partners was needed. For that reason, it is important to differentiate the work that defines the PhD.

Figure I.6 represents the interactions between the partners involved in the PA and the PhD thesis. ERF and ACH defined the building stock characterization and the energy efficiency measures defined through three main activities:

- Previous analysis: collection of information from previous studies and methodologies related to the building stock characterization. Pre-selection of the building typologies and definition of the information needed.
- Typology definition and validation: Survey campaign to collect the missed information and to highlight aspects related to ownership of systems and appliances, and information about the user behaviour (hereafter the BSC surveys). Verification of the pre-selection typologies. Final typology definition.
- Energy efficiency measures: definition of energy efficiency measures for every building typology. The measures are defined by technical and economic information.



Figure I.6 Context of the PhD. Collaboration in the framework of the MARIE project

As a results of the ERF and ACH activities, the residential building stock was classified in 8 typologies (4 are detached houses and 4 are block of apartments), which are consistent with previous studies [8]. Thereafter, the most representative building typologies were chosen by ERF and ACH, in order to carry out the OptiHab study. The Figure I.7 shows the distribution of the residential building stock in Catalonia and the selected building typologies with their corresponding climates. The climate classification follows the Spanish building code ("Código Técnico de la Edificación CTE", [9]). The letter represents the winter severity (E is the coolest), and the number is the summer severity (3 is the hottest).



Figure I.7 Distribution of the residential building stock in Catalonia based on the ERF and ACH classification. Selection of the building typologies (BT) and their climate for the OptiHab study

Once the building typologies are selected, the OptiHab study was carried out. The distribution of tasks between IREC, Summlab and inLab is shown in the Figure I.6 and is described following:

- PhD thesis (IREC): definition and implementation of the method to develop the costoptimal study. Development of the detailed building model, including comfort, economic and energy evaluation. Validation of the building simulation model. Results evaluation and conclusion.
- SummLab: they have participated in the method definition providing their expert knowledge in the building characterization and the energy refurbishment of residential buildings. They collaborate with inLab in the development of the co-simulation architecture.
- inLab: they have developed the co-simulation and have provided the computational resources to run the whole simulations.

I.3 Thesis outline

The building simulation models are used to estimate the current situation of the households and the effect of the energy efficiency measures, in terms of thermal comfort, energy savings and global costs. The definition and the design of the building model is a crucial task to obtain feasible results. In Chapter II all the methods and hypothesis implemented in building simulation are described. In that sense, the building model definition tries to go further in aspects where the previous studies applied simplifications in order to improve the results of the simulation. Chapter III shows the validation of the building simulation model to check the reliability of the method and the hypotheses included in the model. For that purpose, a pilot site has been studied in order to be compared with the results of the building simulation model. In this sense, the Chapter III introduces the pilot site and the validation process.

Once the building simulation model is validated, it is possible to extrapolate the method to other building typologies. Chapter IV presents an overview of the strategies followed in previous studies to analyse the building typologies and the impact of different energy efficiency measures, from the point of view of the thermal comfort, energy savings and economic impacts. The literature review provides the context to introduce the two-step evaluation process, which is the method proposed to analyse and to select the appropriate refurbishment measures for residential buildings.

Chapter V presents the results of the two-step evaluation process, first making a detailed analysis of the results of one building typology, followed by an overview of the results of all the typologies. In addition, Chapter V includes an example of the application of the results showing the usefulness of the method.

Finally, Chapter VI sums up the main conclusion and the outcomes of the thesis. The tasks done during the PhD have been designed to achieve the objectives of the PhD thesis, which must be answered at the end. In the concluding Chapter a justification and argumentation of the success and/or failure of the expected objectives are included. In addition, the contribution of the PhD in the field of research is described, highlighting the findings of the research and providing an outlook for further research topics.

I.4 Publications and contributions

The contents of the thesis have been partially published in the following papers:

I.4.1 Journal publications

I.4.1.1 Previously published providing background for this Thesis

E. Cubí, J. Ortiz, J. Salom, Potential impact evaluation: an ex ante evaluation of the Mediterranean buildings energy efficiency strategy, International Journal of Sustainable Energy, (2013) 1-17.

I.4.1.2 Published as part of this research work

J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, J. Salom, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca. Cost-effective analysis for selecting energy efficiency measures for refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 128 (2016) 442-457.

- J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, V. Russo, J. Salom, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca. Comfort and economic criteria for selecting the optimal passive measures for the energy renovation of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 110 (2016) 195-210.
- J. Ortiz, F. Guarino, J. Salom, C. Corchero, M. Cellura, Stochastic model for electrical loads in Mediterranean residential buildings: Validation and applications, Energy and Buildings, 80 (2014) 23-36.
- P. Fonseca i Casas, A. Fonseca i Casas, N. Garrido-Soriano, J. Ortiz, J. Casanovas, J. Salom. Optimal Buildings' Energy Consumption Calculus through a Distributed Experiment Execution, Mathematical Problems in Engineering, (2015) 12.
- I.4.1.1 Under review
 - A. Fonseca, **J. Ortiz**, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca, J. Salom. Application of a co-simulation model to find the best comfort, energy and cost scenarios for building refurbishment. 2016.
 - I.4.2 Congress contribution
- *I.4.2.1* Proceedings as part of this research work
 - J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, J. Salom, N. Garrido, V. Russo, P. Fonseca. Optimization of energy renovation of residential sector in Catalonia based on comfort, energy and costs, in BS2015: 14th International Conference of the International Building Performance Simulation Association (IBPSA), Hyderabad, India. 2015.
 - J. Ortiz, V. Russo, J. Salom. Impact of natural ventilation in energy consumption and thermal comfort of residential buildings in Catalonia, in: 36th AIVC Conference: Effective ventilation in high performance buildings, Madrid, Spain, 2015.
 - P. Fonseca, A. Fonseca, N. Garrido, J. Ortiz, J. Casanovas, J. Salom. Distributed experiment for the calculus of optimal values for energy consumption in buildings, in: INASE Conferences, Barcelona, Spain, 2015.
 - J. Salom, J. Ortiz, V. Russo, Method to develop cost-effective studies of energy efficiency measures for Mediterranean residential existing buildings with multi-criteria optimization, in: World Sustainable Building 2014, Barcelona, Spain 2014.
- I.4.2.2 Other related conferences contributions
 - J.Ortiz, J. Salom, Republic_Zeb: Rehabilitación de edificios públicos en base a criterios nZEB y niveles coste-óptimos, in: III Congreso Edificios Energía Casi Nula, Madrid, Spain, June 2016.
- J. Ortiz, J. Tarrés, M.L. González, J. Salom. Rehabilitación energética de edificios públicos en base a niveles coste-óptimos y nZEB, in: CONTART: La Convención de la Edificación, Granada, Spain, April 2016. Best Paper Award.
- I. Sartori, J. Ortiz, J. Salom, U.I. Dar. Estimation of load and generation peaks in residential neighbourhoods with BIPV: bottom-up simulations vs. Velander, in: World Sustainable Building 2014, Barcelona, Spain, 2014.
- J. Ortiz, J. Salom, C. Corchero, F. Guarino, The uncertainty of the energy demand in existing Mediterranean urban blocks, in: SB13 Graz. Sustainable Building Conference, Graz, Austria, 2013. *Best Paper Award*.

I.5 References

[1] European Commission, Energy Performance of Building Directive (EPBD). 2010/31/EU, 2010

[2] European Commission, Energy Efficiency Directive. 2012/27/EU, 2012

[3] M. Economidou, B. Atanasiu, C. Despret, J. Maio, I. Nolte, O. Rapf, Europe's Buildings Under the Microscope. A country-by-country review of the energy performance of buildings, Buildings Performance Institute Europe (BPIE), 2011.

[4] E. Cubí, J. Ortiz, J. Salom, Potential impact evaluation: an ex ante evaluation of the Mediterranean buildings energy efficiency strategy, International Journal of Sustainable Energy, (2013) 1-17.

[5] CEN, EN 15459: Energy performance of buildings - Economic evaluation procedure for energy systems in buildings, 2008

[6] S. Kunkel, E. Kontonasiou, A. Arcipowska, F. Mariottini, B. Atanasiu, Indoor air quality, thermal comfort and daylight, Buildings Performance Institute Europe (BPIE), 2015.

[7] J. Ortiz, J. Salom, E. Cubí, Potential Impact Evaluation of the MEDBEES First Draft. MARIE project, Programme Med, 2012. <u>http://www.marie-</u> medstrategic.eu/fileadmin/utilisateurs/Common Assets/Pour la qualif/Dossiers/WP3/20120727 <u>- PIE Final report.pdf</u>

[8] N. Garrido-Soriano, M. Rosas-Casals, A. Ivancic, M.D. Álvarez-del Castillo, Potential energy savings and economic impact of residential buildings under national and regional efficiency scenarios. A Catalan case study, Energy and Buildings, 49 (0) (2012) 119-125.

[9] CTE, Código Técnico de la Edificación, 2013

Chapter II Definition of the simulation model

Chapter II describes how the building model has been implemented, giving detail about the methods, hypotheses and approaches implemented to obtain a realistic model. The information described has been published as results of this work in the following papers [1-4].

II.1 State of the art

The detailed modelling of a household's energy consumption is a complex task that involves different issues and requires different skills. In detail, the main energy consumption sources in a household are: space heating/cooling, domestic hot water, appliances and lighting. A major issue in modelling is to estimate the uncertainties implicit in the building model. There are many unknown and uncertain parameters that affect directly the results, especially when the model reproduces existing buildings. The uncertainties can be related to the quality of building works, real properties of materials and their performance degradation, the real performance of heating and cooling systems, quantification of air infiltrations, subjectivity in comfort condition, and an important group of uncertainties related to the user behaviour (appliances, lighting, setpoints...).

In the following sections a review of the state of the art is done. The review is focused on the occupancy behaviour and appliances consumption. The objective is to summarize the techniques and approaches that have been applied the last decade in those fields, to evaluate the strength and the weakness and try to improve them in the PhD thesis.

II.1.1 Occupancy in the building simulation models

Several simulations and practical studies have confirmed the significant influence of human behaviour on building energy consumption. The occupancy has different effects in the buildings which have to be included in the building models: a) a main goal of a building is to provide a good environmental comfort (thermal, visual and air quality). b) Occupancy is an important heat source and a modifier of the air quality in buildings; c) Occupants interact with the system of the building such as heating, ventilation, air conditioning, lighting, solar protections... The development of models to describe the occupancy behaviour has been an objective in the last decade. This objective follows the need to include better patterns of the occupancy in the building simulation in order to improve the energy results and reduce the gap between the simulation and the reality. The models for occupant presence aim to predict the probability for the active presence of occupants during the day in a building. Most of these models are based on survey data or occupancy data logs which are used as input for calibrating and developing stochastic models or deterministic methods to infer significant occupancy profiles.

The approach presented by Richardson [5] generates statistical occupancy patterns in UK households, with a 10 minute resolution and taking into account differences between weekdays and weekends. The model also indicates the number of occupants that are active within a house at a given time, which is important for example in order to model the sharing of energy use (shared use of appliances etc.). The model is based upon the UK 2000 Time Use Survey (TUS) data set. The TUS describes in detail the everyday life time of households members. The model uses a Markov-Chain technique to generate further data with statistical characteristics that matches the original. The data from the model can be used as input to any domestic energy model that uses occupancy time-series as a base variable, or any other application that requires detailed occupancy data. Widen et al. [6] presents a stochastic bottom-up model based on domestic occupancy patterns and data on daylight availability. A three state non-homogeneous Markov chain is used for the generation of occupancy patterns and a conversion model transforms occupancy patterns into lighting demand, with respect to the daylight level. Markov chain transition probabilities are determined from a detailed set of Time Use Data (TUD) in Swedish households and the parameters in the occupancy-to-lighting conversion model are adjusted to make the resulting load curves fit recent measurements on the aggregate population level. The performance of the model is analysed by comparison of simulated demand to measured lighting demand.

The model presented by Lu et al. [7] is based on Hidden Markov approach applied to historical schedules as well as actual data collected by several sensors (e.g. PIR sensors). The model estimates whether the household is occupied or unoccupied, and in the former case also whether the occupants are sleeping or active. The model is trained over a set of past actual past occupancy schedules and sensor data traces and is used to set heating systems, setpoint switches on or off according to occupancy. Krumm et al. [8] presented a scheduled based model in which occupancy is detected using a GPS device carried by the residents. The household is assumed to be occupied when the device indicates the resident is less than 100 meters away from it. Using the GPS the algorithm computes the probability of a household to be unoccupied during any time slot of a day of the week, with time slots of 30 minutes each. Mamidi et al. [9] uses a wide set of sensors such as video cameras, sound, ambient light, temperature, humidity, carbon dioxide, door/window state, ground truth occupancy counts from a counter app that is deployed on iPads installed next to the doorways. The objective is the estimation of two problems: 1) estimation of whether or not there are any occupants in a room, and 2) estimation of the exact number of occupants in a room. Solving these problems, it is possible to modify HVAC operation so that it is turned off when there are no occupants. The second problem is much harder, given the goal of estimating an exact number of occupants. Two general methods are compared: Simple heuristic method (regression), like linear regression, logistic regression, multi-layer perceptron, and support vector machines.

Aert et al. [10] developed a deterministic methodology that obtains occupancy profiles based on the 2005 Belgian time-use survey that contains detailed activity data of 6400 individuals from 3474 households. Using hierarchical clustering, the authors identified seven profiles that include highly differentiated yet the general behaviour that is relevant to building simulations, considering three possible states: (1) at home and awake, (2) sleeping or (3) absent. The approach provides a number of discrete user occupancy profiles that can be easily implemented in building simulation tools, keeping in mind the limitations regarding the predictability and the lack of interactions between users and building. The main contributions of these profiles are the identification of characteristic behaviour for subgroups of the population and connections between these subgroups and a number of socioeconomic variables. López-Rodríguez et al. [11] developed a study where the occupancy patterns in Spanish properties were determined using the 2009–2010 TUS, conducted by the National Statistical Institute of Spain. The survey identifies three peaks in active occupancy, which coincide with morning, noon and evening. This information has been used to input into a stochastic model which generates active occupancy profiles of dwellings, with the aim to simulate domestic electricity consumption.

Concluding the literature review of the occupancy modelling, most of the authors based their models on Markov approaches, however the base data can be different. Most of them develop the models with TUD and few of them with monitoring information. The potentiality of the models based on TUD is the easy replicability in other countries. The TUS are a harmonised European survey⁴ that makes possible comparing the results between countries. One of the contributions of this thesis is to implement a stochastic profile of the occupancy based on TUS from Spain.

II.1.2 Appliances consumption

For modelling the consumption of appliances, a difficult aspect is the quantification of purely stochastic variables, namely the simulation of electrical consumption profiles for appliances and plug loads. In practice, electricity consumption caused by appliances has been often based on fixed profiles derived from statistical data. Although this kind of approach has some strong points (e.g., simple calculations, perfect for first stage analysis), it is not useful when a detailed characterization of the household consumption is needed, as for example in models for studies on nearly zero energy buildings, design of renewable energy systems or the energy interactions of a "prosumer" (producer and consumer) building [12]. For that reason, the development of models to estimate an electric load profile has gained growing interest by the scientific community in the last decade. The model presented by Paatero [13] generates domestic electricity load profiles at the individual household level. The model is a bottom-up approach, where the consumption is composed by individual appliances or appliance groups. The input

⁴ Harmonised European Time Use Survey website: <u>www.h2.scb.se/tus/tus/</u>

data of the model were mainly collected from public reports and statistics, and complemented with two hourly domestic consumption data sets from Finland (mainly data of appliances and lighting). The analysis of the results shows that the model correlates well with real data of different studies and generates realistic profiles of domestic electricity consumption.

Widén et al. [14] developed a deterministic model to obtain daily electricity and hot-water demand profiles, using TUS from Sweden. Simple conversion scheme was used to translate each activity in energy uses. Five different modelling schemes were used to describe the energy demand connected to the activity: power demand not defined by activity (e.g. refrigerator); power demand constant during the activity (e.g. TV); power demand constant after the activity (e.g. dish-washing); power demand constant during the activity with time constraint (e.g. bath); activities with time-dependent power demand (e.g. lighting). The model has been applied to two sets of TUS from Sweden (1996 and 2006), and the results are compared with different sets of measurement data (2006 and 2007). The aggregated results of both simulations show correspondence with the measurement surveys, in general better for electricity than for hot-water. Thereafter a high-resolution stochastic model for electricity demand has been developed by Widen and Wäckelgard [15]. The model generates activity sequences of individual household members and domestic electricity demand based on these patterns. The model is based on non-homogeneous Markov-chain, whose transition probabilities are obtained from TUD from Sweden (1996). Non-homogeneous model means that the probabilities of transitions vary over the day. A detailed validation against measurement data is done. The validation shows at individual household as well as aggregate level, that the model is highly realistic in terms of end-use composition, annual and diurnal variations, diversity between households, time-scale fluctuations and load coincidence.

Richardson et al. [16] described and validated a high resolution model of domestic electricity use. It is based upon a combination of the pattern active occupants (when people are at home and awake) and daily activity profiles for each different appliance. The resolution of the model is one-minute and distinguishes between weekday and weekend. The model is configured to simulate households with 1-5 occupants and to include up to 33 different appliances. The model is based on UK 2000 TUS and some national statistics. The TUS has been used: I) to define the active occupants by stochastic occupancy model [5]; II) to obtain the daily activity profile, considering the number of active occupants for different activities, at each time. The model has been validated with one year measurement data of 22 dwellings of the UK, showing similar statistical characteristics. An occupant behaviour model has been developed by Yamaguchi et al. [17] for estimating high-resolution electricity demand profiles for residential buildings. The occupant behaviour is based on statistical treated data of TUS in Japan: average on going minutes (AOM), standard deviation of AOM (SDOM), and percentage of respondents who adopt

the behaviour (PB) at specific times of a day. Five priorities are defined and undertaken routinely: sleeping, commuting to and from work/school, eating and bathing. The second part of the model makes a conversion from behaviour to electricity, linking each one to the use of home appliances and equipment, the use of water heating and the location of the occupant.

The work presented by Baetens and Saelens [18] is based on the non-physical modelling of probabilistic occupant behaviour in buildings with an impact on the thermal and the electrical loads. The model is implemented in Modelica and can be divided in two parts: occupancy model (embedded discrete time Markov chains) and appliances use (semi-Markov processes). The model behaviour, which influences the internal heat gains and the power demand, is integrated in a building simulation. In a similar way, Neu et al. [19] integrate a Markov Chain Monte Carlo approach in EnergyPlus platform to simulate multi-zone single-storey detached building. The model is based on TUD in Ireland to obtain disaggregated residential appliances uses profiles, as Widen et al. [14] did. The model generates occupancy profiles at a fifteen-minute time resolution, electrical appliance load and lighting load profiles. They relate these profiles with the building models, including the associated heat gains of each element (occupancy, appliances and lighting).

Recently, "Instituto para la Diversificación y Ahorro de la Energía" (IDAE) has carried out the SECH-SPAHOUSEC project [20]. This project characterizes the energy consumption of the residential sector in Spain, including detailed information about the equipment stock and the main energy uses. The information is aggregated by regions (Atlantic, Continental and Mediterranean) and by building type (detached houses and apartment buildings). The data collection done by SECH-SPAHOUSEC has been performed by three complementary methods: telephone surveys, in-person surveys and electrical measurements of individual equipment in 600 dwellings. The main information obtained from surveys is related to the occupancy, the equipment stock and the annual energy consumption (based on estimations and bills). The electricity measurements give information about the use and the hourly consumption profile of each equipment and the hourly aggregate profile of the electricity consumption for each dwelling. In addition, the energy label of the characterised equipment is known and a detailed knowledge of the energy efficiency level of the equipment stock is possible.

Guarino et al. [21] developed a simplified and semi-detailed stochastic models of electrical consumption based on the data collected in SECH-SPAHOUSEC. The model includes data by region (Mediterranean, Continental and Atlantic) and type of building (detached house and multi-dwelling building). The simplified model is based on daily average profile of each equipment and the stochasticity is included in the stock of appliances for each dwelling. The semi-detailed model is based more on stochastic process than the simplified. In that case, the stock of appliances of each dwelling is also different, and in addition, the use of each one is

variable and does not follow average profiles. The use of each equipment is defined by a set of 24-h probabilities to be on for every equipment. To choose which is the stock of equipment of each dwelling, and which appliances is to be switched on, a set of random number is generated during the simulation (at the beginning of the stock of equipment, and at each time step for their use). The model presented by Ortiz et al. [1, 22] is an improvement of the semi-detailed model of [21]. The model is based on the same method: first, a random selection of the equipment stock of each dwelling is done; then, at each time step the model defines stochastically which equipment is *on* or *off*. The difference between both models comes from the increased detail of the available SECH_SPAHOUSEC data. This fact has given the possibility to include aspects as detailed stand-by consumptions, multi-equipment considerations and accurate input data (probabilities of use, energy consumption...). Figure II.1 shows an example of two energy consumption profiles obtained from the stochastic model. In addition, the stochastic model was validated with measurement data obtained from the European project REMODECE⁵.



Figure II.1 Hourly electric consumption for a winter week. Example output of the model: two random dwellings and a mean dwelling [1, 22]

The works developed by Ortiz et al. [1, 22] were done under the PhD framework and is included in the building simulation model. The equipment stock of each building typology is defined according to the results of the surveys done in the building characterization. Then, the electric model is run with the corresponding appliances in order to obtain the energy consumption of each building typology. The electrical model adjusts the consumption to the characteristics of the households obtaining realistic results.

⁵ REMODECE Project website: remodece.isr.uc.pt

II.2 Building simulation tool

The building model has been implemented in TRNSYS (Transient System Simulation Tool) [23]. TRNSYS is flexible software used to simulate the behaviour of transient systems. This flexibility makes possible to simulate thermal and electrical systems and it is used for many application (building simulation, couple multizone thermal and airflow modelling, solar thermal process, high temperature solar applications, geothermal heat pump systems, power plants...) TRNSYS is made up of two parts. The first is an engine (called the kernel) that reads and processes the input file, iteratively solves the system, determines convergence, and plots system variables. The kernel also provides utilities that (among other things) determine thermophysical properties, invert matrices, perform linear regressions, and interpolate external data files. The second part of TRNSYS is an extensive library of components, everyone models the performance of one part of the system. The standard library includes approximately 150 models ranging from pumps to multizone buildings, wind turbines to electrolyzers, weather data processors to economics routines, and basic Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC) equipment to cutting edge emerging technologies. These components, called "types", can be developed by the users with the objective to extend the capabilities of the environment.

The TRNSYS engine, the standard component library and most of the publicly available nonstandard component libraries are written in Fortran and are compiled into a dynamic link library for the Windows operating system. TRNSYS is commercial software with open source code for the entire kernel and all standard components. In addition, TRNSYS has a complete documentation to understand the methods and calculation implemented in the kernel and in the standard component library, as Figure II.2 details.

TRNSYS has been chosen as a tool for the building simulation due to its high flexibility and the possibility to create new components. There are several specific objectives of the thesis that require this flexibility for a better implementation (co-simulation process and new components, as comfort index calculation and economic evaluation).

TRNSYS 17 Documentation

Search entire collection



Figure II.2 TRNSYS 17 Documentation [23]

II.3 Building features

The building geometry (Figure II.3) is introduced in the simulation by a multizone 3D model, using the plugin TRNSYS3D for Google SketchUp [24]. Only two floors are included in the simulation, in order to simulate the building with more detail: the standard floor and the under roof floor. There are two dwellings per floor and each one is divided following two zonification criteria: night and day use, and orientation. The building model includes the external environment and their corresponding shadings.



Figure II.3 Building typology BT-8 block of apartments 1990–2007

The envelope materials are defined depending on the year of construction and according to the previous building characterization. The cold bridges are considered in façade, roof, windows and columns, using linear thermal transmittance from CE³X Handbook [25]. Annex II OptiHab described the characteristics of every building typology.

II.3.1 Infiltration

To finish the building characterization, a detailed model of infiltration is included in the building simulation model. The infiltration or air leakage is the unintentional introduction of outside air into a building, typically through cracks in the building envelope and through the border of doors and windows. Four different methods have been analysed in order to select the model of infiltration:

- K1, K2, K3 approach [26]: this method calculates the instantaneous air change rate, depending on outdoor temperature, indoor temperature, wind speed, and K1, K2, K3 coefficients. These coefficients have different values for tight, medium and loose construction. The method can be implemented in TRNSYS, using Type 571 (Thornton, 1998).
- LBL infiltration model [27]: this method calculates the instantaneous air change rate, depending on the Effective Leakage Area (ELA) and the superposition of wind and stack effects. The ELA depends on leakage coefficient and it can be calculated from experimental data of blower door test. The wind and stack effects depend on the outdoor temperature, indoor temperature, wind speed, the height of the building and its environment. The method can be implemented in TRNSYS using Type 960 [28].
- Sherman Grimsrud approach [29]: this method is based on the LBL infiltration model too, with the difference that two coefficients are used to consider the superposition of the wind and stack effects. The method can be implemented in TRNSYS using Type 932 [30].

EN15242 method [31]: the direct method for exfiltration and infiltration calculates the instantaneous air change rate as a superposition of wind and stack effects. The result depends on outdoor temperature, indoor temperature, the height of the building, wind speed, and a coefficient that considers the pressure difference between windward and leeward sides. In addition, the method takes into consideration the building conditions, using the results of the blower door test (air changes per hour at 50 Pa, n₅₀) to calculate both the wind and stack air change rate. The method has been implemented in TRNSYS using equations.

In order to choose the infiltration method, the results of these four methods have been compared with the reference values of the PassivHaus design, which is based on the European Standard EN13790 [32]. It permits to calculate a constant annual air renovation rate, as a superposition of wind and stack effect. It depends on the n_{50} parameter and two tabulated exposure coefficients: the number of façades exposed to wind and the environmental exposure.

Figure II.4 compares the four methods with the reference of PassivHaus considering three values of n_{50} (5, 7 and 10), obtained as typical values from experimental data in existing buildings. Analysing the results of the different methods, it is possible to observe that the K1, K2, K3 approach is not able to distinguish the building features with a high detail, in comparison with the other methods, due to the qualitative definition of the construction (tight, medium and loose). It means that this approach is not able to distinguish different levels of loose construction, and the same coefficients have been used in the three cases, with no changes in the result. If the analysis is focused on both ELA methods (LBL infiltration model and Sherman Grimsrud approach), the average air change rates have a direct relationship with the different n_{50} values; however, the air change rates obtained are the lowest of all methods. If both methods are compared with the PassivHaus reference, the air change rate is 0.1-0.3 h⁻¹ lower, being this difference higher as the value of n_{50} increases. Finally, the EN15242 is analysed: the air change rate is also lower than the reference value, with a difference between 0.05-0.1 h⁻¹. In this case, the difference is lower in comparison with the other methods, and the relationship with the n_{50} and the air change rate is similar to the PassivHaus reference.

After the analysis, the selected method is the EN15242, due to two main reasons: the method relates the air leakage of the household with experimental data (blower door test), and the results of the method are consistent with the reference of PassivHaus Design and EN13790.



Figure II.4 Comparison of the methods of air leakage's modelling (K's: K1, K2, K3; LBL: LBL infiltration; Sh-Gr: Sherman Grimsrud; EN: EN15242; PH: PassivHaus)

The EN15242 method has been implemented in the building model to estimate the air change rate due to the air leakage of the building. The method considers the indoor conditions, the weather and the building conditions. In that sense, the method improves the estimation of the air infiltration flow and adjust it to: a) the location of the buildings; b) the variation over the year and c) the real conditions of the building. The model of infiltration includes two effects: stack and wind effect. The indoor and outdoor temperatures and the height of the dwelling are needed for the stack effect calculation. Relative to the wind effect, the wind velocity is used. In both cases, the tightness of the construction has to be characterized by n_{50} parameter and it has been obtained from experimental data [33, 34] ($n_{50}=7.5$ h⁻¹ for current building and $n_{50}=5$ h⁻¹ for the renovated building). In the building model, the infiltration is related mainly to the window perimeter. For that reason, although actually the infiltration is present all the time, in the building model the effect of the infiltration is active only when the natural ventilation (window opening) is not used.

II.4 Occupancy as a driver

In the simulation, the occupancy has been defined as the main driver of the use of the building (heating and cooling systems, natural ventilation, solar protections, and lighting). For that reason, one of the main objectives is to use realistic profiles of the occupants. This profile has to reproduce the variability of the real occupants and, at the same time, their behaviour has to be representative of the average occupant.

The occupancy characterization starts with the definition of the family type: how many people are in every household and their ages. This information has been obtained from the BSC surveys done in the building characterization study [35]. The family type for every building typology is described in the Annex II OptiHab. The stochastic profile of each user is created from the TUD survey of Spain [36]. The TUD survey gives information about what the people are doing at every moment of the day. Then, this information has been used to develop a stochastic model. The model generates occupancy profiles characterized for being different between occupants, days and seasons. The stochastic model is based on the Markov chain

theory [37]. The main characteristic of the Markov process is that the stochastic process has the past-forgetting property, *only the most recent conditioning matters*. It means that the current situation depends only on the previous time step or period, or what is the same, what happens next depends only on the current state. Then, the information from the TUD has been used to develop the transition matrix that defines the Markov chain. For that, the TUD has been classified according to the family type. Three family types have been defined, as Table II.1 shows. The activities registered in the TUD survey have been classified in three states: outside home, passive at home and active at home. When a person is active at home means that it is doing an activity that implies energy consumption. The activities included in the active state are detailed in Table II.2.

Table II.1 Family description used in the occupancy model

Family	>25 years	<25 years
Type 1	1 or 2	no
Type 2	1 or 2	Up to 3
Type 3	Up to 5	no

State	Activities	Description
		Food preparation
		Dishwashing
	Housekeeping	Cleaning dwelling
		Laundry
Active at home		Ironing
	Social activities	Receiving visitors
	Social activities	Celebrations
		Computing programming
		Information by computing
	Computer activities	Communication by computing
		Other or unspecified computing
		Computer games
	Madia activition	Watching TV, video or DVD
	Media activities	Listening to radio or recordings

Table II.2 Activities included in the state "active at home", based on the TUD activities

Once the information is classified, the transition matrices are calculated following the scheme represented in Figure II.5. A, B and C represent the three states (outside home, passive at home and active at home, respectively), and P is the probability to move from a certain state to another. For every time step (1 hour), there are 9 probabilities, one for every possibility, and their sum is 1.

Figure II.6 describe how the stochastic model has been developed. Before starting the simulation, the selection of the family type, number of occupants and the initialization of the state of each occupant are done. The initial state for all the occupants is A. After the configuration of the simulation, the loop over time starts. For each time step and occupant, a random number is generated, using the default function of FORTRAN. The random number (RN) has a value between 0 and 1. Then, this RN is compared with the matrix transition. If the previous state at *t*-1 was A, then the RN is compared with $P_{A,A}$. If the RN is lower than $P_{A,A}$, the occupant continues in the same state; however, if the RN is equal or higher than $P_{A,A}$, the RN must be compared with the next probability $P_{A,A}$. The process is repeated in order to find the new state of the occupant. This step is done for every occupant and time step, in order to obtain the annual occupancy profile of the household.



Figure II.5 Transition matrix of the Markov chain



Figure II.6 Structure of the stochastic model

For every building typology has been simulated 500 households with its corresponding typology characterization (type of family) in order to choose a representative profile. A representative profile is the one whose annual characteristics are equal to the average profiles.

Table II.3 shows which information is used in the different systems of the building simulation: the occupancy, the number of occupants, or the state of each occupant.

	Profile information
Internal gains	N ^o of occupants and state
Natural ventilation	Occupancy
Solar protection	Occupancy
Artificial lighting	Occupancy, nº of occupants and state
Heating and cooling system	Occupancy

Table II.3 Use of the occupancy profile in the building simulation

II.4.1 Natural ventilation

The natural ventilation is considered as the main strategy to reduce the temperature during the warm season, following vernacular strategies of the traditional Mediterranean architecture. The strategy is based on the following assumption: the users use the natural ventilation for cooling the household. In the case that the natural ventilation is not enough and overheating occurs, then, the windows are closed and the cooling system is switched on. This assumption is consistent with the results obtained in the BSC surveys of the building characterization study in [35, 38] which shows that the cooling system is used occasionally. The implementation of the natural ventilation can be divided in two parts: calculation of renovation rates and control of the natural ventilation. The method for modelling the renovation rate due to natural ventilation depends on the building features and the type of ventilation. This can be: single sided ventilation, cross ventilation or stack effect due to courtyards. The references used to model each natural ventilation phenomenon are described in the paragraphs below.

1. Single sided ventilation, using Gids and Phaff approach [39]: this method calculates the air change rate in function of the opening dimensions, wind speed, indoor and outdoor temperature depending on wind and buoyancy effect.

2. Cross ventilation, using British Standard [40]: this method calculates the air change rate considering the thermal buoyancy effect and the wind effect, depending on the wind speed and the difference of indoor and outdoor temperature, in each moment. The method takes also into consideration the opening area, the height of the building and pressure coefficients.

3. Courtyard effect: in this case, the stack effect due to courtyard effect has been implemented in a simplified way, due to the complexity of the calculation. The courtyards are designed to extract the air from the households, due to the difference of temperatures between the outdoor and the courtyard. For that reason, the rule used to define the courtyard effect is mainly related to the outdoor temperature (T_{out}) and the courtyard temperature (T_c), because depending on that difference, the direction of the air flow changes (from household to outside, or from outside to household). If the $T_c > T_{out}$, the air flow goes from household to outside and the effect is the desirable. On the contrary, if the $T_c \le T_{out}$, the air flow is opposite and does not comply with the design. Usually, the courtyard ventilation is a complementary phenomenon from the main ventilation strategy: single sided or cross ventilation. For that reason, the air change rate is related to the main ventilation method of the household, and the temperature comparison defines if the courtyard ventilation is active or not. If the courtyard ventilation is active, then the rooms (zones) of the households that are influenced by the courtyard are ventilated.

The control of the natural ventilation depends on the following parameters: occupancy, operative temperature of the zone, courtyard temperature and outdoor temperature. Table II.4 describes the control rules of the natural ventilation applied in the simulation model.

General rules of control	Condition	Natural ventilation		
First condition:				
Occupancy	>0	YES		
Occupancy	0	NO		
If the occupancy is >0				
	T _{op} ≤24°C	OFF		
Operative temperature (T_{op})	24°C>T _{op} ≥28°C	ON		
	T _{op} >28°C	f(T _{out})		
If the natural ventilation is OFF because T	- _{op} >28°C			
$O_{\rm utdoor}$ tomporature $(T_{\rm u})$	T _{out} ≥T _{op}	OFF		
Outdoor temperature (Tout)	T _{out} <t<sub>op</t<sub>	ON		
If there is a courtyard in the household and the natural ventilation is ON				
Courtward temperature (T)	T _c >T _{out}	Courtyard effect ON		
	T _c ≤T _{out}	Courtyard effect OFF		

Table II.4 Control strategy of the natural ventilation

In general terms and if there is occupancy in the household, the natural ventilation is active when the operative temperature is between 24°C and 28°C. The Figure II.7 shows that this range of temperature is comfortable for ASHRAE adaptive comfort model [41], especially, when the outdoor temperature is higher than 20°C (warm season). If the operative temperature is higher than 28°C, the natural ventilation is off (the windows are closed). The windows will remain closed until the outdoor temperature will be lower than the operative temperature, usually at night.



Figure II.7 Adaptive comfort ranges following the ASHRAE 55 comfort model

The building model has been configured with the option to simulate the building with natural ventilation and without natural ventilation. The objective of this configuration is to be able to distinguish the buildings that have the possibility to do natural ventilation or not due to its surrounding (the possibility of ventilation is not the same in a spacious village than in a compact city, due to noise, air quality or security).

II.4.2 Solar protections

The solar protection is the strategy used to prevent the increase of the temperature during the warm season. The use of the solar protections has been introduced as a complementary strategy of the natural ventilation. The BSC surveys done in the building characterization study [35] reflect that 90% of households have external shadings (blinds) and the 84% of the families use them during the warm period. Accordingly, the use of the solar protections has been implemented in the simulation in the base case. The idea is that when the operative temperature is lower than the comfort criteria, the solar radiation is used to heat the household. However, when the operative temperature is higher, it is needed to protect the household of the solar radiation to prevent the overheating. Two control strategies have been defined and they are described in Table II.5: typical use and optimal use of the solar protection. For the typical use, the occupants use the solar protections (blinds) when they are at home and the environmental conditions require it. On the contrary, in the optimal use configuration, the occupants have a preventive attitude using the solar protection: if the day is hot, the users will put the solar protection (blinds and awnings) before leaving the household, as vernacular strategy [42].

General rules of control	Condition	Typical use of solar protection	Optimal use of solar protection
Occupancy	>0	YES	YES
	0	NO	YES
<i>If the occupancy > 0</i>			
Operative temperature (T_{op})	T _{op} ≥25ºC R≥140 W/m²	YES	YES
Total solar radiation (R _s)	T _{op} <25°C R<140 W/m ²	NO	NO
<i>If the occupancy < 0</i>			
Operative temperature (T_{op})	T _{op} ≥25°C R≥140 W/m ²	NO	YES
Total solar radiation (R _s)	T _{op} <25°C R<140 W/m ²	NO	NO

Table II.5 Control strategy of the solar protection.

II.4.3 Daylighting and artificial lighting

In order to define the use of the artificial lighting, the daylighting availability has been calculated to know when it is needed to switch on/off the lights. The artificial lighting is controlled by occupancy and daylighting. Table II.6 describes the control strategy for the artificial lighting. As a difference of the other controls implemented in the model, this control takes into consideration the state of the occupants. In addition, the control has different rules depending on the hour of the day: night (from 24h to 7h) and day (from 7h to 24h).

The conversion of radiation to irradiance over the window is based on a simplified method proposed by French building regulation [43]. The method has been implemented in TRNSYS. This is a simplified method that is useful for this model because details of daylight distribution and visual comfort are not needed. There are no specific actuations to improve the daylighting use.

General rules of control	Condition	Use of artificial lighting
Occupancy = 0		NO
If the occupancy > 0		
	Day (7-24h)	YES
Hour of the day	I<150lux	
&	Day (7-24h)	NO
Irradiance (I)	I>200lux	No
	Night (24-7h)	Only when active occupancy

Table II.6 Control strategy of the artificial lighting

The characteristics of the lighting system considered in all building typologies are described in Table II.7 and in the Annex II OptiHab. The selection of the type of light bulb has been done in coherence with the results of the BSC survey: 63% of the households have installed efficient lamps in the main rooms. In addition, the table shows the characteristics of the LED lamps, which are considered as a measure of improvement.

Lighting system	Power installed	Luminous efficiency
Fluorescent compact lamp	2 W/m ²	60%
LED lamp	1.5 W/m ²	80%

II.5 Heating, domestic hot water and cooling systems

The definition of the active systems and their use is based on the BSC surveys results of the MARIE project [35]. Around 60% of the households have a natural gas boiler to cover the heating and domestic hot water (DHW) demand, using water radiators as emitters. For the cooling system, around 50% of the households have an air conditioning split (AC) in one or two zones of the household. The only exception is for the building located in the Pre-Pyrenees climate, which does not have cooling system. The characteristics of the systems considered in each building typology are described in the Annex II OptiHab.

The energy systems have been defined using a simplified method based on the efficiency of the different parts of the system: generation, emission and control. The efficiency of generation is calculated using [44], which proposes a set of equations to correct the performance of the equipment depending on the partial load, and the indoor and outdoor temperature.

Regarding the efficiency of the emitters and the control of the heating system, the methodology implemented follows the European standard EN15316 [45]. The method takes in consideration different factors that affect the efficiency of the system: intermittent operation, radiative effect, stratification effect due to heating system and type of external walls, losses through external elements, type of control and hydraulic equilibrium. Table II.8 shows the values used for the base case and for the system after improving the performance of the installation through a programmable thermostat and thermostatic radiator valves.

Parameter	Base case	EE measure
Factor for intermittent operation	0.97	0.97
Factor due to the radiative effect	1.00	1.00
Efficiency due to stratification (temperature)	0.93	0.93
Efficiency due to stratification (type of wall)	0.95	0.95
Efficiency due to loses through external walls	1.00	1.00
Efficiency due to temperature control in the room	0.88	0.97
Factor for hydraulic equilibrium	1.03	1.00

Table II.8 Parameter to estimate the efficiency of the emitters and the control system [45]

Eq. II.1, Eq. II.2 and Eq. II.3 represent how the heating, DHW and cooling system has been implemented in the building model. The heating and the cooling demand are obtained directly from the dynamic simulation and the DHW is introduced in the simulation as an input data, obtained from the following reference daily profile [46].

Eq. II.1
$$E_{NG} = \frac{Q_H + Q_{DHW}}{\eta}$$

Eq. II.2
$$Q_H = Q_h + Q_{l,em} + Q_{l,ctr}$$

Eq. II.3
$$E_{ELE} = \frac{Q_C}{EER}$$

Where E_{NG} represents the final energy consumption of natural gas and E_{ELE} the final energy consumption of electricity in kWh. Q_C is the cooling demand, Q_{DHW} is the domestic hot water demand and Q_H is the total heating demand, including the losses related to the emission ($Q_{l,em}$) and the control system ($Q_{l,ctr}$), in kWh. Q_h represents the heating demand of the dwelling. η is the efficiency of the boiler and *EER* is the energy efficiency ratio of the cooling system.

In addition, the BSC surveys provide information about the use of the systems. Figure II.8 shows that the use of the heating and cooling system follows different patterns. With regard to the heating system use: 20% of the households use the heating system for the whole cold season; 28% use the system only when is very cold; 27% use the system when there is occupancy for the day-time, switching off for night; 17% use the heating system depending on the situation, without following any schedule; and the 8% use the heating system when there is occupancy. The setpoint of the heating system is between 21-23°C (44%) and lower or equal than 20°C (42%). The information about the use of the systems has been translated into the building model, as Table II.9 describes. The heating system is used when there is occupancy in the dwelling with two setpoints, depending on the hour of the day (20°C and 15°C, day and night respectively).

During the warm period, the cooling system is used basically when the temperature is hot (57%) and the setpoint of the cooling system varies between 24-25°C (42%). These results are consistent with the hypothesis that the main strategy to reduce the temperature in summer is the natural ventilation, and the cooling system is used only when the weather conditions are extremes. Then, the use of the cooling system has been implemented in the model following the same rationale, prioritizing the natural ventilation.



Figure II.8 Use of the heating and cooling system obtained from the BSC surveys

Concerning the setpoint from both systems, the temperature to have comfort conditions has been calculated, assuming a comfort Category II for new and renovated buildings (Predicted Mean Vote= ± 0.5). For the calculation it has been considered: the mean radiant temperature equal to the air temperature, indoor air relative humidity of 50%, air velocity of 0.1m/s, metabolic rate of 1.2met, clothing insulation of 1clo and 0.5clo, for cold and warm periods respectively, and an external work of zero met. The objective of that is to ensure that the setpoint used in the simulation is coherent with Fanger comfort model [47] (comfort model used in buildings with mechanical heating and cooling systems). The comfort range temperatures obtained are 19.2°C - 23.7°C and 23.0°C - 26.2°C for cold and warm periods. In conclusion, the temperatures used in the building simulation are inside the comfort range, according to the Category II of the Fanger model.

Table II.9 Use of the heating and cooling system implemented in the building model

System	Use	Setpoint
Hosting	Occupancy	20°C during day
пеасту	Occupancy	15°C during night
Cooling	Very hot	24.5°C

II.6 Appliances consumption

The stock of equipment for each building typology has been obtained from the BSC surveys and is detailed in the Annex II OptiHab. The appliances follows the characteristics of the average household of a multifamily building in the Mediterranean region, which are obtained from the SECH-SPAHOUSEC project [20] and described in [1]. Table II.10 described the energy label of each appliance and their annual energy consumption.

Appliance	Energy label	Annual energy consumption	Appliance	Energy label	Annual energy consumption
Washing machine	А	304 kWh/yr	Electric kitchen	-	436 kWh/yr
Drier	А	249 kWh/yr	Electric oven	-	163 kWh/yr
Dishwasher	А	246 kWh/yr	Microwave	-	61 kWh/yr
Refrigerator	В	674 kWh/yr	PC	-	291 kWh/yr
Television	С	211 kWh/yr			

Table II.10 Characteristics of the appliances of the average household in Mediterranean region, Spain

The energy consumption profile of the appliances has been obtained through the stochastic model [1, 22]. The model uses a stochastic approach to simulate more than one household at the same time. The main output of the model is energy consumption of the household, in terms of aggregated and single energy use consumption. The idea behind the model is having a high-resolution tool, dependent on easily modifiable parameters. The model permits a simple and effective customization by the user, keeping it robust. The parameters of the model are also related with energy standards of appliances, making possible an analysis of their effect at neighbourhood level. The modelling environment chosen for the implementation of the model is TRNSYS, in order to complement the simulation of thermal loads in buildings. The description about the model and its validation are presented in [1].

Finally, one of the measures that have been considered in the study is the implementation of an awareness campaign in order to change the behaviour of the users and to reduce their energy consumption. The campaign consists in a training session about how they can save energy at home, and an installation of smart metering in each dwelling to provide information of their consumption. The smart metering visualizes the electric consumption in real-time as well as via web-server. This measure provides a reduction of 13% of the lighting and appliances consumption according to the results obtained from the local project "Smart Metering" in Sabadell [48]. The project developed an awareness campaign installing smart meters in 100 households, obtaining positive results after six months of actuation.

II.7 Renewable energy systems

The base case of the building typology does not have installed renewable energy systems. However, the building model has implemented two renewable energy systems in the simulation, in order to be considered as energy efficiency measures.

Solar thermal is one of the renewable energy systems considered in the study to cover partially the DHW demand, following the current regulation in Spain. In this case, the heat produced by the system has been calculated through the software Transol [49, 50], generating different profiles depending on the surface of the system and the climate. The solar thermal system is designed for the whole building and includes a centralized storage tank.

The other renewable energy is a photovoltaic (PV) system. In this case, the system has been implemented in the building model through a group of TRNSYS's components. The PV system has been designed at building level to cover the lighting consumption of the common areas of the building. The simulation model does not include this consumption because the simulation is done at household level. Then, in order to take into consideration the savings produced by the system, the proportional amount of PV generation will be considered as a saving of the electric consumption of every dwelling.

II.8 Energy efficiency measures

A brief description of the measure is introduced in the following section. Table II.11 includes the description of the measure and their additional benefits. The characteristics of the energy performance and their associated costs are detailed for every building typology in the Annex II OptiHab. The measures and their corresponding costs were defined in the framework of the MARIE project [35]. The investment costs include the material, their installation and the taxes (21% VAT). All the measures have been simulated both individually and combined.

Measure	Code	Description	Additional benefits	
	F11-F15	External – EPS 4-12 cm		
	F16-F20	External – XPS 4-12 cm		
	F21-F23	Air chamber – rock wool 3-10 cm		
Façade	F24-F26	Air chamber – EPS + graphite 3-10 cm	Reduce the thermal bridge.	
modución	F27-F28	Air chamber – cellulose 5-10 cm		
	F29-F31	Internal – EPS 4-8 cm		
	F32-F34	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm		
	R11-R13	Inverted – XPS 8-12 cm		
Roof	R14-R16	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm	-	
modución	R17-R19	Internal – EPS 4-8 cm		
Window	W11	4/16/4 Aluminium with thermal break	Poduce air infiltration ($pEQ - Eh^{-1}$)	
change	W12	4/16/4 PVC	Reduce an initiation (150=51)	
Solar protection	S11	Awning	Optimal use of the solar shadings	
llestin -	H11	Condensing boiler + Improve the installation performance	Programmable thermostat	
Heating and DHW system	H12	Biomass boiler + Improve the installation performance	Thermostatic radiator valve Tap aerators	
	H13	Heat pump Air-water + Improve the installation performance	Water volume saving	
Cooling	C11	Efficient air conditioning system (Split)	-	
system	C12	No cooling system	The natural ventilation guarantee the comfort conditions	
Lighting	L11	LED	-	
Awareness	A11	Awareness campaign	Reduction of 13% of electric consumption	
Solar thermal	T11	Solar thermal system + storage tank	-	
PV system	P11	Photovoltaic system	-	

Table II.11 Summary of the energy efficiency measures

II.9 Output of the building models

Figure II.9 shows the results of the simulation visualizing how the occupancy is linked to the use of the building: heating and cooling system, natural ventilation, artificial lighting and solar protection. In the left column there are the results of a winter week and in the right column a summer week. The first row of graphs represents the state of the occupancy during the week: outside home, passive at home and active at home. In the second row there are the temperature profiles including the outside temperature, indoor temperature and operative temperature. The third row shows the behaviour of the infiltration and the natural ventilation represented by the air renovation and its relation to the wind velocity. The fourth row of graphs

represents the use of the solar protection together with the solar radiation over the windows. In the last row, the availability of daylighting and the use of artificial lighting are shown.



Figure II.9 Results of the simulation for a winter (left) and summer (right) week. BT-8 building typology (multifamily building built between 1991-2007)

Analysing the winter week of the Figure II.9, it is possible to see how the temperature of 4th February is below the setpoint (20°C) because there are no occupants in the building and the heating system is off. As soon as the household is occupied, the heating system is switch on, increasing the temperature up to the setpoint. The solar protections (blinds) are used only at night as a thermal protection. As to the air renovation, the only phenomenon present during the winter week is the infiltration because the natural ventilation is not used.

For the summer week, the use of the natural ventilation and the solar protection has an important role in the building. The natural ventilation is active when there are occupants and the operative temperature is higher than 24°C, as it is represented during the 17th July: at night the temperature is lower than 24°C and the natural ventilation is not used; in the morning the temperature is increasing and the natural ventilation is active; at midday, there are no occupants in the household and the natural ventilation is off. In reference to the use of the solar protection, it is also possible to observe that their use depends on the operative temperature, the occupancy and the solar radiation.

Finally, the use of the lighting is the result of several factors: the availability of daylighting, the occupancy, and the state of the occupants. Some of these factors are not related with the season variability, for that reason there are not big differences between winter and summer despite the difference of daylighting hours.

The annual results for every building typology without any energy efficiency measure are detailed in Table II.12 and Table II.13. Table II.12 describes the energy demand for each building typology and climate, breaking down the energy demand by uses: heating, cooling, DHW, lighting and appliances. The results are expressed in energy demand per dwelling (kWh/dw) and per square meter (kWh/m²).

The first analysis is focused on the results of a building typology changing the climate and the natural ventilation use (VENT and nVENT, with natural ventilation and without natural ventilation respectively). The main differences between climates are reflected in the heating and cooling demand. The nomenclature of the climates represents: letters (A-E) are the winter season and numbers (1-4) are the summer season. The highest values are the coolest (E) or hottest climates (4). For example E1 is the coolest climate in winter and in summer; B3 is the warmest climate in winter and in summer; D3 is an extreme climate with a cold winter and hot summer. Then, the heating and cooling demand of each climate follows the climate definition. The heating demand of the D3 climate is higher that the C2 climate; although, the cooling demand of the C2 is lower than the D3. On the other hand, the difference between the simulation of VENT and nVENT is reflected in the cooling demand. The building typologies that cannot use the natural ventilation as a cooling strategy increase the cooling demand

considerable: more than a half in most of the building typologies and climates. The differences of domestic hot water and lightning demand due to the climate are reduced.

	Clima Natural ventilation	C2 VENT	C2 nVFNT	B3 VENT	B3 nVFNT	D3 VENT	D3 nVENT	E1 VENT	E1 nVENT
BT-4 (Semi-	detached house, 1991-20	07. Dwelling	surface: 175.3 m	²)					
Heating	(kWh _t /dw∙yr)	12 777	12 777	10 482	10 482	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _t /m²⋅yr)	73	73	60	60	-	-	-	-
Cooling	(kWh _t /dw∙yr)	92	417	373	806	-	-	-	-
Cooling	(kWh _t /m ² ·yr)	1	2	2	5	-	-	-	-
DHW	(kWh _t /dw∙yr)	1965	1 965	1 881	1 881	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _t /m ² ·yr)	11	11	11	11	-	-	-	-
Lighting	(kWh _e /dw∙yr)	540	540	542	542	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _e /m ² ·yr)	3	3	3	3	-	-	-	-
Appliances	(kWh _e /dw∙yr)	4 306	4 306	4 306	4 306	-	-	-	-
	s (kWh _e /m ² ·yr)	25	25	25	25	-	-	-	-
BT-5 (Block	of apartments between b	ouildings, up t	o 1950. Dwelling	g surface: 60.5	m²)				
Heating	(kWh _t /dw·yr)	3 044	3 040	-	-	-	-	4 794	-
	(kWh _t /m²·yr)	50	50	-	-	-	-	79	-
Cooling	(kWh _t /dw∙yr)	49	254	-	-	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _t /m ² ·yr)	1	4	-	-	-	-	-	-
DHW	(kWh _t /dw∙yr)	982	982	-	-	-	-	1 1 4 9	-
	(kWh _t /m ² ·yr)	16	16	-	-	-	-	19	-
Lighting	(kWh _e /dw∙yr)	219	219	-	-	-	-	217	-
	(kWh _e /m²⋅yr)	4	4	-	-	-	-	4	-
Appliances	(kWh _e /dw·yr)	1 831	1 831	-	-	-	-	1831	-
	(kWh _e /m²⋅yr)	30	30	-	-	-	-	30	-
BT-6 (Block	of apartments between b	ouildings, 195	1-1980. Dwellin	g surface: 78.8	m²)				
Heating	(kWh _t /dw·yr)	4 797	4 797	3 939	3 937	7 797	7 796	7 738	-
	(kWh _t /m²⋅yr)	61	61	50	50	99	99	98	-
Cooling	(kWh _t /dw·yr)	86	312	276	566	253	432	-	-
	(kWh _t /m²⋅yr)	1	4	3	7	3	5	-	-
DHW	(kWh _t /dw∙yr)	1 473	1 473	1 411	1 411	1 625	1 625	1724	-
	(kWh _t /m²∙yr)	19	19	18	18	21	21	22	-
Lighting	(kWh _e /dw∙yr)	224	224	220	220	222	222	224	-
	(kWh _e /m²·yr)	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	-
Appliances	(kWh _e /dw·yr)	1 832	1 832	1 832	1 832	1 832	1 832	1 832	-
	(kWh _e /m²⋅yr)	23	23	23	23	23	23	23	-
BT-8 (Isolat	ed block of apartments,	1991-2007. Dv	welling surface:	103.2 m ²)					
Heating	(kWh _t /dw·yr)	5 506	5 507	4 420	4 420	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _t /m ² ·yr)	53	53	43	43	-	-	-	-
Cooling	(kWh _t /dw⋅yr)	114	748	415	1 214	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _t /m ² ·yr)	1	7	4	12	-	-	-	-
DHW	(kWh _t /dw∙yr)	1 473	1 473	1 411	1 411	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _t /m²·yr)	14	14	14	14	-	-	-	-
Lighting	(kWh _e /dw∙yr)	292	293	289	289	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _e /m²·yr)	3	3	3	3	-	-	-	-
Annliance	(kWh _e /dw∙yr)	3 472	3 472	3 472	3 472	-	-	-	-
	(kWh _e /m ² ·yr)	34	34	34	34	-	-	-	-

Table II.12 Energy demand for each building typology and climate

The comparison between building typologies is done below. Starting the analysis with the heating demand, the results reflect that for the same period of construction, which implies the same level of energy performance, the semi-detached house (BT-4) has a higher heating demand than the block of apartments (BT-8), 73 and 53 kWh/m²·yr respectively. Comparing the cooling demand, the BT-4 presents better results due to have a more effective strategy of natural ventilation and solar protection. The semi-detached house has natural cross ventilation and external solar protections (awnings); however the BT-8 has single-sided ventilation and blinds as a solar protection. Analysing the block of apartments and the different construction periods it is possible to observe how the heating demand is reduced as the thermal regulation improves. There is an exception with the oldest building typology (BT-5). This typology has a low heat demand, being lower than the BT-8. The main reason is that the building typology is protected, having only one and small external façade and one external window (see Annex II OptiHab), and the inertia of the materials is higher than the other building typologies (solid bricks instead of hollow bricks). This building typology is typical from the old town of the cities and is characterized to be located in narrow streets and to have different floor configurations from one building to another.

Finally, the DHW, lighting and appliances demand are related to the occupancy and the size of the building. The BT-4 is the highest dwelling and is occupied by four people, for that reason the demands are higher. On the contrary, the BT-5 is occupied by two people and the demands are lower.

To finalize the comparison, Table II.13 shows the final energy consumption and the nonrenewable primary energy consumption for each building typology and climate. The main differences that can be reflected in these results are related to the final energy used by each system. Basically, the heating and DHW demand are covered by natural gas boiler, and the cooling, lighting and most of the appliances by electricity. However, the stove of the kitchen can use natural gas or electricity. The building typology BT-5 and BT-6 use natural gas stoves, and the BT-4 and BT-8 electrical stoves. In addition, the building typologies with natural ventilation and without natural ventilation have high differences in the electric consumption due to the increase of the cooling demand.

Nati	Clima ral ventilation	C2 VENT	C2 nVENT	B3 VENT	B3 nVENT	D3 VENT	D3 nVENT	E1 VENT	E1 nVENT
BT-4 (Semi-detach	ned house, 1991-2	007. Dwelling	surface: 175.3 m	1 ²)		VENT	IIVEIVI	VENT	IIV EIVI
Floctricity	(kWh/dw∙yr)	4 943	7 536	5 215	7 770	-	-	-	-
Electricity	(kWh/m²⋅yr)	28	43	30	44	-	-	-	-
Notural rec	(kWh/dw∙yr)	21 539	21 539	18 078	18 077	-	-	-	-
Natural gas	(kWh/m²⋅yr)	123	123	103	103	-	-	-	-
Drimont on org	(kWh/dw∙yr)	35 226	41 615	32 194	38 488	-	-	-	-
Primary energy	(kWh/m²⋅yr)	201	237	184	220	-	-	-	-
BT-5 (Block of apa	artments between	buildings, up t	o 1950. Dwellin	g surface: 60.5	m²)				
Electricity	(kWh/dw∙yr)	2 099	3 389	-	-	-	-	2 049	-
Electricity	(kWh/m²·yr)	35	56	-	-	-	-	34	-
Natural das	(kWh/dw∙yr)	6 499	6 494	-	-	-	-	9 327	-
Natural gas	(kWh/m²⋅yr)	107	107	-	-	-	-	154	-
Drimon, oporg	(kWh/dw∙yr)	12 125	15 299	-	-	-	-	15 029	-
Printary energy	(kWh/m²·yr)	200	253	-	-	-	-	248	-
BT-6 (Block of apa	artments between	buildings, 195	1-1980. Dwellin	g surface: 78.8	m²)				
Electricity	(kWh/dw∙yr)	2 137	4 758	2 310	4 907	2 293	4 627	2 056	-
Liectricity	(kWh/m²·yr)	27	60	29	62	29	59	26	-
Natural das	(kWh/dw∙yr)	9 204	9 203	7 853	7 851	13 814	13 812	13 875	-
Natural gas	(kWh/m²·yr)	117	117	100	100	175	175	176	-
Drimon, oportu	(kWh/dw∙yr)	15 114	21 571	14 094	20 490	20 431	26 180	19 912	-
Printary energy	(kWh/m²·yr)	192	274	179	260	259	332	253	-
BT-8 (Isolated blo	ock of apartments,	1991-2007. D	welling surface:	103.2 m ²)					
Electricity	(kWh/dw∙yr)	3 874	6 6 3 9	4 148	6 918	-	-	-	-
Liectricity	(kWh/m²·yr)	38	64	40	67	-	-	-	-
Natural das	(kWh/dw∙yr)	10 239	10 239	8 556	8 556	-	-	-	-
	(kWh/m²·yr)	99	99	83	83	-	-	-	-
Primany energy	(kWh/dw∙yr)	20 501	27 315	19 375	26 200	-	-	-	-
entitiary energy	(kWh/m²·yr)	199	265	188	254	-	-	-	-

Table II.13 Final energy consumption and non-renewable primary energy consumption for each building typology and climate

II.10 References

[1] J. Ortiz, F. Guarino, J. Salom, C. Corchero, M. Cellura, Stochastic model for electrical loads in Mediterranean residential buildings: Validation and applications, Energy and Buildings, 80 (0) (2014) 23-36.

[2] J. Ortiz, V. Russo, J. Salom, Impact of natural ventilation in energy demand and thermal comfort of residential buildings in Catalonia, Proceedings of the 36th AIVC-5th TightVent-3rd venticool Conference, Madrid, 24-27 September, 2015.

[3] J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, J. Salom, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca, V. Russo, Comfort and economic criteria for selecting passive measures for the energy refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 110 (2016) 195-210.

[4] J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca i Casas, J. Salom, N. Garrido Soriano, P. Fonseca i Casas, Cost-effective analysis for selecting energy efficiency measures for refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 128 (2016) 442-457.

[5] I. Richardson, M. Thomson, D. Infield, A high-resolution domestic building occupancy model for energy demand simulations, Energy and Buildings, 40 (8) (2008) 1560-1566.

[6] J. Widén, A.M. Nilsson, E. Wäckelgård, A combined Markov-chain and bottom-up approach to modelling of domestic lighting demand, Energy and Buildings, 41 (10) (2009) 1001-1012.

[7] J. Lu, T. Sookoor, V. Srinivasan, G. Gao, B. Holben, J. Stankovic, E. Field, K. Whitehouse, The smart thermostat: using occupancy sensors to save energy in homes, Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Embedded Networked Sensor Systems, Zürich, Switzerland, 2010.

[8] J. Krumm, A.B. Brush, Learning time-based presence probabilities, in: Pervasive Computing, Springer, 2011, pp. 79-96.

[9] S. Mamidi, Y.-H. Chang, R. Maheswaran, Improving building energy efficiency with a network of sensing, learning and prediction agents, in: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems-Volume 1, International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems, 2012, pp. 45-52.

[10] D. Aerts, J. Minnen, I. Glorieux, I. Wouters, F. Descamps, Discrete occupancy profiles from time-use data for user behaviour modelling in homes, in: Proceedings of building simulation, 2013, pp. 2421-2427.

[11] M.A. López-Rodríguez, I. Santiago, D. Trillo-Montero, J. Torriti, A. Moreno-Munoz, Analysis and modeling of active occupancy of the residential sector in Spain: An indicator of residential electricity consumption, Energy Policy, 62 (0) (2013) 742-751.

[12] J. Salom, J. Widen, J. Candanedo, I. Sartori, K. Voss, A. Marszal, Understanding net zero energy buildings: Evaluation of load matching and grid interaction indicators, in: 12th Conference of International Building Performance Simulation Association Building Simulation 2011, BS 2011, November 14, 2011 - November 16, 2011, International Building Performance Simulation Association, Sydney, NSW, Australia, 2011, pp. 2514-2521.

[13] J.V. Paatero, P.D. Lund, A model for generating household electricity load profiles, International Journal of Energy Research, 30 (5) (2006) 273-290.

[14] J. Widén, M. Lundh, I. Vassileva, E. Dahlquist, K. Ellegård, E. Wäckelgård, Constructing load profiles for household electricity and hot water from time-use data—Modelling approach and validation, Energy and Buildings, 41 (7) (2009) 753-768.

[15] J. Widén, E. Wäckelgård, A high-resolution stochastic model of domestic activity patterns and electricity demand, Applied Energy, 87 (6) (2010) 1880-1892.

[16] I. Richardson, M. Thomson, D. Infield, C. Clifford, Domestic electricity use: A high-resolution energy demand model, Energy and Buildings, 42 (10) (2010) 1878-1887.

[17] Y. Yamaguchi, T. Fujimoto, Y. Shimoda, Occupant behaviour model for households to estimate high temporal resolution residential electricity demand profile., 12 th Conference of International Building Performance Simulation Association Building Simulation 2011, BS 2011, Sydney, Australia, November 14-16, 2011.

[18] R. Baetens, D. Saelens, Integrating occupant behaviour in the simulation of coupled electric and thermal systems in buildings, 8th Int. Modelica Conf., March, (2011) 20-22.

[19] O. Neu, S. Oxizidis, D. Flynn, F. Pallonetto, D. Finn, High resolution space - time data: methodology for residential building simulation modelling, 13 th Conference of International

Building Performance Simulation Association Building Simulation 2013, BS 2013, Chambery, France, August 25-28, 2013.

[20] IDAE, PROYECTO SECH-SPAHOUSEC: Análisis del consumo energético en el sector residencial en España, Instituto para la Diversificacion y Ahorro de la Energía, 2011. <u>http://www.idae.es/index.php/mod.documentos/mem.descarga?file=/documentos Informe SP AHOUSEC ACC f68291a3.pdf</u>

[21] F. Guarino, J. Salom, M. Cellura, Modeling of Spanish household electrical consumption: simplified and detailed stochastic approach in TRNSYS environment, 13th Conference of International Building Performance Simulation Association Building Simulation 2013, BS 2013, August 25, 2013 - August 28, 2013, Chambery, France, 2013.

[22] J. Ortiz, J. Salom, C. Corchero, F. Guarino, The uncertainty of the energy demand in existing Mediterranean urban blocks, SB13 Graz. Sustainable Building Conference, Graz, Austria, 2013.

[23] Solar Energy Laboratory (SEL). University of Wisconsin, TRNSYS 17.1, 2012.

[24] Google, Google SketchUp 8.0.11752, 2010.

[25] IDAE, Manual de fundamentos técnicos de calificación energética de edificios existentes CE3X, 2012.

[26] ASHRAE, ASHRAE Handbook - Fundamentals American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc., 1989.

[27] ASHRAE, ASHRAE Handbook - Fundamentals American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc., 2009.

[28] T. McDowell, Type 960: Lawrence Berkeley National Labs Infiltration Model, in: Utility Library Mathematical Reference. TESSLibs 17, 2006.

[29] ASHRAE, ASHRAE Handbook - Fundamentals American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Inc., 2005.

[30] D. Brandley, Type 932: Sherman Grimsrud Infiltration, in: Utility Library Mathematical Reference. TESSLibs 17, 2005.

[31] UNE, UNE-EN 15242: Ventilation for buildings. calculation methods for the determiantion of air flow rates in buildings including infiltration, 2007

 $\left[32\right]$ AENOR, Energy performance of buildings - Calculation of energy use for space heating and cooling, 2008

[33] F.R.d.A. Alfano, M. Dell'Isola, G. Ficco, F. Tassini, Experimental analysis of air tightness in Mediterranean buildings using the fan pressurization method, Building and Environment, 53 (0) (2012) 16-25.

[34] A. Jimenez Tiberio, P. Branchi, A study of air leakage in residential buildings, in: New Concepts in Smart Cities: Fostering Public and Private Alliances (SmartMILE), 2013, pp. 1-4.

[35] MARIE. Mediterranean Building Rethinking for Energy Efficiency Improvement, Programme MED, call for proposal: 3rd call, 2010 (Agreement N° 1S-MED10-002) 2010-2014. <u>www.marie-medstrategic.eu</u>

[36] Instituto Nacional de Esatdística - España, Encuestas de Empleo del Tiempo 2009-2010, 2010.

[37] M.M. Klosek, Markov Processes: An Introduction for Physical Scientists (Daniel T. Gillespie), SIAM Review, 35 (2) (1993) 324-325.

[38] A. Manyes, L. Sisó, J. Salom, Block level study and simulation for residential retrofitting, BS2013: 13th Conference of the International Building Performance Simulation Association, Chambery, France, 2013.

[39] W. de Gids, H. Phaff, Ventilation Rates and Energy Consumption due to Open Windows. A Brief Overview of Research in the Netherlan, Third IEA Air Infiltration Center Conference, 1982.

[40] British Standard, BS 5925:1991 Code of practice for ventilation principles and designing for natural ventilation, 1991

[41] ASHRAE 55, ANSI/ASHRAE Standard 55-2004, Thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy, American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers Inc., Atlanta, 2004.

[42] D.K. Serghides, The Wisdom of Mediterranean Traditional Architecture versus Contemporary Architecture – The Energy Challenge, The Open Construction and Building Technology Journal, 4 (2010) 29-38.

[43] Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment (CSTB), Méthode de calcul Th-BCE 2012, 2012

[44] IDAE, CALENER-VYP. Viviendas y edificios terciarios pequeños y medianos. Factores de corrección de equipos, 2009

[45] UNE, EN 15316-2-1: Heating systems in buildings. Method for calculation of system energy requirements and system efficiencies. Space heating emission systems, 2008

[46] ACYTER, Documentos técnicos de Instalaciones en el Edificación. DTIE 1.01: Preparación de agua caliente sanitaria para usos sanitarios,

[47] UNE, ISO 7730: Ergonomics of the thermal environment - Analytical determination and interpretation of thermal comfort using calculation of the PMV and PPD indices and local thermal comfort criteria, 2006

[48] Oficina Muncipal de l'Energia, Comptadors Intel·ligents a Sabadell, 2013. <u>http://ca.sabadell.cat/Energia/d/Comptadorsglobal2013.pdf</u>

[49] AIGUASOL and CSTB, TRANSOL PRO v3.1, 2010.

[50] A. Carrera, J. Salom, I. Gurruchaga, O. Cámara, M. Casanova, W. Keilholz, P. Sette, New features for solar thermal simulation in TRANSOL, EuroSun 2010, international conference in solar cooling and heating and buildings, Graz, Austria, 2010.

Chapter III Validation of the energy simulation model

III.1 Introduction

The development of a building simulation model that is able to reproduce and fit with the actual buildings is a challenge. If the building model has the capacity to predict the building performance in terms of energy and temperature, it will be possible to use it to design a retrofit intervention with a higher reliability in the prediction of the building performance. For that reason, it is interesting to validate the methods and hypotheses implemented in the building models. However, it is important that the parameters and characteristics of the building model are realistic.

There are two main references used for the validation process: ASHRAE Guideline 14-2002 [1] and International Performance Measurement and Verification Protocol (IPMVP) [2]. Both methodologies are based on the need to develop a protocol or standardized procedure to quantify the savings obtained after a building intervention. The methods provide guidance on minimum acceptable levels of accuracy to determine savings, using measurements and/or simulation models. Details about the parameters and criteria for the validation process are described in the section III.2. Most of the works reviewed implement these methodologies as criteria to consider that a building simulation is calibrated.

Historically, the calibration has been a process where the user knowledge has played an essential role and has not followed a standardized guideline. Reddy et al. [3] made a review of tools, techniques, approaches and procedures used for calibration process, in order to define a systematic calibration methodology. The method consists of five parts: 1) identifying the building energy simulation programme more appropriate for the case study; 2) defining a set of influence parameters, their values and range of variation; 3) coarse search wherein the influence parameters are combined using Monte Carlo simulation to obtain promising combinations; 4) performing a guided research to refine the results; 5) using a small number of plausible calibrated models to determine the prediction uncertainty. Thereafter, several studies were carried out implementing the main steps of the method proposed by [3], and proposing specific technics and approaches for each step. Raftery et al. [4] calibrated a detailed EnergyPlus model of a new office building implementing an evidence-based methodology for calibrating it. Heo et al. [5] quantified the uncertainty in the retrofit decision-making process by applying Bayesian calibration to an office building model. Roberti et al. [6] presented a semiautomatic calibration method of a historic building retrofit. Cipriano et al. [7] proposed a multistage guided search approach for the calibration of building energy simulation models. It is important to highlight that most of the works underline the risk of working with a calibrated model whose parameters or outputs do not correspond to reality. Then, there are many techniques that can be used in the calibration process; however, all of them still need the expert criteria to interpret properly the results.

One of the main steps of the validation process is to identify the most influential parameters. There are some works that analysed which are the ones with more impact in residential buildings. Ioannou and Itard [8] developed a sensitivity analysis to evaluate the influence of building parameters and occupancy in the energy performance and comfort of residential buildings. They made the analysis considering different scenarios: single-zone and multi-zone building model; Class-A and Class-F dwellings; and three different heating systems. First, they evaluated the effect of technical parameters, as orientation, U-values and g-values, and thereafter, they added behavioural parameters (setpoint, ventilation and infiltration and number of occupants) to compare and to decide which are the most influential parameters. The results showed that when the behavioural parameters are included in the analysis, they become predominant in the sensitivity analysis, having a greater influence over the energy consumption and the comfort parameters, especially the setpoint and the ventilation rates. They recommend that since the thermostat and ventilation have a very high impact but at the same time cannot be determined precisely, energy consumption should be shown as bandwidth. Guerra and Itard [9] studied the influence of the occupancy behaviour in the energy consumption of residential buildings. For that, they carried out statistical analysis on energy use and self-reported behaviour data from a household survey in the Netherlands. They found some consumption patterns depending on the type of heating system. Households with a programmable thermostat were associated with higher temperature settings and more hours of heating system use, in comparison with manual thermostats. Silva and Ghisi [10] went further and tried to quantify the uncertainty associated to the user behaviour and physical parameters in residential building simulations. They simulated a household using probability density functions for the physical and user behaviour parameters. Their results show that for heating energy consumption up to 19.5% and 36.5% of uncertainty was related to physical and user behaviour parameters, respectively. However, for cooling energy consumption up to 43.5% and 38.0% of uncertainty was related to physical and user behaviour parameters. All these uncertainties were determined with 95% confidence. Recently, Huebner et al. [11] developed a study to analyse the contribution of building characteristics, socio-economic parameters, and behaviours and attitudes to the energy consumption of a household. They used 924 English households data collected in 2011/12 to develop regression models. These models showed that building variables on their own explained about 39% of the variability in energy consumption, sociodemographic variables 24%, heating behaviour 14% and, attitudes and behaviours only 5%. In addition, they developed a combined model including all variables, and the model explained only 44% of all variability. It means that more than half of the energy consumption variability cannot be explained with the parameters analysed.

Despite the efforts to improve calibration methods, it has been shown that uncertainties associated to behavioural patterns are usually important. In that sense, the validation wants to explore the impact of this uncertainty in the results of the model, as for example occupancy and use of the heating system.

III.2 Validation method

The method implemented to validate the model is based on the following steps:

- Selection and characterization of the pilot site. A data collection to characterize the pilot site is needed in order to adapt the building model to the real case. For that reason, several surveys (hereafter the PS surveys) and monitoring campaigns have been carried out in the pilot site. The main parameters collected during the campaigns are: the building and equipment features, the occupancy and behaviour of the users, indoor environmental data (temperature, humidity and CO₂ concentration), weather data (temperature, humidity, solar radiation, wind velocity and direction) and energy consumption (electricity and natural gas bills).
- Simulation of the pilot site. All the information collected in the previous step is analysed and is adapted to be implemented in the building model. The information is: building geometry, constructive materials, occupancy and behaviour profiles, energy systems and appliances stock.
- 3. Validation of the model. A comparison between the monitoring data and the results of the building simulation has been developed. The results of the validation should provide the reliability of the method implemented in the building simulation model, making possible to extrapolate the method to other building typologies.

The indicators used for the validation are based on the ASHRAE Guideline 14-2002 [1] and IPMVP protocol [2]. The three indicators are the Normalized Mean Bias Error (NMBE), the Coefficient of Variation of the Root Mean Square Error (CV(RMSE)) and Coefficient of Determination (R^2), which are detailed in the Eq. III.1, Eq. III.2 and Eq. III.3, respectively. In the equations, Y_t represents the monitoring data for a certain period of $t; \vec{Y}$ is the arithmetic mean of monitoring data; y_t is the simulation results for a certain period of time t; n is the total number of data points or periods in the baseline period.

The NMBE indicates how well the energy consumption is predicted by the model as compared to the measured data, normalized by the mean value of the measured data. Positive values indicate that the model overpredicts actual values; negative values indicate that the model
underpredicts actual values. However, negative and positive differences between the predictions and the measurements are balanced out and the NMBE is reduced.

Eq. III.1
$$NMBE = \frac{\sum (y_t - Y_t)}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{\overline{Y}} \cdot 100$$

The CV(RMSE) is the normalized RMSE by the mean value of the monitoring data. RMSE represents the sample standard deviation of the differences between predicted values and observed values (simulation and monitoring data). The RMSE aggregates the magnitudes of the error and it is a good measure of accuracy. This value represents the overall uncertainty in the prediction of whole-building energy use.

Eq. III.2
$$CV(RMSE) = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (Y_t - y_t)^2}{n}} \cdot \frac{1}{\overline{Y}} \cdot 100$$

The coefficient of determination is a statistic parameter that gives information about the goodness of fit of a model. The R^2 is a statistical measure of how well the linear regression approximates the real data, measuring the agreement between observed and modelled values. R^2 has values between 0 and 1, being 1 the perfect regression between observed and modelled.

Eq. III.3
$$R^{2} = \frac{\sum (y_{t} - \overline{Y})^{2}}{\sum (Y_{t} - \overline{Y})^{2}}$$

Table III.1 describes the criteria of acceptance for each statistical parameter. The ASHRAE guideline defines two different thresholds depending on the data resolution (hourly or monthly). The R² criterion is only defined by the IPMVP protocol.

Statistics	NMBE	CV(RMSE)	R ²
ASHRAE Hourly data	± 10%	<30%	Not defined
ASHRAE Monthly data	± 5%	<15%	Not defined
IPMVP Monthly data	± 7%	<15%	>0.75

Table III.1 Statistical validation following ASHRAE [1] and IPMVP [2] guidelines

III.3 Pilot site description

The pilot site is located in Terrassa (Barcelona, Spain) in a residential urban area. The weather data used for the simulation are from a weather station located in the city centre of Terrassa (official weather station n^o 189C, "Agencia Estatal de Meteorología"). The data used for the validation are from 2013, 2014 and 2015. Figure III.1 summarized the monthly air temperature (left) and relative humidity (right) in Terrassa for every year. Comparing the weather conditions of the three years, it is possible to observe how the 2013 and 2015 winters are colder than the

2014 winter. However, the summer of 2015 was hotter than the other years. It is possible to say that 2014 was a temperate year, with soft winter and summer, and 2015 was an extreme year with cooler winter and hotter summer.



Figure III.1 Weather conditions in Terrassa for 2013, 2014 and 2015: air temperature (left) and relative humidity (right). Official weather station nº 189C, "Agencia Estatal de Meteorología"

The dwelling used as a pilot site corresponds to a BT-8 building typology (multifamily building built between 1991-2007). The dwelling is on the first floor of the building with two external façades oriented to north and west, as Figure III.2 shows. There is no information about the construction features of the building then, the building typology characteristics are used in the model (Annex II OptiHab). There are blinds in all openings and awing in the western façade.



Figure III.2 Drawing and picture of the pilot site

The dwelling is occupied by a family with two adults and two children. The occupancy profile has been adapted according to the habits of the family. This occupancy profile includes a typical winter week and a typical summer week (according to the school periods), as well as the holiday periods of each year (summer and Christmas holidays). Concerning the equipment of the household, there is an individual heating system to cover the heating and DHW demand. The system consists of a conventional natural gas boiler (η =0.85) with water radiators and a temperature controller located in the living room. The setpoint is 20°C during the winter period. The heating system is turned on when there is occupancy in the household until 22h at night, according to the PS survey. The household does not have cooling system, using the natural ventilation and the solar protections as the main strategy in summer. The solar protections are used throughout the day, and the natural ventilation is used basically at night, according to the PS survey results.

The lighting systems of the household are energy efficient lamps, assuming that all the lamps are FCL. The appliance stock is detailed in Table III.2 and their electric consumption has been obtained using the stochastic model described in [12].

Annual energy consumption	Appliance	Annual energy consumption	
481 kWh/yr	Natural gas kitchen	545 kWh/yr	
708 kWh/yr	Electric oven	163 kWh/yr	
324 kWh/yr	Microwave	38 kWh/yr	
243 kWh/yr	PC	247 kWh/yr	
	Annual energy consumption 481 kWh/yr 708 kWh/yr 324 kWh/yr 243 kWh/yr	Annual energy consumptionAppliance481 kWh/yrNatural gas kitchen708 kWh/yrElectric oven324 kWh/yrMicrowave243 kWh/yrPC	

Table III.2 Characteristics of the appliances of the pilot site dwelling

The energy consumption of the pilot site has been obtained through the bimonthly bills of electricity and natural gas. Figure III.3 shows the energy consumption: electricity (left) and natural gas (right). The monthly aggrupation has been adapted according to the billing periods. The electric consumption is similar in every period, with the exception of the summer and Christmas whose consumption is smaller due to the holiday periods, being the household empty. For the natural gas consumption, there is a clear increase of consumption in winter due to the heating use. In addition, there is also an important difference between the 2014 and the other years because of the soft weather conditions.

In addition, several monitoring campaigns have been done to obtain indoor environmental data of the household. The information collected is air temperature, humidity and CO_2 concentration. The different periods are detailed in Table III.3, as well as the zones monitored.



Figure III.3 Energy consumption by the pilot site for 2013, 2014 and 2015: electricity (left) and natural gas (right)

Table III.3 Mon	nitoring camp	oaign description
-----------------	---------------	-------------------

Period	Days	Living room (E9)	Bedroom (E4)
Winter 2015	11	Х	Х
Summer 2015	13	Х	Х

III.4 Validation of the building simulation

The validation has been based on an iterative process, in order to implement realistic modifications and to understand the reasons of the main differences between the model results and the actual data. The building model has been adapted to the pilot site characteristics according to the data collected. Once the building model has been adapted, the results of the simulation have been analysed in order to find the reasons of the differences between the model and the monitoring data.

The first finding is related with the heating system and the variation of the temperatures over the household. The heating system implemented in the building model is the ideal system available in TRNBuild. The ideal heating system, with a limited heat power in each zone, provides the setpoint temperature just after turning on the heating system and this temperature is constant and uniform in the whole household. However, the monitoring data shows that this situation does not fit with the reality, because there are important differences in the temperature of the north, west and internal zones. Analysing the monitoring data, it is possible to conclude that the north zones are on average 2°C cooler than the west and internal zones. For those reasons, the setpoint has been adapted according to Table III.4, reducing the setpoint temperature 2°C in the north zones (which are the night zones of the dwelling).

Orientation	Setpoint
West	20°C
Internal	20°C
North	18°C
	Orientation West Internal North

Table III.4 Heating setpoint configuration of the building model

Figure III.4 shows the results for the winter season of the simulation in comparison with the monitoring data of the winter campaign of 2015. The figures reflect five main features:

- > The difference between the living room temperature and the room is around 2°C according to the monitoring data.
- The occupancy schedule and the use of the heating system are very variable and introduce a high level of uncertainty to the building model.
- > The setpoint is not constant and changes from one day to another.
- The inertia of the building model is underestimated, and the temperature falls down instantaneously after turning off the heating system, fact that is not observed in the monitoring data.
- > There is a relation between the monitored temperature and the use of the heating system, with the CO_2 concentration: when there is nobody in the room, the CO_2 concentration decays until the outdoor levels (around 400-500 ppm) due to the infiltration.



Figure III.4 Winter 2015 comparison. Air temperature comparison (top) and CO₂ concentration monitored (bottom)

Figure III.5 presents the results of the simulation for a summer week in 2015. The results are presented in terms of air temperature of the bedroom and the living room, as well as monitored data of CO₂ concentration. In general, the simulation of the building underestimates the air temperature, especially for the day time. At night, the trend and the levels of air temperature are more similar to the monitored data. In addition, the monitored data shows different patterns between the living room and the bedroom. As one possible reason it could be related to the operability of the windows and its implementation in the model. As the CO₂ concentration shows, the household is ventilated most of the time, achieving maximum levels lower than the winter week, when there was not natural ventilation. However, the natural ventilation of the model depends on the occupancy and the relation between the comfort temperature, the indoor temperature and the outdoor temperature. This control forces that the natural ventilation is mainly used at night. Nevertheless, the monitored data could be interpreted as the household is

ventilated as soon it is occupied (low level of CO_2 concentration), as the thermal sensation of the users is improved with the natural ventilation.



Figure III.5 Summer 2015 comparison. Air temperature comparison (top) and CO₂ concentration monitored (bottom)

Figure III.6 focuses the analysis on the energy consumption, comparing the bimonthly bills of natural gas (top) and electricity (bottom) with the results of the simulation. The figures are complemented with the statistic indicators, summarized in Table III.5. The graphs of the natural gas consumption reflect a general underestimation for the winter period (Jan-Feb and Nov-Dec) and a lower overestimation for the rest of the months. Comparing the results of the three years, the 2015 shows a better fit with the bimonthly bills in comparison with the 2013 and 2014. This behaviour is observed also in the statistics, having the best values for the 2015 (except for the NMBE). In general terms, it is possible to say that the simulation underestimates the natural gas consumption. Regarding the ability of the model to fit with the real consumption, the model achieves the level proposed by the validation protocols only for the 2015. However, the overall

performance is quite close to the threshold (CV(RMSE)=16%). Finally, the coefficient of determination (R^2) is greater than 0.9 for all the cases, reaching values of 0.99 for the 2015.

In relation to the electricity consumption, the simulation results provide similar consumptions for all the months, with the exception of the holiday period in summer. The electricity bills show some variability between months and the model is not able to reproduce it. However, the differences between model and bills are relatively small, being around 100 kWh for each period. This situation is more evident for the 2013 and 2015. The statistic indicators show a good performance of the electricity estimation. In general, the electrical consumption is underestimated, especially for the 2015; nevertheless, the overall NMBE achieves the threshold of 7%. According to the CV(RMSE), the indicator presents good values for all the years, being lower than 15%. Nevertheless, the R^2 does not reach the IPMVP criteria (<0.75). R^2 reflects how well the linear regression reproduces the relationship between the monitored data and the model results. Then, if the monitoring data increases or decreases, the model must reproduce the same trend in order to obtain a good correlation. However, the comparison between the simulation and the bills shows opposite trends in some periods (i.e. Dec-Jan and Feb-Mar of 2015), and this fact could explain the lower values of R^2 (Figure III.6).



Figure III.6 Energy consumption comparison: bimonthly bills of natural gas (top) and electricity (bottom) with the results of the simulation

Energy consumption		Natural gas				Electricity			
		2013	2014	2015	2013- 2015	2013	2014	2015	2013- 2015
Annual (monitored)	kWh	7,247	6,014	7,111	6,791	2,368	2,348	2,645	2,454
Annual (simulation)	kWh	7,049	6,164	6,703	6,638	2,253	2,282	2,277	2,271
NMBE [±7%]	%	-3	3	-6	-2	-5	-3	-14	-7
CV(RMSE) [<15%]	%	17	21	11	16	12	9	17	13
R ² [>75]	-	0.95	0.94	0.99	0.98	0.54	0.97	0.59	0.59

Table III.5 Statistic indicators for comparing the annual consumption of natural gas and electricity with the results of the simulation

The results show that the model is able to reproduce the real behaviour of the model. However, there are some discrepancies in the results and the statistic parameters do not meet all the criteria established by the ASHRAE and IPMVP protocols. It is important to remark that the data used for the validation have some uncertainties associated to the billing period and the estimation of some registers by the utility. In the case of electricity consumption, one of the main reasons for the differences between the monitoring data and the results of the model is related to the stochasticity of the user behaviour and the use of the appliances, as it has been introduced in the previous chapter (section II.1.1 and II.1.2). Thereafter, in this context the results obtained for the electricity consumption are considered acceptable and the validation process is satisfactory, as NMBE and CV(RMSE) are within the expected thresholds (-7% and 13%, respectively).

In the case of the natural gas consumption, a sensitivity analysis has been done to validate the hypotheses of some parameters and to analyse the changes in the results of the model.

III.4.1 Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been focused on the infiltration level, the occupancy profile and the use of the heating system. Table III.6 describes the value used in the different tests and are explained below:

> The infiltration rate, characterized by the n_{50} parameter, has been defined according to a typical value of existing buildings. This value n_{50} =7.5 represents a low level of air tightness. However, after the visual inspection and the PS surveys done in the pilot site, all the windows of the household have draught excluder installed so the air tightness of the household could be better. The first test implies an improvement of the n_{50} parameter (n_{50} =5). The infiltration has a high influence in the air temperature and consequently in the heating consumption. The expected impacts are a reduction of the natural gas consumption in the winter period.

- The occupancy profile is an important input of the simulation. The occupancy is the driver of all the systems of the building, and especially the heating system. In addition, the occupancy represents a contribution of internal gains to the household. In the simulation, the household is occupied by the users during 65% of the year. Thereafter, two additional occupancy profiles have been generated in order to reduce up to 60% the occupancy and to increase up to 70% of occupancy. The modification of the occupancy has been done homogeneously in every month, reducing or increasing some hours of occupancy per day. The idea is to quantify how the occupancy variation could affect the natural gas consumption.
- The use of the heating system is modified through the occupancy profile; however, the heating system is also dependent of the setpoint values. The Figure III.4 demonstrates that the setpoint of the heating system is not the same for every day and it is subject to the user modifications. For that reason, it is difficult to predict which setpoint is the appropriate for the whole year. In addition, the thermostat used in the simulation is ideal and it does not have a dead band temperature defined. The ideal thermostat provides a constant temperature over the time and it does not present fluctuations. However, the energy consumption has been corrected by the implementation of the performance of the control system, following the EN 15316 [13]. In that sense, the test wants to quantify the impact of different setpoints (19°C and 21°C) in terms of natural gas consumption.

Figure III.7 shows the results of the different tests, in terms of natural gas consumption (left) and coefficient of determination, R^2 , (right). The simulation with higher natural gas consumption is the V18, with the highest setpoint (21°C), the highest occupancy (70%) and the highest infiltration (n_{50} =7.5). On the contrary, the simulation with the lowest natural gas consumption is the V1, which corresponds to the simulation with the lowest setpoint (19°C), the lowest occupancy (60%) and the lowest level of infiltration (n_{50} =5). From a general point of view, there is a clear differentiation between the setpoint variations. However, not always the same configuration provides the best results. In 2013, the monitoring data is between the setpoint of 19°C and 20°C, being closer to the 20°C. In 2014, the setpoint of 20°C is the best one and the monitoring data is just in the middle of the different options of occupancy and infiltration; and in 2015, the best setpoint is 21°C, being the lower occupancy (60%) and the best infiltration (n_{50} =5) the most appropriate in this case. The last comparison includes the three years of data and provides results quite similar than the 2013.

Code	Simulation	Infiltration	Occupancy	Setpoint*
	V1	5	60%	19ºC
	V2	7.5	60%	19°C
0	V3	5	65%	19°C
Ο	V4	7.5	65%	19°C
Δ	V5	5	70%	19°C
Δ	V6	7.5	70%	19°C
	V7	5	60%	20°C
	V8	7.5	60%	20°C
0	V9	5	65%	20°C
0	V10 (BC)	7.5	65%	20°C
Δ	V11	5	70%	20°C
Δ	V12	7.5	70%	20°C
	V13	5	60%	21ºC
	V14	7.5	60%	21ºC
	V15	5	65%	21°C
۲	V16	7.5	65%	21°C
	V17	5	70%	21°C
	V18	7.5	70%	21°C

Table III.6 Configuration of the simulations done for the iterative process of validation

*2°C below in the north zones (E4, E5, E6 and E7)





The coefficient of determination has a small variation between the simulations, except for the 2013 where the R^2 varies from 0.93 to 0.97. The best values of R^2 are in 2015, followed by the 2014 and 2013. Considering the three years, R^2 is between 0.97 and 0.98. Concluding, all the simulation fit the threshold established by the IMPVP, presenting values of R^2 higher than 0.9 in all the cases.



Figure III.8 Comparison of the simulation results: NMBE and CV(RMSE)

Figure III.8 gives information about the performance of each simulation in terms of NMBE and CV(RMSE). The hatched area of the figure represents the compliance of both criteria. In general, the behaviour of each simulation is different from one year to another; however, a common pattern is observed in the figures. In all the years, the variability of the statistical parameters is much lower in the simulations with a setpoint of 19°C than in the simulations with 21°C. In addition, the results of the simulations with 19°C improve following this order: from lower occupancy to higher, and for better n_{50} to worse. It means, the simulation V1 (60% and n_{50} =5) is worse than V6 (70% and n_{50} =7.5). However, this trend changes slightly in the simulation with 20°C, being completely opposite in the simulations with 21°C. The increase of the setpoint makes the indicators of the simulations with higher occupancy and n_{50} =7.5 be worse than simulations with lower occupancy and n_{50} =5, is better than V18, 70% and n_{50} =7.5). In addition, the variability in the simulation with

the setpoint of 19°C and 20°C is much lower than the variability observed in the simulation with 21°C of setpoint. This behaviour indicates that there are some parameters of the simulation that are dependent of the setpoint and have a higher impact when the setpoint increases.

Analysing year by year, it is possible to observe:

- In 2013 all the simulations with 20°C provide the best results. In those cases, the NMBE achieves the threshold established by the IPMVP protocol; however, there is only one combination that fits both criteria, the simulation V8 (CV(RMSE)=15% and NMBE=-4%). In addition, there are some simulations with 21°C that meet the NMBE criterion, despite of the CV(RMSE) is higher than 15%.
- > In 2014 the simulations with 20°C meet the NMBE criterion. The simulations with the setpoint of 19°C trend to underestimate the natural gas consumption, and on the contrary, the setpoint of 20°C and 21°C tend to overestimate. In terms of CV(RMSE), the results vary from 15% to 36%, presenting a high range of variability from one simulation to another. The simulations with a setpoint of 19°C have better CV(RMSE) values, being between 15% and 16%. Then, for this year, the best simulations in terms of NMBE are the ones with a setpoint of 19°C (simulation V2 with CV(RMSE)=15% and NMBE=10%, 19°C, n_{50} =7.5 and 60%), and the simulations with the best CV(RMSE) are the ones with 20°C (simulation V9 with CV(RMSE)=19% and NMBE=0%, 20°C, n_{50} =5 and 65%).
- > In 2015 the best results are provided by the simulations with a setpoint of 20°C and 21°C; however, different trends are observed. The simulations with 19°C have better values of CV(RMSE) and higher values of NMBE, presenting overestimation in all the cases. It is important to remark that in all the simulation with a setpoint of 20°C, the CV(RMSE) meets the criterion defined by the calibration protocols (<15%), having values from 10% to 12%. In the simulations of 21°C the NMBE has better results, overestimating the consumption; however the CV(RMSE) is worse than the simulations with 20°C. For this year, the best simulations are V8 in terms of CV(RMSE) and V13 in terms of NMBE (CV(RMSE)=10% and NMBE=7%, CV(RMSE)=11% and NMBE=-1%, respectively). Both simulations have an occupancy of 60%, and in the simulation V8 the setpoint is 20°C with an n_{50} =7.5, and for the simulation V13 the setpoint is 21°C with an n_{50} =5. In this case, both simulations accomplish the criteria of validation, as well as these other simulations: V10, V11, V12, V14 and V15.
- > Finally, evaluating the results of every year, it is possible to observe that the simulations with a setpoint of 20°C provide better results than the other setpoints. In this case, the NMBE goes from -6% to -1%, being inside the range acceptance (NMBE±7%). The CV(RMSE) is between 15% and 18%. In that case, there are three simulations that meet both criteria: V7 (CV(RMSE)=15% and NMBE=-6%, 20°C, n_{50} =5 and 60%), V8

(CV(RMSE)=15% and NMBE=-4%, 20°C, n_{50} =7.5 and 60%) and V9 (CV(RMSE)=15% and NMBE=-5%, 20°C, n_{50} =5 and 65%).

Concluding the validation process, the simulation V8 (20°C, n_{50} =7.5 and 60%) is considered the best configuration of parameters for this particular pilot site. The average performance of the building model is detailed in Table III.7. Analysing the three years at the same time, it is possible to conclude that the building model fulfil the validation criteria for ASHRAE and IPMVP protocols, obtaining a R² of 0.98, NMBE=-4% and CV(RMSE)=15%.

Year	Sim.	Natural gas MONITORING	Natural gas SIMULATION	R ²	NMBE	CV(RMSE)
2013	V8	7,247 kWh	6,923 kWh	0.96	-4%	15%
2014	V8	6,014 kWh	6,071 kWh	0.99	1%	19%
2015	V8	7,111 kWh	6,602 kWh	0.99	7%	10%
2013-2015	V8	6,791 kWh	6,532 kWh	0.98	-4%	15%

Table III.7 Building model performance according to the calibration protocols

III.5 Conclusions of the validation

The validation process is concluded satisfactory, despite the uncertainties associated to the occupancy behaviour. The indicators related to the electricity consumption are CV(RMSE) of 14%, NMBE of -7% and a R^2 of 0.59. For the natural gas consumption, the CV(RMSE) is 15%, the NBME is -4% and R^2 is 0.98, obtained from the simulation V8. The main sources of variation between the building model results and the monitoring data are the following:

- The ideal heating system used in the simulation makes the temperature be homogenous in the whole household. To improve the simulation, the setpoint temperature of the north zones is 2°C lower than the other zones, according to the monitoring data.
- > The building model presents an underestimation of the inertia of the building. Further research is needed in order to improve the results of the model.
- The variability of the occupancy profile introduces a high uncertainty in the model. As well, the use of the heating system has a direct relationship with the behaviour of the users, in terms of turning on the heating system and setting up the thermostat. During the validation process, it has been demonstrated how a small variation in the occupancy profile causes important changes in the natural gas consumption and in the calibration statistics.
- Several configurations of occupancy and setpoint have been tested; however, the variability from one year to another and from one month to another makes difficult to define an appropriate input for the building model. However, it seems that 20°C and 60% of occupancy are acceptable configurations for this particular household.

> As to the level of infiltration, both values of infiltration (5 and 7.5) have provided good simulation results, depending on the configuration of the other two variables (occupancy and setpoint). Nevertheless, the assumption of $n_{50}=7.5$ is the one used in the final version of the simulation.

Concluding, the building model, its hypothesis and methods are validated to be used in the estimation of the energy consumption of the building typologies, as well as to evaluate the impact of the energy efficiency measures in the cost-optimal analysis, considering comfort, energy and economic criteria. However, it is important to remark, that the building typologies represents an average household and the results must be adapted to the particularities of each household, such as it has been done with the building model of the pilot site.

III.6 References

[1] ASHRAE, ASHRAE Guideline 14-2002. Measurement of Energy and Demand Savings, 2002

[2] Efficiency Valuation Organization (EVO), International Performance Measurement and Verification Protocol, 2014

[3] T.A. Reddy, I. Maor, C. Panjapornpon, Calibrating Detailed Building Energy Simulation Programs with Measured Data—Part I: General Methodology (RP-1051), HVAC&R Research, 13 (2) (2007) 221-241.

[4] P. Raftery, M. Keane, A. Costa, Calibrating whole building energy models: Detailed case study using hourly measured data, Energy and Buildings, 43 (12) (2011) 3666-3679.

[5] Y. Heo, R. Choudhary, G.A. Augenbroe, Calibration of building energy models for retrofit analysis under uncertainty, Energy and Buildings, 47 (2012) 550-560.

[6] F. Roberti, U.F. Oberegger, A. Gasparella, Calibrating historic building energy models to hourly indoor air and surface temperatures: Methodology and case study, Energy and Buildings, 108 (2015) 236-243.

[7] J. Cipriano, G. Mor, D. Chemisana, D. Pérez, G. Gamboa, X. Cipriano, Evaluation of a multistage guided search approach for the calibration of building energy simulation models, Energy and Buildings, 87 (2015) 370-385.

[8] A. Ioannou, L.C.M. Itard, Energy performance and comfort in residential buildings: Sensitivity for building parameters and occupancy, Energy and Buildings, 92 (2015) 216-233.

[9] O. Guerra-Santin, L. Itard, Occupants' behaviour: determinants and effects on residential heating consumption, Building Research & Information, 38 (3) (2010) 318-338.

[10] A.S. Silva, E. Ghisi, Uncertainty analysis of user behaviour and physical parameters in residential building performance simulation, Energy and Buildings, 76 (2014) 381-391.

[11] G.M. Huebner, I. Hamilton, Z. Chalabi, D. Shipworth, T. Oreszczyn, Explaining domestic energy consumption – The comparative contribution of building factors, socio-demographics, behaviours and attitudes, Applied Energy, 159 (2015) 589-600.

[12] J. Ortiz, F. Guarino, J. Salom, C. Corchero, M. Cellura, Stochastic model for electrical loads in Mediterranean residential buildings: Validation and applications, Energy and Buildings, 80 (0) (2014) 23-36.

[13] UNE, EN 15316-2-1: Heating systems in buildings. Method for calculation of system energy requirements and system efficiencies. Space heating emission systems, 2008

Chapter IV Cost-optimal evaluation based on thermal comfort, energy and economic criteria

IV.1 State of the art

One of the main objectives of the thesis is to define a method that analyses the residential building typologies from three points of view, thermal comfort, energy and costs, with the purpose to test different energy efficiency measures and obtain the most appropriate ones depending on the building typology, climate and environment. In that sense, the literature review has been focused in three main fields, building stock characterization, thermal comfort evaluation and cost-optimal analysis, in order to have a complete vision about how these issues have been addressed in the last years.

IV.1.1 Building stock characterization

In the last years, several studies have been done with the objective to characterize the building stock and to evaluate their potential energy savings. The main techniques to model residential energy uses can be grouped up into two main categories [1]: top-down and bottom-up. Top-down models underwent a major development during the energy crisis of the late 1970s. The major aim of such research effort was to understand better consumer behaviour with changing supply and pricing. Such models analyse the residential sector as a whole and their objective was to determine and to analyse trends of the sector. The strength of "top-down" models is that they do not need very detailed input data to work. They just need widely available energy aggregate data and rely on historic residential sector energy values. The heavy reliance on historical trends and data for these models is also a major drawback, since they are not able to handle discontinuities in the major trends.

The bottom-up approach goes beyond the limits of the top-down one, accounting in detail for individual houses and energy end-uses. After that, the results of the model may be extrapolated to represent a region or a nation, according to the level of detail of the inputs. Common input data to bottom-up models are dwelling properties, equipment and appliances, climate characteristics, occupancy schedules and use levels of equipment. This detail in characterization is the strength of these methods. It permits a very accurate modelling, but has the drawback of obtaining all the needed data. No historical data are required. However, in order to extrapolate the results for a whole region or country, data must be representative of the zone. The archetype or building typology is an engineering bottom-up approach and it is defined as a sample of building that is representative of actual buildings. As the building stock of a country consists of buildings with different characteristics, several building typologies are required in order to derive the thermal characteristics of the building stock. In the last decades, several

studies have applied this method to estimate the energy consumption of an urban, regional or national building stock.

TABULA project [2] developed national building typologies representing the residential building stock of several European countries (Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Germany, Denmark, Spain, France, Great Britain, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, The Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Serbia, Sweden and Slovenia). The project made a classification of existing residential buildings according to age, size and further parameters, which includes a set of building examples to represent specific building types of the national stock. The typical energy consumption and the possible energy savings were given for the example buildings. The TABULA project represents one of the first initiatives to create a European database to collect information related to the existing building stock. Based on the work developed in the TABULA project, Dascalaki et al. [3] used the building typologies as a showcase for demonstrating the energy performance and the potential energy savings from typical and advanced energy conservation measures on the thermal envelope and the heat supply system. The study was focused on the residential building stock from Greece.

Mata et al. [4] describes a methodology for systematic description of the building stock of European countries based on archetype buildings. They analysed the building stock of four countries (France, Germany, Spain and UK) in order to estimate the energy consumption of the building sector using the model Energy, Carbon and Cost Assessment of Building Stocks [5]. The method assesses the effects of energy efficiency measures in building stocks. The model is based on a one-dimensional building energy balance (developed with Simulink), which gives hourly net energy demand. The model is implemented so that the results can be extrapolated to a building stock.

At Spanish level, Cuchí and Sweatman [6] evaluated the residential building stock of Spain identifying the hotspots for the energy renovation. The hotspots were defined following 4 criteria: building's age, building's height, home urban surroundings and single family units vs. multi-units apartment building. They obtained 10 hotspots which represent the 76% of the building stock of Spain. They proposed an ambitious action plan for the deep renovation of the building sector, including political, regulatory and financial actions. The Ministry of Development of Spain [7] analysed the current building code to determine if it is possible to achieve the minimum energy performance requirement with cost-optimal solutions. Six existing building typologies and ten reference new buildings were evaluated in the study, taking into account the existing building atabase and typical characteristics of buildings in Spain. Different orientations of buildings and six climatic zones have been also considered, summing a total amount of one hundred and twenty subcategories of buildings. Many individual measures have been defined for

to find the cost-optimal values. The method used for the economic calculation is based on the global costs [8], which takes into consideration the energy costs, investment costs, replacement costs and maintenance costs over a long period.

If the review is focused in Catalonia, Ivancic et al. [9] developed different tools to carry out the energy balance analysis, future scenarios evaluation, and cost benefit optimization of the city of Barcelona. The set of tools was very useful in the decision-making process for community planning purposes. An important amount of data was linked to the city database using a geographical information system. The same data were introduced into an energy and environmental balance simulator of the city to calculate the total and sectorial energy and emission balances for different situations, such as the base year, or for different scenarios. The balance simulator was calibrated for the base year, taking into account the real use data provided by the utilities. Garrido et al. [10, 11] extended the work made by [9] and made a detailed characterization of the residential building stock of Catalonia. They define 11 building typologies in accordance to historical events, building regulation codes and the location of the buildings (urban and rural environment). They obtained the energy consumption of the building typologies using Lider and Calener programmes. The objective was to estimate and calibrate the energy consumption of the residential sector in Catalonia, in order to compare the current situation with two additional scenarios, national regulation and regional regulation, evaluating the energy savings and the economic impacts. InnoCons project [12] analysed the most representative building typology of Catalonia, pre-defined in [11]. In that case, the objective was to evaluate deeper the retrofit options for this building typology. In that case, the building simulation was done with EnergyPlus. Manyes et al. [13] applied a similar method to develop a building characterization, with the difference that the scope of the study was a block of building level rather than a regional level. The scope of the study was to provide an estimation of the energy and economic savings entailed in a block scale intervention, rather in a building level. The study is focused in neighbourhood of Santa Coloma de Gramenet (Barcelona). A more accurate characterization of the systems and their use is introduced in the building simulation, including concepts like fraction of energy demand supplied and energy poverty.

Several studies have been developed to have a general view of the building stock and their energy consumption, especially if the review is focused on Catalan level. The reviewed studies try to improve the building characterization, increasing the representation of the typologies over the region, using more sophisticated models to simulate the buildings, and finally starting to include an actual use of the building. However, there are some aspects that can be improved, as, for example, the actual state of the buildings and the dwelling definition, the heating and cooling characterization, the occupancy and its interaction with the building.

IV.1.2 Thermal comfort evaluation

Environmental comfort is related to comfort and well-being of the body with the environment. The concept of environmental comfort depends on environmental physic parameters (environmental and architectural) and the characteristics of the person (socio-cultural and personal factors). A not appropriate environmental comfort can affect the human health in several ways. Bonnefoy [14] made a review of the most relevant health threats that can be found in dwellings: indoor air quality, home safety, noise, humidity and mould growth, indoor temperatures, lack of hygiene and sanitation equipment, missing daylight and crowding. In that sense, the environmental comfort is becoming an important parameter to design and improve the buildings. Recently, BPIE [15] has concluded that the indoor health and comfort requirements should be included in the building regulation of each country in order to guarantee an appropriate design for the people.

Four categories of environmental comfort can be distinguished: visual, thermal, acoustic and air quality. For each of them, different levels or categories of comfort are defined based on statistical data. The categories depend on the activity performed by the user, the environment and the requirement. The scope of the PhD thesis is to evaluate the thermal comfort of the users in the building with different energy efficiency measures. For that reason, the following review is focused on the thermal comfort models. The thermal comfort is the mind condition which expresses satisfaction with the thermal environment. Thermal sensations of people are primarily concerned with the thermal state of the body. This state depends on the physical activity undertaken and clothing, as well as environmental parameters: air temperature, mean radiant temperature, air velocity and humidity.

Fanger [16] developed a comfort model where the thermal comfort represents the thermal balance of the body and it happens when the internal heat of the body is equal to their loss to the environment. The parameters that take part of the heat exchange are environmental parameters (air temperature, humidity, air velocity...), human body parameters (heat generation, skin temperature and surface among others) and the clothing.

- Environmental: air temperature, humidity, air velocity, radiant temperature of the walls and openings.
- > Human body: heat generation, skin temperature, skin humidity and skin surface.
- > Clothing: thermal resistance, superficial temperature and emissivity.

The energy balance equation is obtained combining these parameters. The details of the equation are explained in [16]. If the internal heat of the body is different than the heat loss to the environment the user is in thermal imbalance. If the internal heat is greater than the losses, the person feels hot; and if the internal heat is lower than the losses, the person feels cold. The

index to evaluate the thermal imbalance is the PMV (Predicted Mean Vote) and reflects the opinion of a large group of people on their thermal sensation, valued in a scale of seven levels (Table IV.1).

Value	Sensation
+3	Hot
+2	Warm
+1	Slightly warm
0	Neutral
-1	Slightly cool
-2	Cool
-3	Cold

Table IV.1 Thermal sensation scale

The thermal environment is not evaluated equally for all the occupants. For that reason, the PPD (Percentage of People Dissatisfied) is defined in order to predict the number of people dissatisfied with the thermal environment. PPD is related with PMV following Eq. IV.1. The function is represented in Figure IV.1. Fanger model is applicable in buildings with mechanical heating and cooling systems.

Eq. IV.1

 $PPD = 100 - 95 \cdot e^{-(0.03353 \cdot PMV^4 + 0.2179 \cdot PMV^2)}$



Figure IV.1 Percentage of People Dissatisfied (PPD) in function of Predicted Mean Vote (PMV)

An alternative and complementary comfort model is the adaptive model [17], which includes the psychological dimension of people. Thermal sensations, satisfaction, and acceptability are all influenced by the expectations about the indoor climate in a particular context. The adaptive comfort model is based on the assumption that the people adapt the environment depending on the weather conditions and their level of activity. In that sense, the adaptive comfort model is applicable in buildings without mechanical cooling systems.

The index to estimate the comfort level is the Operative Temperature (T_{op}), defined as a uniform temperature of a radiant black enclosure in which an occupant would exchange the same amount of heat by radiation plus convection as in the actual non-uniform environment. In the ASHRAE adaptive comfort model, the operative temperature is defined following Eq. IV.2.

Eq. IV.2
$$T_{op} = 0.31 \cdot T_{out,m} + 17.8$$

where $T_{out,m}$ is the mean monthly outdoor air temperature.

Different categories are defined by both comfort models. The requirement of each category depends on the needs of the building. These categories are described in Table IV.2 and represented in Figure IV.2.

Table IV.2 Comfort categories comparison. Left: Fanger comfort model. Right: Adaptive comfort model

	Fanger comfort model (ISO 7730)			Adaptive comfort model (ASHRAE 55)		
Cat.	Description	Operative temperature	Cat.	Description	Operative temperature	
Ι	High level	+/- 2 °C	90%	High standard	ard +/- 2.5 °C	
II	Normal level (new buildings and renovations)	+/- 3 °C				
III	Moderate level (existing buildings)	+/- 4 °C	80%	Typical applications	+/- 3.5 °C	



Figure IV.2 Comfort categories comparison. Left: Fanger comfort model (Assumptions for T_{op} : $T_a=T_{rm}$, Relative Humidity=50%, $V_a=0.1m/s$, Metabolic activity=1.2met, External work=0met, Clothing resistance cold period=1clo, Clothing resistance warm period=1clo). Right: Adaptive comfort model

The PMV, PPD and T_{op} are instantaneous comfort index: they represent the comfort conditions at a moment, but not for a long period. The long-term indices aim at assessing comfort qualities of a building over a span of time and considering all the building zones. They can be calculated from simulated or measured data. Carlucci and Pagliano [18] made a systematic review of 15 indices for the long-term evaluation of thermal comfort conditions in a building. The indices were classified depending on the type of index (percentage, cumulative, averaging and risk indices) and whether it is based on a comfort model or in a reference temperature. The authors analysed the strengths and weakness of the indices, concluding that there is not an index for the long-term evaluation of discomfort that completely fulfils all the desirable features:

- > It has to be applicable for both free-running and mechanically cooled buildings
- > It can be used with both the adaptive and the Fanger comfort models
- It has to reflect the nonlinear relationship between perception of discomfort and the theoretical comfort temperature
- In case of a multi-zone building, weights the zone indices with the number of occupants inside the zone
- > It is applicable to evaluate different periods of the year (annual, summer, winter...)
- > It is able to estimate possible discomfort due to the upper and lower exceedance from the theoretical comfort temperature.

For that reason, the author proposed a new comfort index, Long-term Percentage of Dissatisfied (LDP) [19], with the objective to cover all the desirable features. LDP is a symmetric index that is able to evaluate the overheating and the overcooling of the building. The index is normalized over the total number of people inside the household, over all the zones and over all time corresponding to the calculation period (annual, warm or cold season). An advantage of the calculation period is to detect the weaknesses and strengths of the building.

One of the main problems of the Mediterranean regions is the overheating hours, in some cases increasing after the refurbishment of the building. For that reason, it has been included in the review how this phenomenon can be estimated. In the literature, it is possible to find a wide range of overheating definitions. Psomas et al. [20] remarked that there is no rigorous or widely accepted definition of what constitutes overheating indoors for different type of buildings, climates or a group of people. Then, it seems that is a research topic that continuous under development and needs additional studies to create evidence about which is the appropriate criteria to define the overheating conditions. Focusing on some of the overheating indices, Chartered Institution of Buildings Services Engineers (CIBSE) [21], proposed an index to estimate the percentage of overheating for buildings with natural ventilation. The index compares the environmental conditions with a fixed threshold temperature to obtain an exceedance criterion. They defined two different criteria depending on the type of room which is analysed (day and night zones). Nicol et al [22] defined the NaOR overheating risk. NaOR assumes that thermal discomfort is related to the difference of the operative temperature and comfort temperature, based on the EN 15251 adaptive comfort model [23]. It is an asymmetric index, which aims at predicting overheating phenomena and cannot be applied in mechanically cooled buildings.

Finally, several studies used the comfort parameters to improve the design of the buildings. Carlucci and Pagliano [24] optimized the building with the objective to minimize the thermal discomfort of the users. They applied the LDP in a method to design a new net zero energy building, analysing a set of passive measures (insulation and windows performance). Their objective was to reduce the heating and cooling demand through the comfort improvement. Griego et al. [25] optimized the energy efficiency and the thermal comfort measures of the residential buildings in Salamanca, Mexico, using the PMV as a comfort parameter. Penna et al. [26] implemented a multi-objective optimization for the retrofit of existing buildings using, in this case, Weighted Discomfort Time, energy performance for heating and net present value as variables of optimization.

Concluding the literature review of the comfort indices, there are several options to estimate the thermal comfort of the users and there is no a unique criteria for that, especially when the objective is to evaluate the overheating. In addition, in the last years it has been introduced the comfort as a criterion to design and improve the building performance. In this context, the thesis is trying to test some of the index and methods proposed in the literature, as well as, improve some of them.

IV.1.3 Cost-optimal analysis

To promote the refurbishment of the residential building, which presents very low rates of energy renovation, the countries and region must define retrofit strategies implementing costeffective solutions following the EPBD approach. In this context, several studies have implemented the cost-effective methodology to evaluate both, new and existing building, and define the cost-optimal measures. These studies cover different climates, types of buildings and energy efficiency strategies, and want to evaluate the effectivity of the method and the most appropriated strategies for each scenario.

Brandão et al. [27] developed the cost-optimal evaluation for a residential building of Portugal. They studied around 35,000 combinations of passive measures to evaluate which was the most suitable strategy for the envelope renovation. They used EnergyPlus for the primary energy calculation. The work concluded that the rehabilitation of the roof produces the greatest variation in terms of primary energy consumption and the combination of thermal envelope measures creates synergy effects that lead to better results than single measures. Stocker et al. [28] implemented the cost-optimal method for the renovation of school buildings in the Alps. The objective of the study was to reduce the heating energy consumption and they implemented measures to improve the envelope performance as well as, the efficiency of the heating system. Additionally, they developed a sensitivity analysis in order to evaluate the impact of some parameters used for the calculation. They concluded that the variation on the energy price, the measure cost and the interest rate are the most influential ones in the results. Similar results were obtained in ECOFYS study [29], where it was analysed the link and consistency between the nearly zero energy buildings definition and the cost-optimal levels of the minimum energy requirements. One of the aspects that they evaluated was the gap in the global cost calculation, mainly related to the variability of some parameters over the period calculation: technology costs, energy costs and primary energy factors for electricity or district heating. They performed some scenarios to quantify the impact of this variability into the costoptimal analysis, obtaining significant changes in the optimum levels (from 25% to 50% of variability, depending on the scenario).

Aelenei et al. [30] implemented the methodology for the refurbishment of public buildings toward nearly Zero Energy Buildings (nZEB). The analysis was applied to a reference building of an existing office building in five different countries: Italy, Portugal, Romania, Spain and Greece. The evaluation tool used a new cost optimization procedure based on a sequential search optimization technique considering discrete options [31], which was implemented before in a cost-optimal study in residential buildings in Italy. The results were presented in terms of optimal "package of measures", primary energy consumption and global costs, as well as a cross-country comparison. The study presented by Hambdy et al. [32] introduced an efficient, transparent, and time-saving simulation-based optimization method. The method was applied to find the cost-optimal and nZEB energy performance levels for a study case of a single-family house in Finland. They proposed a multi-stage optimization: in the first stage they selected the optimal passive strategies in terms of heating demand and total investment costs; followed by

DETAILED ENERGY AND COMFORT SIMULATION OF INTEGRAL REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING BUILDINGS IN CATALONIA

the second stage where the active systems were evaluated from the primary energy consumption and Life Cycle Cost point of view; to finalize with the renewable energy design in order to improve the results obtained in the second stage. Moreover, they used two different optimization technics in the different stages of the study (genetic and deterministic algorithms). Asadi et al. [33] wanted to demonstrate the potentiality of the cost-effective evaluation to provide decision support. Therefore, an optimization methodology was developed based on combining TRNSYS, GenOpt and a multi-objective optimization algorithm in MatLab. The optimization approach was applied to a case study to evaluate all available combinations of alternative retrofit actions.

At Spanish level, the Spanish Ministry of Development [7] analysed the current building code to determine if it is possible to achieve the minimum energy performance requirement with cost-optimal solutions, obtaining that in most of the building typologies and climates, the current building regulation goes further than the cost-optimal measures. In addition, there are also several scientific studies developed in Spain [34-37]. They cover different regions, the north [34, 36] and the south [35], and all of them are focused on residential sector. However, not all the studies implement the cost-optimal method but, they proposed other variables of decision: [36] included the payback period as additional parameter for the economical evaluation; [35] used the construction costs and the CO_2 emissions to analysed the impact of different building legislations; and [34, 37] implemented the Life Cycle Cost and the Life Cycle Impact Assessment.

Then, it is clear that there is a wide range of possibilities to develop this type of studies, from the point of view of the criteria and parameters and, from the point of view of the tools. In that sense, Tadeu et al. [38] compared the cost-optimal evaluation with the return of investment. The results from the real options perspective enabled to conclude that the global cost is not enough for the investors and must be complemented with additional information (such as the value of operational flexibility and other strategic factors), and the return of investment must be evaluated in a long-term rather than in the short-term perspective. Other point of view of the same discussion is described by Becchio et al. [39]. They introduced the need to incorporate some additional benefits to the global cost calculation, in order to achieve more interesting results for all the actors involved, including investors and final users. They proposed a method to quantify qualitative benefits in monetary terms, as the increase of the real estate market value, the enhancement of the indoor comfort, the reduction of CO₂ emissions.

IV.2 Two step evaluation process

The thesis proposes a detailed process to analyse passive and active measures focusing on the thermal comfort, energy performance and economic parameters. The novel method aims to

develop cost-optimal studies for the energy renovation of buildings as Salom et al. [40] was introduced. The analysis is done using dynamic building simulations, where the building and its interaction with the user is characterized in detail with TRNSYS [41]. The simulation evaluates the three main criteria for the base case, i.e. the existing building, and for the building with different combination of energy efficiency measures (passive and active measures).

All the method is done in the two-step evaluation process (Figure IV.3): passive and active evaluation. In the first one, which has been described in [42], the objective is to obtain the passive measures that provide a better thermal comfort without the use of mechanical systems and considering the required economic investment. In the second step, published on [43], the active measures are applied and the non-renewable primary energy consumption and the global costs have been compared to obtain the cost-optimal solution of each building typology.



Figure IV.3 Two-step evaluation process of the energy efficiency measures

A co-simulation process is done to carry out each evaluation step, using SDLPS as a management tool and TRNSYS as a calculus engine for the energy simulation. SDLPS [44, 45] is a general purpose software infrastructure that makes possible to manage the main simulation process, running all the scenarios and collecting the results (Figure IV.4). The Brute-Force approach was used since the objective is to obtain a complete characterization of the problem [46, 47]. This approach consists on running the simulation with all the possible combinations i.e no optimization algorithm is used. Figure IV.5 represents the scheme of building simulation, where the software (solid lines), the methods (dashed lines) and the results (dotted lines) are remarked (details are explained in Chapter II).



Figure IV.4 Architecture of the co-simulation process



Figure IV.5 Software and methods implemented for the active measure evaluation to develop the costoptimal analysis (solid line: software; dashed line: method; dotted line: results)

IV.2.1 Thermal comfort evaluation

The comfort evaluation is one of the main points of the method. The comfort model selected for the evaluation is ASHRAE adaptive model [17]. The ASHRAE adaptive model is used in the passive measure evaluation because in that case, the simulations are done in free running mode (without mechanical systems). The selection of the model is based on the analysis done by Carlucci in [18, 19].

The long-term index used in the study is the Long-term Percentage of Dissatisfied (LDP) developed by Carlucci [19], which has been introduced previously in the state of the art. The LDP is calculated following Eq. IV.3:

Eq. IV.3
$$LDP = \frac{\sum_{t=1}^{T} \sum_{z=1}^{Z} (p_{z,t} \cdot LD_{z,t} \cdot h_t)}{\sum_{t=1}^{T} \sum_{z=1}^{Z} (p_{z,t} \cdot h_t)}$$

where *t* is the counter of the time step of the calculation period, *T* is the calculation period, *z* is the counter for the zones of the household, *Z* is the total of zones of the household, $p_{z,t}$ is the zone occupation rate at certain time step, h_t is the duration of a calculation time step and $LD_{z,t}$ is the Likelihood of Dissatisfied inside a certain zone (*z*) at a certain time step (*t*). The LD depends on the comfort model and is a function of the short-term index. The LD used for Fanger model is the PPD and for the Adaptive model is the ASHRAE Likelihood of Dissatisfied (ALD) which was also developed by Carlucci [19] and follows the equations Eq. IV.4 and Eq. IV.5.

Eq. IV.4
$$ALD = \frac{e^{0.008 \cdot \Delta T_{op,ASH}^2 + 0.406 \cdot \Delta T_{op,ASH} - 3.050}}{1 + e^{0.008 \cdot \Delta T_{op,ASH}^2 + 0.406 \cdot \Delta T_{op,ASH} - 3.050}}$$

Eq. IV.5
$$\Delta T_{op,ASH} = |T_{op,in} - T_{op,comf-ASHRAE}|$$

Where $T_{op,in}$ is the operative temperature of the building and $T_{op,comf-ASHRAE}$ is the comfortable operative temperature following the ASHRAE adaptive comfort model (Eq. IV.2).

An advantage of the LDP is that it can be calculated for different periods (annual, warm and cold season), detecting the weakness of the building. This index describes the average comfort of the household over a period; however the extreme values are not represented with the LDP. Then, the index only reflects the problems of overheating or overcooling when this phenomenon is sufficiently representative of the period.

However, in order to avoid overheating problems, the hours of overheating (OH) have been included for complementing the LDP index in the comfort evaluation. There are several international initiatives (EBC Annex 69 Strategy and Practice of Adaptive Thermal Comfort in

Low Energy Buildings, and IEA EBC Annex 62 Ventilative Cooling) that are discussing about which are the appropriate indices to quantify the overheating and which variables has to be used. The criterion used in the evaluation says that the percentage of OH hours has to be lower than the 1% of the period calculation in order to have a comfortable building. This criteria is based on the design-overheating criteria proposed by CIBSE [21], however, some adaptation has been done in the calculation of the index. The overheating is considered when the operative temperature of the zone is above the upper comfort temperature of the ASHRAE model, as in Eq. IV.6 is represented.

Eq. IV.6

$$P_{OH} = \frac{\sum_{t=1}^{T} p_t \cdot OH_t}{\sum_{t=1}^{T} p_t \cdot h_t} = OH_t = 1 \Rightarrow T_{op} > T_{upper,ASH}$$

$$OH_t = 0 \Rightarrow T_{op} \le T_{upper,ASH}$$

 $\overline{}$

All the comfort calculations are included in the building simulation and therefore the comfort indices are outputs of the simulation. The assumption done for the air velocity to calculate the comfort index depends on whether there is natural ventilation or not, being 0.25m/s and 0.1m/s respectively [48].

IV.2.1.1 Climate analysis

As explained above, the LDP index is calculated for different periods of time: annual, warm and cold season. However, one of the uncertainties, as Carlucci analysed in [19], is how to define the calculation period. There are some definitions, such as meteorological definition or Spanish Building Regulation (Código Técnico de la Edificación, CTE [49]) definition, where the season periods are independent of the local climate. It does not seem reasonable that the winter period of the Pyrenees is the same than the one in Barcelona. An unsuitable definition of the calculation period could have consequences in the comfort index: if the calculation period increases, the comfort index tends to improve.

The method used for identifying the calculation period is proposed by Carlucci [19] and is based on the relationship between outdoor conditions and the indoor comfort target. The objective of this approach is to define the cold period (or warm period) when the outdoor conditions start to be lower (or higher) than the comfort target. The metric used to represent the outdoor condition is the sol-air temperature [31] (Eq. IV.7), which is a function of: dry-bulb air temperature, solar radiation incident at the building and the radiation exchange with the surrounding surfaces and the sky.

Eq. IV.7
$$T_{sol-air} = T_o + \frac{\alpha \cdot I}{h_o} - \frac{\Delta q_i}{h_o}$$

where T_o is the dry-bulb air temperature, α is the solar absorptivity, I is the global solar irradiance on the surface, h_o is the heat transfer coefficient for radiation and convection and Δq_i is the correction due to long wave infrared radiation transferred between building surface and the sky. The first term of the equation (3) represents the effect of the solar radiation and assuming that the wall has a light coloured surface $\alpha/h_o=0.026(m^{2o}C)/W$. The second term represents the convection and the radiation heat transfer and for vertical surfaces it could be assumed that is 0, as suggests [19, 50].

Following this approach and using the Fanger model as a comfort target, the season periods have been obtained for the climates analysed in the thesis. The climates are B3 (Tarragona), C2 (Barcelona), D3 (Lleida) and E1 (Pre-Pyrinees), following the climate classification of the CTE (in brackets there is the reference city/region for each climate in Catalonia). Figure IV.6 shows the results obtained for each climate. The graphs show the evolution of the outdoor temperature and the sol-air temperature over the year, represented by a 15-day average. The horizontal lines represent the comfortable temperature for the Fanger model (solid line for warm period and dot line for cold period). Then, when the sol-air temperature is higher than the cold comfort temperature, the cold season has finished (vertical dots line). The warm season starts when the sol-air temperature is higher than the warm comfort temperature (vertical solid line), and so on. The results of the calculation periods are represented on the left side of the Figure IV.6. In this scheme, there are three seasons: cold, warm and intermediate. The intermediate season represents the period of the year where the sol-air temperature is in the comfort range. In that sense and in order to simplify the comfort evaluation, only two seasons have been considered and the intermediate season has been included as a cold season.

DETAILED ENERGY AND COMFORT SIMULATION OF INTEGRAL REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING BUILDINGS IN CATALONIA



Figure IV.6 Calculation period for the climates B3 (Tarragona), C2 (Barcelona), D3 (Lleida) and E1 (Pre-Pyrinees) based on the Fanger comfort model

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

Jun

Jul

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

IV.2.2 Cost-optimal analysis

The parameters that are selected to carry out the cost-optimal analysis are the non-renewable primary energy consumption (from this point forward, primary energy consumption) and the global costs. In order to approach the results from the point of view of the final user, the energy uses included in the primary energy are: heating, cooling, domestic hot water, lighting and appliance consumption. Including all the energy uses of the household it is possible to compare the results with the actual natural gas and electric bills of households.

The economic approach used to estimate the global cost is described in the European standard EN 15459 [8]. The global cost calculation method is the calculation of a present value of all the costs during a long period, taking into account the residual values of components with longer lifetimes. Figure IV.7 represents the costs that are included in the global cost indicator. Basically, the costs can be divided in three main groups: energy costs, investment costs and running costs. Each of these costs is calculated for the established period in the study, in this case 30 years.



Figure IV.7 Global costs calculation scheme

The energy costs are composed of two terms: costs related to the consumed energy by the building (purchased energy) and the costs related to the produced energy in the building (sold energy). In both terms, the included costs can be: energy cost (\in /kWh), additional values for purchase/sale (\notin /yr, as for example power fix term of the electrical contract), and environmental costs (\notin /CO₂emission). In this study, the environmental cost is not included because the perspective of the evaluation is microeconomic.

The investment cost of each retrofit option includes three terms: the initial investment cost, the replacement cost and the final value of the component. The total replacement cost and the final value of the component are related to the lifespan of the retrofit measures. Figure IV.8 describes the relationship between the initial investment cost (C_i), the total replacement cost (C_p), the final value (V_f) and the lifespan of the component. In the example, the calculation period (T) is 30 years and the lifespan of the component is 8 years. At initial conditions (Year=0), the initial investment cost is considered and every 8 years the component is replaced by a new one, being replaced several times over the calculation period. At the end of the period, the final value of the component is calculated, in order to take into account the cost of the remaining active service of the component (in the example, remains 2/8 years).



Figure IV.8 Representation of the investment cost calculation. C_i : initial investment cost; C_r : running costs; C_p : replacement costs; V_f : final value of the component; T: economic calculation period. Source: [8]

Finally, the running cost includes the annual cost for the maintenance of the building and their systems, which is considered every year of the calculation period.

Figure IV.9 represents the sequence of calculation that is implemented in TRNSYS to obtain the global costs. The first step is to obtain the information about the reference year: energy consumption, energy costs and environmental costs. In the reference year (year=0), the initial investment cost is considered. After the reference year, the energy costs, environmental costs and the component costs are included every year being modified according to their corresponding evolution rate. Finally, at the end of the period, the final value of the components is calculated.



Figure IV.9 Global costs calculation procedure

Figure IV.9 shows that the costs are estimated according to an evolution rate. This figure represents how the cost of an element (energy, emissions, components...) will change over the years. However, not all the elements follow the same evolution rate. Table IV.3 describes the different evolutions rates used in the cost calculation:

- Discount rate: it is the rate used to compare the money value in different years. The discount rate is implemented in all the elements that follow the market evolution.
- Energy evolution rate: it is the rate used to compare the energy cost in different years. The energy evolution rate is implemented for each different energy source, applying in each case its corresponding value.

Evolution rate calculation	Equation	
Discount rate (R _D):	Eq. IV.8	$R_R = \frac{R - RI}{1 + (RI/100)} [\%]$
Market interest rate (R) Inflation rate (RI) Real interest rate (R _R)	Eq. IV.9	$R_D = \frac{1}{1 + (R_R / 100)^t} [-]$
Energy evolution rate (R_E) Energy cost evolution (RX_E)	Eq. IV.10	$R_E = (1 + RX_E / 100)^{t-1} [-]$
	Evolution rate calculation Discount rate (R _D): Market interest rate (R) Inflation rate (RI) Real interest rate (R _R) Energy evolution rate (R _E) Energy cost evolution (RX _E)	Evolution rate calculation Equation Discount rate (R _D): Eq. IV.8 Market interest rate (R) Inflation rate (RI) Real interest rate (R _R) Eq. IV.9 Energy evolution rate (R _E) Eq. IV.10 Energy cost evolution (RX _E) Eq. IV.10

Table IV.3 Description of the evolution rates implemented in the global cost calculation

t is the year of calculation

Three main groups of data are needed: economic, energy and environmental, and energy efficiency measures. Relative to the economic assumptions needed for the global cost calculation, there are basically two parameters: inflation rate and market interest rate. Table
IV.4 shows the values used in the present study, which are consistent with the values proposed in [8].

Parameter	Hypothesis
Inflation rate (RI)	2%
Market interest rate (R)	4.5%
Discount rate (R_D)	2.5%

Table IV.4 Economic hypotheses

The energy and environmental hypotheses depend on the energy system of each country. Table IV.5 shows the hypotheses and their corresponding sources. Finally, parameters needed for the energy efficiency measures evaluation are detailed in the Annex II OptiHab. In this case, the investment and the maintenance costs are obtained from [51] and the lifespan from [8]. The perspective of the evaluation is microeconomic (i.e. energy bills), for that reason the costs must include taxes.

Table IV.5 Energy and environmental hypothesis

Parameter	Catalonia (2014)	Source
Electricity		
Energy cost (€/kWh)	0.1315	[51]
Additional values for purchase (€/kW·yr)	40.58	[51]
Energy cost evolution, $RX_{E,ele}$ (%)	2.50	[51]
Conversion factor from final energy to primary energy (kWh_p/kWh_f)	2.464	[7]
Conversion factor from final energy to CO_2 emissions ($g_{\text{CO}2}/\text{kWh}_f$)	248	[7]
Natural gas		
Energy cost (€/kWh)	0.0527	[51]
Additional values for purchase (€/yr)	106.56	[51]
Energy cost evolution, $RX_{E,ng}$ (%)	2.00	[51]
Conversion factor from final energy to primary energy (kWh_p/kWh_f)	1.070	[7]
Conversion factor from final energy to CO_2 emissions ($g_{\text{CO}2}/\text{kWh}_f$)	201	[7]
Biomass		
Energy cost (€/kWh)	0.0368	[51]
Additional values for purchase (€/yr)	-	[51]
Energy cost evolution, RX _{E,bm} (%)	2.00	[51]
Conversion factor from final energy to primary energy (kWh_p/kWh_f)	0.25	[7]
Conversion factor from final energy to CO_2 emissions $(g_{\text{CO}2}/\text{kWh}_\text{f})$	-	[7]

*Prices not include the VAT

IV.2.3 Energy labelling

The results obtained from the building simulation are in terms of energy (energy demand, final energy and primary energy) and global costs. However, it is interesting to translate these results to the energy labelling, in order to have a high impact on the results implementation. This section explains how the results have been adapted.

In Spain, the energy label legislation [52] establishes that for residential buildings the primary energy consumption must include the energy consumption of: heating, cooling and domestic hot water. As it has been explained before, in this study, the energy consumption includes also the consumption of lighting and appliance. For that reason, an adaptation of the energy label scale is needed.

Basically the steps followed for this adaptation are represented in Eq. IV.11. First, the energy label scale ($E_{R,label-i}$) has been obtained for each climate following [53, 54]. Then, the energy consumption of lighting ($E_{LIG,BC}$) and appliances ($E_{APP,BC}$) of the base case have been added to the scale in order to take into consideration these energy uses in the labelling. After the adaptation, the energy labelling represents the total energy consumption of a dwelling (Table IV.6): total energy labelling scale ($E_{T,label-i}$).

Eq. IV.11

$$E_{T,label-i} = E_{R,label-i} + (E_{LIG,BC} + E_{APP,BC})$$

kWh/m₂•yr		Primary consu	v energy mption	Total energy labelling scale (<i>E_{T,label-i}</i>)					
	- ,	E _{LIG,BC}	E _{APP,BC}	A-B	B-C	C-D	D-E	E-F	F-G
	BT-4	7.6	60.5	106	130	164	215	315	364
62	BT-5	8.9	74.6	109	125	148	183	269	300
C2	BT-6	7.0	57.3	90	106	129	164	250	281
	BT-8	7.0	82.9	115	131	155	189	276	307
	BT-4	7.6	60.5	96	122	158	213	282	317
B3	BT-6	6.9	57.3	82	99	123	159	234	256
	BT-8	6.9	82.9	108	125	148	184	259	281
D3	BT-6	6.9	57.3	97	119	149	194	302	349
E1	BT-5	8.8	74.6	112	137	173	228	413	471
61	BT-6	7.0	57.3	131	156	193	247	432	490

Table IV.6 Total energy labelling scale for each building typology and climate

IV.3 References

[1] L.G. Swan, V.I. Ugursal, Modeling of end-use energy consumption in the residential sector: A review of modeling techniques, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 13 (8) (2009) 1819-1835.

[2] TABULA, Typology Approach for Building Stock Energy Assessment, 2012. <u>http://www.building-typology.eu/</u>

[3] E.G. Dascalaki, K.G. Droutsa, C.A. Balaras, S. Kontoyiannidis, Building typologies as a tool for assessing the energy performance of residential buildings – A case study for the Hellenic building stock, Energy and Buildings, 43 (12) (2011) 3400-3409.

[4] É. Mata, A. Sasic Kalagasidis, F. Johnsson, Building-stock aggregation through archetype buildings: France, Germany, Spain and the UK, Building and Environment, 81 (0) (2014) 270-282.

[5] É. Mata, A.S. Kalagasidis, F. Johnsson, A modelling strategy for energy, carbon, and cost assessments of building stocks, Energy and Buildings, 56 (0) (2013) 100-108.

[6] A. Cuchí, P. Sweatman, A national perspective on Spain's buinding sector. A roadmap for a new housing sector, Green Building Council Spain. Fundacion CONAMA, 2011.

[7] Spanish Ministry of Development . Directorate for Architecture Housing and Planning, Report on cost optimal calculations and comparison with the current and future energy performace requierements of buildings in Spain, 2013.

[8] CEN, EN 15459: Energy performance of buildings - Economic evaluation procedure for energy systems in buildings, 2008

[9] A. Ivancic, J. Lao, J. Salom, J. Pascual, Local energy plans: a way to improve the energy balance and the environmental impact of the cities: case study of Barcelona, ASHRAE Transactions, 110 (1) (2014) 583.

[10] N. Garrido-Soriano, M. Rosas-Casals, A. Ivancic, M.D. Álvarez-del Castillo, Potential energy savings and economic impact of residential buildings under national and regional efficiency scenarios. A Catalan case study, Energy and Buildings, 49 (0) (2012) 119-125.

[11] N. Garrido, Eficiència i certificació energètica d'edificis residencials, Departament de Projectes d'Enginyeria, Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, 2010.

[12] InnoCons, Eficiencia energetica en la rehabilitación de edificios, 2012. <u>http://www.innocons.cat/99 pdf/2012/eficiencia energetica rehabilitacion.pdf</u>

[13] A. Manyes, L. Sisó, J. Salom, Block level study and simulation for residential retrofitting, BS2013: 13th Conference of the International Building Performance Simulation Association, Chambery, France, 2013.

[14] X. Bonnefoy, Inadequate housing and health: an overview, International Journal of Environment and Pollution, 30 (3) (2007) 411-429.

[15] S. Kunkel, E. Kontonasiou, A. Arcipowska, F. Mariottini, B. Atanasiu, Indoor air quality, thermal comfort and daylight, Buildings Performance Institute Europe (BPIE), 2015.

[16] UNE, ISO 7730: Ergonomics of the thermal environment - Analytical determination and interpretation of thermal comfort using calculation of the PMV and PPD indices and local thermal comfort criteria, 2006

[17] ASHRAE 55, ANSI/ASHRAE Standard 55-2004, Thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy, American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers Inc., Atlanta, 2004.

[18] S. Carlucci, L. Pagliano, A review of indices for the long-term evaluation of the general thermal comfort conditions in buildings, Energy and Buildings, 53 (0) (2012) 194-205.

[19] S. Carlucci, Thermal comfort assessment of buildings, Spinger, 2013.

[20] T.C. Psomas, P.K. Heiselberg, K. Duer, E. Bjørn, Analysis and comparison of overheating indices in energy renovated houses, IBPSA 2015: International Building Performance Simulation Conference, Hyderabad, December 7-9th, 2015.

[21] Chartered Institution of Buildings Services Engineers (CIBSE), Guide A: Environmental Design, 2006.

[22] J.F. Nicol, J. Hacker, B. Spires, H. Davies, Suggestion for new approach to overheating diagnostics, Building Research & Information, 37 (4) (2009) 348-357.

[23] AENOR, Parámetros del ambiente interior a considerar para el diseño y evaluación de la eficiencia energética de edificios incluyedo la calidad del aire, condiciones térmicas, iluminación y ruido., AENOR, 2008

[24] S. Carlucci, L. Pagliano, An optimization procedure based on thermal discomfort minimization to support the design of comfortable Net Zero Energy Buildings, BS2013: 13th Conference of the International Building Performance Simulation Association, Chambery, France, 2013.

[25] D. Griego, M. Krarti, A. Hernández-Guerrero, Optimization of energy efficiency and thermal comfort measures for residential buildings in Salamanca, Mexico, Energy and Buildings, 54 (2012) 540-549.

[26] P. Penna, A. Prada, F. Cappelletti, A. Gasparella, Multi-objectives optimization of Energy Efficiency Measures in existing buildings, Energy and Buildings, 95 (0) (2015) 57-69.

[27] A. Brandão de Vasconcelos, M.D. Pinheiro, A. Manso, A. Cabaço, EPBD cost-optimal methodology: Application to the thermal rehabilitation of the building envelope of a Portuguese residential reference building, Energy and Buildings, 111 (2016) 12-25.

[28] E. Stocker, M. Tschurtschenthaler, L. Schrott, Cost-optimal renovation and energy performance: Evidence from existing school buildings in the Alps, Energy and Buildings, 100 (2015) 20-26.

[29] A. Hermelink, S. Schimschar, T. Boermans, L. Pagliano, P. Zangheri, R. Armani, K. Voss, E. Musall, Towards nearly zero-energy buildings. Definition of common principles under the EPBD. Final report, ECOFYS, 2013.

[30] L. Aelenei, S. Paduos, H. Petran, J. Tarrés, A. Ferreira, V. Corrado, S. Camelo, E. Polychroni, K. Sfakianaki, H. Gonçalves, J. Salom, G. Riva, G. Murano, Implementing Costoptimal Methodology in Existing Public Buildings, Energy Procedia, 78 (2015) 2022-2027. [31] V. Corrado, I. Ballarini, S. Paduos, Assessment of Cost-optimal Energy Performance Requirements for the Italian Residential Building Stock, Energy Procedia, 45 (2014) 443-452.

[32] M. Hamdy, A. Hasan, K. Siren, A multi-stage optimization method for cost-optimal and nearly-zero-energy building solutions in line with the EPBD-recast 2010, Energy and Buildings, 56 (2013) 189-203.

[33] E. Asadi, M.G. da Silva, C.H. Antunes, L. Dias, A multi-objective optimization model for building retrofit strategies using TRNSYS simulations, GenOpt and MATLAB, Building and Environment, 56 (0) (2012) 370-378.

[34] S. Domingo-Irigoyen, A. Sánchez-Ostiz, J.S. Miguel-Bellod, Cost-effective Renovation of a Multi-residential Building in Spain through the Application of the IEA Annex 56 Methodology, Energy Procedia, 78 (2015) 2385-2390.

[35] V.J. Fernández-Membrive, X.B. Lastra-Bravo, A. Tolón-Becerra, Cost-benefit analysis of changes in energy in building technology in Southeast Spain, Energy and Buildings, 103 (2015) 29-37.

[36] J. Terés-Zubiaga, A. Campos-Celador, I. González-Pino, C. Escudero-Revilla, Energy and economic assessment of the envelope retrofitting in residential buildings in Northern Spain, Energy and Buildings, 86 (2015) 194-202.

[37] O. Pombo, K. Allacker, B. Rivela, J. Neila, Sustainability assessment of energy saving measures: a multi-criteria approach for residential buildings retrofitting–A case study of the Spanish housing stock, Energy and Buildings.

[38] S.F. Tadeu, R.F. Alexandre, A.J.B. Tadeu, C.H. Antunes, N.A.V. Simões, P.P.d. Silva, A comparison between cost optimality and return on investment for energy retrofit in buildings-A real options perspective, Sustainable Cities and Society, 21 (2016) 12-25.

[39] C. Becchio, S.P. Corgnati, L. Orlietti, G. Spigliantini, Proposal for a Modified Cost-optimal Approach by Introducing Benefits Evaluation, Energy Procedia, 82 (2015) 445-451.

[40] J. Salom, J. Ortiz, V. Russo, Method to develop cost-effective studies of energy efficiency measures for Mediterranean residential existing buildings with multi-criteria optimization, World Sustainable Building 2014, Barcelona, 2014.

[41] Solar Energy Laboratory (SEL). University of Wisconsin, TRNSYS 17.1, 2012.

[42] J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, J. Salom, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca, V. Russo, Comfort and economic criteria for selecting passive measures for the energy refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 110 (2016) 195-210.

[43] J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca i Casas, J. Salom, N.G. Soriano, P. Fonseca i Casas, Cost-effective analysis for selecting energy efficiency measures for refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings.

[44] P. Fonseca i Casas, A. Fonseca i Casas, N. Garrido-Soriano, J. Casanovas, Formal simulation model to optimize building sustainability, Advances in Engineering Software, 69 (0) (2014) 62-74.

[45] P. Fonseca i Casas, A. Fonseca i Casas, NECADA. Optimization software for sustainable architecture, IBPSA 2015: International Building Performance Simulation Conference, Hyderabat, India, 7-9th December, 2015.

[46] P. Fonseca i Casas, A. Fonseca i Casas, N. Garrido-Soriano, J. Ortiz, J. Casanovas, J. Salom, Distributed experiment for the calculus of optimal values for energy consumption in buildings, Energy, Environment, Ecosystems and Development, Barcelona, Spain, 2015.

[47] A. Fonseca, J. Ortiz, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca, J. Salom, Application of a co-simulation model to find the best comfort, energy and cost scenarios for building refurbishment, Under review, (2016).

[48] A. Lenoir, G. Baird, F. Garde, Post-occupancy evaluation and experimental feedback of a net zero-energy building in a tropical climate, Architectural Science Review, 55 (3) (2012) 156-168.

[49] CTE, Código Técnico de la Edificación, 2013

[50] J.F. Kreider, P.S. Curtiss, A. Rabl, Heating and Cooling of Buildings: Design for Efficiency, Revised 2nd Edition ed., Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, 2010.

[51] MARIE. Mediterranean Building Rethinking for Energy Efficiency Improvement, Programme MED, call for proposal: 3rd call, 2010 (Agreement N° 1S-MED10-002) 2010-2014. <u>www.marie-medstrategic.eu</u>

[52] Ministerio de Presidencia, Real Decreto 235/2013. Procedimiento básico para la certificación de eficiencia energética de edificios, 2013

[53] IDAE, Ministerio de Fomento, Escala de calificación energética. Edificios existentes, 2011.

[54] IDAE, Ministerio de Fomento, Escala de calificación energética. Edificios de nueva construcción, 2009.

Chapter V Analysis of the results

The following chapter describes the results obtained in the cost-optimal evaluation based on three criteria: thermal comfort, energy savings and economic analysis. The method of the evaluation process has been described previously in Chapter IV, the building simulation model and its hypotheses are detailed in Chapter II and the building typologies characteristics are found in Annex II OptiHab. The results are divided in four sections: passive measure evaluation, active measure evaluation, general results and applications.

A detailed analysis of the results is done in the passive measure evaluation and active measure evaluation. In both sections, the analysis is focused on the building typology BT-8 located in C2 (Barcelona) and B3 (Tarragona) climate. The results presented in both section are published in [1, 2], respectively. Thereafter, an overview of all the typologies and all climates is done. To visualize the results it is designed a factsheet for each building typology and climate in order to summarize the main results. Finally, the results of the study have been used as a tool to define a subsidy plan for the energy renovation of buildings based on cost-effective measures [3]. In that case, the results used are those from the building typology BT-6 in the C2 (Barcelona) climate.

V.1 Passive measure evaluation

The results of the passive analysis are described in the following section. The objective of the passive measure evaluation is to obtain the measures or combination of measures that provide the best thermal comfort with the lowest initial investment cost. For the evaluation, it has been has been simulated the building without the use of the heating and cooling system (free running mode) and the comfort model used is the ASHRAE adaptive model. The purpose is to explore to what extend the passive measures are able to reduce the discomfort conditions without the use of the mechanical systems. Despite that the climates B3 and C2 are temperate, the heating demand is more important than the cooling demand. In that sense, one of the objectives of the passive measure evaluation is to identify in which cases the cooling system could be avoided: the summer discomfort and the hours of overheating are in the comfort ranges only with passive measures.

A general view of the results is done in the sections V.1.1 and V.1.2, and particular situations are evaluated in the following ones: the impact of the natural ventilation (V.1.3), the effect of measures (V.1.4), and the difference between climates (V.1.5).

V.1.1 Main results: thermal comfort vs. investment costs

To develop the passive measure evaluation, the building simulation has been run for the base case, to know the current situation, and for the different package of passive measures. The parameters evaluated are: LDP annual, LDP cold season, LDP warm season, OH hours and the initial investment cost. The climate of Barcelona and the simulations with natural ventilation are selected for the general analysis of the results.

All the graphs of the Figure V.1 represent the results of the mean dwelling: each dot represents one simulation. The results of the mean dwelling are calculated as the weighted average between the results of the standard dwelling and the results of the under roof dwelling. In the graphs, the results are analysed using the different comfort parameters. The colours of the dots represent the measures of the Pareto frontier, depending on the corresponding criteria (annual discomfort, warm season, cold season and hours of overheating).

The annual discomfort (top-left of the Figure V.1) of the starting point is around the 33%. It means that, the occupants are in discomfort conditions during the 33% of the year. As the cost of the energy efficiency measures is increasing, the discomfort tends to decrease, reaching values near the comfort zone: 24% (the threshold of a comfortable building is 20%). However, the discomfort levels are quite different if the season indices are analysed (bottom of the figure). For the cold season, the current building has around 55% of discomfort, reaching a 40% with the best combination of measures. Nevertheless, the warm season discomfort index reflects comfortable conditions for all the simulations (LDP<9%). With this discomfort values during the cold season, it can be concluded that the heating demand can be reduced; however, the heating system is already needed to provide comfort condition to the users.

For a more detailed evaluation of the comfort during the warm season, it must be included the hours of overheating in the analysis (bottom-right graph). For Barcelona's climate, the threshold of a household without overheating problems is 41 hours (1% of the warm season). The current building presents slight problems of overheating (45 hours). In that case, the effect of the different measures does not follow a linear behaviour and whether the overheating is reduced or increased depends on the measures. There is a set of measures that reduce the hours of overheating below 1%. In those cases, the household has a comfortable condition during the warm season without the use of mechanical systems.



Figure V.1 Economic and comfort parameters of the simulation for Barcelona (C2) with natural ventilation. Top-left: annual discomfort. Top-right: hours of overheating. Bottom-left: cold season discomfort. Bottomright: warm season discomfort.

Comparing the Pareto frontier of the different criteria, there is a correlation between the annual and cold season criteria: the measures of the annual period are consistent with the measures of the cold period. However, the measures of the warm season and the overheating criteria are not the same. In the case of the overheating analysis in relation to the annual/cold season, the behaviour is, in most of the cases, opposite: the better measures in the annual/cold season are the worst of the overheating index. As regards the cost of the measures, the annual and cold comfort are improved as the cost is increased, achieving a maximum investment cost around 240 C/m^2 . However, this trend is not observed for the warm season, even the expensive measures provide more hours of overheating than the others. In that case, the measures with a higher reduction of overheating hours have a maximum cost around 150 C/m^2 .

V.1.1.1 Standard dwelling vs. under roof dwelling

Figure V.2 shows the difference between the standard dwelling and the under roof dwelling. During the cold season, the under roof floor shows results slightly better than the standard floor. However, during the warm season, the situation is opposite, especially if the hours of overheating are analysed. This situation is due to the fact that the roof of the building already has insulation: during the cold season the under roof floor is protected from the cold and the solar radiation has a beneficial effect for this floor; Nevertheless, during the summer the insulation and the solar radiation play a negative role for the under roof floor, increasing the thermal discomfort and the hours of overheating in the under roof floor.



Figure V.2 Comparison between the standard floor and the under roof floor. Top-left: cold season discomfort. Top-right: warm season discomfort. Bottom: hours of overheating.

V.1.2 Passive measure selection

The objective of the passive measure evaluation is to have information to choose the appropriate combination of passive measures, following comfort and economic criteria. Figure V.3, Table V.1 and Table V.2 represent the passive measures selected, which tries to find equilibrium between the different criteria: a) To select the measures that achieve a comfort improvement with the minimum investment cost; b) to reduce the hours of overheating above the threshold comfort (this situation avoids the cooling system, because there are not overheating problems in the household); c) to reduce the cold thermal discomfort (the heating demand is the large demand of dwellings, for that reason, if the combination of measures achieves to reduce the cold thermal comfort, then the heating demand will be lower).



Figure V.3 Passive measure selection, following comfort and economic criteria for Barcelona climate. Left: With natural ventilation. Right: without natural ventilation.

Passive	Façade	Roof	Window	Solar	Annual	Cold	Warm	Over-
	(M/m^2k)	(M/m^2k)	(M/m^2k)	Prot.	LDP	LDP	LDP	heating
(U-value)	(W/m-K)	(W/m-K)	(W/III-K) /(%/100)		0/-	0/-	0/-	Hours
/(g-value)			/(%/100)		-70	70	70	TIOUIS
BC	Base case	Base case	Base case	Internal	32.7	54 7	8 9	45
DC	(0.625)	(0.546)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	52.7	54.7	0.5	75
2	Base case	Base case	Base case	Awning	22.2	547	0 0	41
Z	(0.625)	(0.546)	(5.7)/(0.85)	Awning	52.7	54.7	0.0	41
1201	INT-RW 6	Base case	Base case	Internal	20.6	E1 0	0.2	40
1301	(0.339)	(0.546)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	30.0	51.2	0.2	40
1477	INT-RW 8	INT-RW 8	Base case	Internal	20.6	40 E	0 1	E 1
1477	(0.294)	(0.275)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	29.0	49.5	0.1	51
1447	INT-RW 8	EXT-EPS 8	Base case	Internal	20.2	40.2	7.0	26
1447	(0.294)	(0.259)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	29.5	49.2	7.9	30
1401	INT-RW 8	INT-RW 8	4/16/4PVC	Internal	26.7	44.2	76	60
1401	(0.294)	(0.275)	(2.8)/(0.75)	blinds	20.7	44.3	7.0	02
196	EXT-EPS 8	Base case	4/16/4PVC	Awning	26.6	44.4	7 2	20
190	(0.273)	(0.546)	(2.8)/(0.75)	Awning	20.0	44.4	7.5	29

Table V.1 Passive measure selection, following comfort and economic criteria for Barcelona climate with natural ventilation

LDP <20% represent comfortable conditions. OH < 41 hours represent comfortable conditions in C2 climate

Table V.2 Passive measure selection,	following comfort and eco	onomic criteria foi	r Barcelona	climate	without
	natural ventilation	1			

Passive	Façade	Roof	Window	Solar	Annual	Cold	Warm	Over-
				Prot.	LDP	LDP	LDP	heating
(U-value)	(W/m²K)	(W/m²K)	(W/m ² K)					
/(g-value)			/(%/100)		%	%	%	Hours
BC	Base case	Base case	Base case	Internal	22.1	547	0.0	120
BC	(0.625)	(0.546)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	55.1	54.7	9.0	120
1201	INT-RW 6	Base case	Base case	Internal	21.2	51.2	0.7	202
1301	(0.339)	(0.546)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	51.5	51.2	9.7	202
1477	INT-RW 8	INT-RW 8	Base case	Internal	20.2	40 E	0.4	100
1477	(0.294)	(0.275)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	30.2	49.5	9.4	102
1447	INT-RW 8	EXT-EPS 8	Base case	Internal	20.0	40.2	0.1	100
1447	(0.294)	(0.259)	(5.7)/(0.85)	blinds	29.9	49.2	9.1	109
1401	INT-RW 8	INT-RW 8	4/16/4PVC	Internal	27.0	44.2	10.1	200
1401	(0.294)	(0.275)	(2.8)/(0.75)	blinds	27.9	44.3	10.1	390
1450	INT-RW 8	EXT-EPS10	4/16/4PVC	Awning	27.0	42 E	0.2	217
1438	(0.294)	(0.229)	(2.8)/(0.75)	Awning	27.0	43.5	9.2	217

LDP <20% represent comfortable conditions. OH < 41 hours represent comfortable conditions in C2 climate

V.1.3 Effect of natural ventilation

The natural ventilation has been analysed with special attention. For that reason, the simulation has been done with two configurations: with natural ventilation and without natural ventilation. In this section the difference between the results are analysed, comparing their corresponding comfort indices.

Figure V.4 compares the results of the two sets of simulations for the mean dwelling. The graphs of the top represent the annual discomfort and it is possible to observe that the simulations with natural ventilation are able to achieve better comfort conditions (24% in front of 25%). If the analysis is focused on the hours of overheating (colour scale), the difference is more important between both configurations: the hours of overheating increase pronouncedly in the simulation without natural ventilation, having uncomfortable conditions in all the cases (> 150 hours of overheating). On the contrary, in the simulation with natural ventilation there are some measures that reach comfortable conditions (<41 hours of overheating), as in the previous section has been shown.

The bottom graphs of the Figure V.4 represent the relation between the cold season discomfort and the warm season discomfort. The difference between both sets of simulations is very evident. In the case of natural ventilation, the measures follow a linear behaviour, especially in the cold season discomfort: as the cold season comfort improves, the warm season comfort also is improved. However, in the simulations without natural ventilation, there is a significant group of measures where the comfort index in the cold season is improved, but the warm season comfort gets worse. This pattern is also reflected with the hours of overheating.



Figure V.4 Comparison of the simulation with natural ventilation (left) and without natural ventilation (right). Top graphs: annual discomfort index; Bottom graphs: cold season comfort vs. warm season comfort. Colour scale: hours of overheating.

To complete the comparison between the simulation with and without natural ventilation, the results of the standard floor and under roof floor are analysed. Figure V.5 shows how the difference of the warm season index between floors is higher than the simulation with natural ventilation (Figure V.2). Most of the measures present problems of overheating in both floors; however, in the standard floor the situation is slightly better.



Figure V.5 Comparison between the standard floor (right) and the under roof floor (left) in the simulation without natural ventilation

V.1.4 Effect of measures

After the overview of the results, it is interesting to analyse the effect of the different measures. The results of the under roof floor are analysed because this floor has the worst behaviour during the warm season. All the graphs of the Figure V.6 represent the results of all the simulations having difference colour scales, which represents the type of façade, roof, window or solar protection that is simulated in each case. The graphs show the effect of the different measures in relation with the discomfort during the cold season (y-axis) and the hours of overheating (x-axis). Analysing all the graphs together, it is possible to differentiate three groups: base case of windows (top), internal insulation in the roof (left) and external insulation of the roof (right).



Figure V.6 Results of the simulation of the under roof floor in Barcelona (C2) with natural ventilation: comparison of the effect of the measures in relation to the cold season discomfort (y-axis) and the hours of overheating (x-axis), emphasising: type of facade (top left and right), type of roof (middle left and right), type of window (bottom-left) and type of solar protection (bottom-right)

Focusing on the effect on the types of façade, the increase of insulation provides always an improvement of the cold comfort, being the best option the external insulation with higher thickness (achieving a discomfort of 39% in combination with other measures). For the summer season, there are not clear patterns and the behaviour of the insulation depends on its combination with the other measures (from 29 to 64 hours of overheating).

The comfort during the summer season (hours of overheating) has a high repercussion depending on the type of roof insulation. The external insulation gives better results than the internal insulation, reducing the hours of overheating in most of the cases (< 41 hour of overheating). For the cold season comfort, the behaviour of the different types of roof insulation is similar, being slightly better the external insulation (39% in front of 40%). As to the thickness of the insulation, greater thickness provides better comfort during the cold season. However, the situation is opposite for the summer season.

The change of the windows has a direct improvement over the cold season comfort (from 44% to 39%); but, for the hours of overheating the effect is not significant. The difference between the aluminium with thermal break and the PVC framework are very small.

Finally, the effect of the solar protection has been reflected only in the overheating hours, giving better results the optimal use of the awnings.

V.1.5 Climate comparison

As Figure V.7 and Table V.3 shown, the climate B3 is a bit hotter than the climate C2. The season periods of the discomfort index are different in both climates, being the warm season longer for the B3. The idea of this section is to analyse which is the effect of the different climates and also the definition of the season periods for the discomfort index calculations.



Figure V.7 Climate comparison and season length of C2 (Barcelona) and B3 (Tarragona).

Temperature (°C)	Barcelona (C2)	Tarragona (B3)
Average	16.3	17.4
Minimum average	5.7	5.8
Maximum average	27.9	30.3

Table V.3 Climate characteristics

Figure V.8 shows the comparison between the results of both climates, in term of annual and seasonal discomfort. If the analysis is focused on the top graphs, the results are coherent with the differences between climates: the annual discomfort is lower for the hottest climate (29% in front 33% in the base case) and the hours of overheating are higher also for the hottest one (57 in front of 45 hours of overheating in the base case).

On the contrary, the graphs of the cold season (Figure V.8 top-right) represent the opposite behaviour: climate C2 has lower discomfort than the B3 (55% and 58%). The reason of this situation is the difference between the lengths of the cold period. The period of the cold discomfort index in the B3 climate goes on during the 5 months and finishes at the end of March. However, in the C2 climate the end of the cold season is at mid-May and its length is 6.5 months, which includes 1.5 months of intermediate season. Then, the comfort index tends to improve in the climate where the cold period is longer. Despite this situation, the results show how the difference between climates is lower for the expensive measures.



Figure V.8 Comparison between the results of the simulation in both climates (B3 and C2). Top-left: annual discomfort. Top-right: hours of overheating. Bottom-left: cold season discomfort. Bottom-right: warm season discomfort.

V.1.6 Conclusions: passive measure evaluation

This section presents a detailed method to optimize the energy renovation of residential buildings. The method introduces an innovative approach based on passive measure evaluation, which uses two criteria to choose the appropriate energy efficiency measures: thermal comfort and initial investment cost.

The passive measure evaluation has the objective to reduce as much as possible the discomfort conditions with the minimum cost of passive measures. If the comfort is improved by passive measures, then the energy demand will be lower. The results show that in most cases, the results of the annual and the cold comfort season are opposite to the warm season indices. For that, equilibrium between the different criteria must be found to select the measure: the improvement of the cold season comfort is more noticeable than the warm season comfort; however, the hours of overheating can be reduced below the comfort threshold for some combination of measures.

Focusing on the effect of the different passive measures, in general all the measures produce an improvement in the cold season comfort (from 55% to 39%), being better the external insulation of the façade and the external insulation of the roof (12cm and 8cm respectively). However, the costs of both measures are more expensive in comparison with the internal or air chamber insulation. The effect of the window change has a significant reduction of the discomfort during the cold season (from 44% to 39%), although the investment cost is high. Even though the cold season discomfort is improved significantly, the mechanical system is needed to provide comfortable conditions to the occupants.

In the warm season, the behaviour of the measures is not always positive, especially if the hours of overheating are analysed. The internal roof insulation causes an increase of the hours of overheating, making more noticeable with the highest thickness of insulation (from 45 to 64 hours of overheating). The results have shown that for some combination of passive measures the cooling system can be avoided, guaranteeing comfortable conditions during the warm period (the hours of overheating < 1% of the warm period). Furthermore, the optimal use of the solar protection provides interesting improvements during the warm season, especially when there is no natural ventilation.

In addition, depending on the dwelling floor, the results are also different. The under roof floor reflects some overheating problems during the warm season, as a difference of the standard floor. One of the reasons for this behaviour could be that the current building has insulation in the base case, and then the roof could be over-insulated. Nevertheless, if the natural ventilation is not possible, both floors have significant problems of overheating (more than 150 hours of overheating). The comparison between the simulation with and without natural ventilation

shows how an appropriate use and design of passive strategies could provide comfortable conditions without the need of mechanical systems.

Finally, in the climate comparison is possible to see that the definition of the season periods has a direct consequence in the discomfort index. For that reason it is very important to analyse the results keeping in mind all the hypothesis and boundary conditions. In addition, the results show how the same building located in different climates and environments could have a great variety of responses, especially due to the possibility of natural ventilation.

V.2 Active measure evaluation

The results of the cost-effective analysis are described in the following section. The objective of the analysis is to obtain the optimal measures that provide the lowest primary energy consumption with the lowest global cost. For the evaluation, a set of passive and active measures is considered in order to analyse which combinations of them are the most appropriate in different situations: two climates and dwelling with and without natural ventilation. A general view of the results is done in the first part of this section, followed by the evaluation of the impact of the measure and a comparison between climates and natural ventilation effect.

V.2.1 Main results: cost-effective energy efficiency measures

This first analysis is focused on the building located in Barcelona climate with natural ventilation. The figures represent a mean dwelling results, which have been calculated as the weighted average between the results of the standard dwelling and the results of the under roof dwelling. Figure V.9 shows the results obtained in terms of annual primary energy consumption (x-axis) and global costs over 30 years (y-axis). In addition, the left graph represents the total energy labelling scale as a background of the graph which assigns a labelling to each combination of measures. Each dot on the graph represents the results of one simulation. BC represents the base case (the building without any measure); CO the cost optimal measure; and DR the deep renovation scenario, which provides the maximum energy saving with the lowest global cost. The right graph of the figure represents the global cost distribution of the measures of the Pareto frontier. The global costs are divided in energy cost, investment cost, replacement cost and maintenance costs. The x-label represents the code of the measures implemented in each scenario (passive-active), which are described in Table V.1, Table V.2 and Table V.4.

The graphs show that the BC has an E label (198 kWh/m²·yr) with a global cost of $453 \notin m^2$. Since the building and their systems improve their performance, the primary energy consumption decreases, achieving an A-label. Relative to the global cost, most of the measures imply an increasing of the global cost; however, there are sets of combinations that reduce this cost below the BC (the points below the horizontal line of the left graph). The cost-optimal measure is able to decrease the energy consumption until to a B-label (123 kWh/m²·yr) and the global cost until $355 \notin /m^2$, implying a reduction of the 38% and 22% respectively. For the DR measure, the energy reduction is about 59% and the global cost increases by 18% (98 kWh/m²·yr and 535 \notin /m^2). Analysing the distribution of the global costs, it is possible to observe that the investment costs increase as long as the energy performance is increased and the energy cost is reduced. The energy costs can be reduced by 42% comparing the DR respect the BC scenario.



Figure V.9 Cost-energy evaluation: primary energy consumption vs. global cost over 30 years (colour background: energy label scale of Total consumption of dwelling). Building located in Barcelona (C2) with natural ventilation. Right: Energy efficiency measures of the Pareto frontier, detailing the global cost distribution: energy cost, investment cost, replacement cost and maintenance cost. Passive measure description in Table V.1 and active measure in Table V.4.

Figure V.10 complements the information of the Pareto frontier measures, giving details about the distribution of the energy demand (left) and the final energy consumption (right). The general trend of the measures is to reduce mainly the heating demand, making the appliance demand more significant over the whole need of the household. The energy demand distribution shows that the energy demand does not follow a linear pattern. That is, the measures with lower primary energy consumption do not always imply a lower energy demand. This fact is reflected in several cases of the Pareto frontier and the main reason for this behaviour is the type of measure implemented. For example, the measure 2-81 and the measure 1381-68 have similar primary energy consumption, being slightly lower the first one (Figure V.9); however, their energy demand is quite different presenting an opposite behaviour. The first combination

of measures (2-81) is composed mainly by the active system improvement (condensing boiler) with small intervention on the solar protection strategy, then the refurbishment improves the efficiency of the systems without reducing the demand of the building. On the other hand, the measure 1381-68 adds insulation to the façade reducing the heating demand, and then improves the lighting system and reduces the electrical consumption through the awareness campaign. This is a clear example of how completely different strategies of actuation provide similar levels of primary energy consumption.



Figure V.10 Energy efficiency measures of the Pareto frontier for the Barcelona climate with natural ventilation. Left: Distribution of the energy demand: heating, cooling, DHW, lighting and appliances. Right: Distribution of the final energy use: electricity, natural gas, biomass, solar PV and solar thermal. Passive measure description in Table V.1 and active measure in Table V.4.

The right graph of the Figure V.10 represents the distribution of the energy consumption in terms of final energy. The main consumption of energy comes from natural gas. There is a quantitative leap on the natural gas consumption after the measure 1381-68 and represents the change of the heating system to condensing boiler. The effects over the electricity consumption are low and the main reason is that there are not specific measures to improve the efficiency of the appliances, which are the main responsible of this consumption. The left-side measures incorporate some renewable energy; however, their contribution is small in terms of final energy. In particular, the solar thermal contribution represents around the 60% of the DHW demand, as the Spanish Building regulation requires.

Table V.4 Description of the energy efficiency measures of the Pareto frontier for each climate (B3 and C2) and the use of natural ventilation (YES or NO).

Code	Heating + DHW system	Cooling system	PV system	Lig. system	Awar. campaign	Natural ventilation
0	Conventional NG boiler	Conventional AC	NO	CFL	NO	YES & NO
2	Conventional NG boiler	Conventional AC	NO	CFL	YES	NO
3	Conventional NG boiler	Conventional AC	NO	LED	NO	YES & NO
4	Conventional NG boiler	Conventional AC	NO	LED	YES	NO
9	Conventional NG boiler	Efficient AC	NO	CFL	NO	NO
10	Conventional NG boiler	Efficient AC	NO	CFL	YES	NO
11	Conventional NG boiler	Efficient AC	NO	LED	NO	NO
12	Conventional NG boiler	Efficient AC	NO	LED	YES	NO
25	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	Efficient AC	NO	CFL	NO	NO
26	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	Efficient AC	NO	CFL	YES	NO
27	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	Efficient AC	NO	LED	NO	NO
28	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	Efficient AC	NO	LED	YES	NO
32	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	Efficient AC	YES	LED	YES	NO
48	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation Solar thermal system	Efficient AC	YES	LED	YES	NO
65	Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	CFL	NO	YES
66	Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	CFL	YES	YES
67	Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	LED	NO	YES
68	Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	LED	YES	YES
81	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	NO	NO	CFL	NO	YES
82	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	NO	NO	CFL	YES	YES
83	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	NO	NO	LED	NO	YES
84	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	NO	NO	LED	YES	YES
88	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation	NO	YES	LED	YES	YES
96	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency installation Solar thermal system	NO	YES	LED	YES	YES

V.2.1.1 Standard dwelling vs. under roof dwelling

Figure V.11 shows the differences between the cost-effective analysis for the two types of dwellings: standard and under roof, left and right respectively. The comparison helps to observe that the base case of the under roof dwelling (BC-UD) has a higher primary energy consumption than the standard dwelling (BC-SD). This effect has a direct repercussion on the global cost, which follows the same trend. This difference is quite important representing an increase of 7% of primary energy and 4% of global costs due to the higher heating and cooling demand, and consequently the higher energy costs. However, that difference is reduced as long as the building performance is improved, decreasing the difference between both dwelling up to 4% and 3% in terms of primary energy and global costs respectively. In both cases, the starting point is an E-label, achieving a B-label with cost-optimal measures and A-label with the deep renovation.

There is an additional difference between both dwellings, in the case of the under roof dwelling there are more combinations of measures that are below the global cost of the BC, in comparison with the standard dwelling. One of the reason could be that the effect of some passive measures, as the roof insulation, has a potential impact over the under roof dwelling, reducing more the energy demand. The worst starting point of the under roof dwelling (higher global costs and primary energy consumption) provides more potential of improvement, there being more cost effective measures in comparison with the standard floor (there are more measures under the horizontal line).



Figure V.11 Comparison of the cost effective evaluation between a standard household and an under roof household

V.2.1 Effect of measures

In this section, the impact of the different measures is evaluated. Figure V.12 represents the cost effective evaluation for a dwelling with natural ventilation located in Barcelona, where the Pareto frontier of the different measures are highlighted in each graph: passive measures (a), heating and DHW system (b), cooling system (c), lighting system (d), integration of PV system (e) and implementation of awareness campaigns (f).

Starting with the effect of the passive measures (a), different patterns can be distinguished in the results depending on the investment cost of the measure and the possibility to avoid the cooling system thanks to the reduction of the hours of discomfort below the discomfort levels. The passive measure 2, which supposes an improvement on the solar protection strategy, has a small impact over the primary energy consumption; however, the improvement of the solar protection strategy reduces the risk of overheating and makes possible to remove the cooling system, and then to save the expenses of the cooling consumption, replacement and maintenance of the equipment. A similar situation shows the measure 1381 and 1447, but in this case the passive measure has a significant impact on the energy demand due to the implementation of insulation on the façade. These measures (1381 and 1447) are able to achieve an A-label in combination with several active measures. The measure 2 and 1381 are the measures that, in combination with the active ones, provide more cost effective solutions. On the other hand, the measures 1481 and 186 are the measures with the highest energy impact; however, their global costs increase in most of the cases over the base case scenario. Finally, the measure 1477, which has a good impact over the energy consumption and at the same time has an acceptable investment cost (4,600 \in /dw), is penalized due to the need to have air conditioning in the dwelling in order to guarantee comfortable condition. For that reason, the results of this measure are in general trends worse than others. The results are very sensitive to the overheating threshold that has been established with a direct consequence over the costs. The overheating index and its threshold is a current research topic where there is an interesting discussion about which must be the criteria to establish overheating conditions.

Regarding the heating and DHW system, Figure V.12-b represents four different areas according to the different possibilities. The solar thermal system implies a slight higher global cost in comparison with the BC, although reduces the primary energy consumption (7%), providing some cost effective combination of measures. The effect of the condensing boiler is considerable in both aspects: energy reduction and global cost savings (26% and 9%). The condensing boiler represents the most cost effective solution. Finally, the combination of the condensing boiler with the solar thermal system decreases the primary energy consumption achieving the lower values of consumption.



Figure V.12 Cost effective evaluation of the mean dwelling in Barcelona (C2) with natural ventilation: comparison of the effect of the measures regarding the primary energy consumption (x-axis) and the global cost (y-axis), emphasising: type of passive measure (a), type of heating and DHW system (b), type of cooling system (c), type of lighting system (d), integration of PV system (e) and implementation of awareness campaign (f)

Analysing the effect of the cooling system (Figure V.12-c), there is a clear difference between the two strategies: it reduce the risk of overheating with passive measures and, the use of the cooling system to guarantee comfortable condition in the warm period. As the passive measure analysis has shown, the solutions that avoid the cooling system are more cost effective than the ones that need the active system. Comparing the dwelling with the base case and the measures with the efficient cooling system, the difference between them is small, mainly due to lower cooling demand.

The effect of lighting system (Figure V.12-d) improvement is not significant in global terms, reducing only 1% the primary energy consumption of the dwelling. The main reason is that the energy consumption related to the lighting is smaller than other energy uses, representing only 3% of the primary energy consumption. However, the impact of the LED system is positive, providing savings without an increase of the global cost.

The implementation of the PV system (Figure V.12-e) reduces the primary energy consumption, however, the system that has been proposed does not generate enough energy (covers only the 8% of the electric consumption of the dwelling) to cover the expenses (investment, replacement and maintenance costs). A better sizing of the system is needed in order to be a cost optimal solution. Nevertheless, the PV system, in combination with the passive measures that remove the cooling system, provides cost effective solutions. From another point of view, if the objective is to achieve an A-label or better, the use of the PV system, as well as the solar thermal system, is needed in most of the cases.

Finally, the implementation of the awareness campaign has a positive effect reducing the primary energy consumption by 6% in comparison with the BC (Figure V.12-f).

V.2.2 Climate comparison and the effect of natural ventilation

To finalize the analysis of the results, two different situations are compared: two climates and the possibility to use natural ventilation or not. Figure V.7 and Table V.3 summarize the main characteristics of the climates, showing that both are very similar, being a little bit warmer the Tarragona climate. This fact is reflected in the results, where the differences are also small.

Figure V.13 makes the comparison: the left graph shows the Barcelona results and the right graph the Tarragona's ones. As it has been introduced before, the differences between climates are very small; however, it is noticed that the total energy label scale of the Tarragona climate is more demanding in comparison with the Barcelona climate. Comparing the results of the same dwelling located in similar climate, it is possible to observe that their behaviour in terms of energy consumption and energy requirements are different; although in relative figures the results are practically the same, as Table V.5 shows.



Figure V.13 Cost effective evaluation. Comparison between climates and the dwelling with or without natural ventilation (VENT and nVENT, respectively). Left: Barcelona climate (C2). Right: Tarragona climate (B3)

However, the effect of the natural ventilation is decisive on the results, in terms of energy consumption and also in global costs. In both cases, with natural ventilation (VENT) and without natural ventilation (nVENT), the BC corresponds with an E-label; but in BC-VENT the dwelling is near the boundary D-E, while in BC-nVENT is near the boundary E-F, implying a 33% more in primary energy consumption and 21% in global costs. These BC differences make the dwelling with natural ventilation achieve a B-label for the cost optimal measure and a A-label for the deep renovation, in comparison with the D-label and B-label achieved by the dwelling without natural ventilation. Also the global costs are higher, mainly due to the cooling consumption and the costs related to the cooling system; because in this case the hours of overheating are higher and the cooling system is needed to achieve comfortable conditions, as a difference of most of the cases of the dwelling with natural ventilation (as described in the previous sections).

Table V.5 summarizes the results of this comparison, where it is possible to visualize easily the main differences. The CO measures achieve an improvement of 3-labels in the dwelling with natural ventilation and only 1-label when there is no natural ventilation. For the DR strategy, improves 4-labels and 3-labels, respectively. In addition, it is possible to notice that the CO and DR measures from Barcelona are the same than the ones from Tarragona, being only slight differences on the percentage of energy savings and CO₂ emission reductions. Moreover, if the analysis is focus on which measures are included in both cases, it is possible to observe that the

CO-nVENT does not implement an improvement of the envelope, as a difference of the CO-VENT. The reason of that is that in the case of nVENT, the passive measures do not improve the thermal comfort above the thresholds, as Table V.2 shows, and consequently there is not the option to avoid the cooling system. This fact makes that in the case of nVENT the passive measures are not cost optimal option. However, it is important to remark, that the passive measures are cost effective measures, reducing the global cost of the BC-nVENT.

EE mea	asure	Climate	Natural vent.	Energy Label	Label Improve BC	Primary Energy (Savings)	CO ₂ reduction	Initi Invest	ial ment
Passive/	Active					kWh/yr∙dw (%)	%	€/dw	€/m²
	0/0	C2	VENT	Е	-	20,501	-	-	-
Base case	0/0	C2	nVENT	Е	-	27,315	-	-	-
(BC)	0/0	B3	VENT	Е	-	19,375	-	-	-
	0/0	B3	nVENT	Е	-	26,200	-	-	-
	1381/84	C2	VENT	В	3	12,677 (38)	45	6,307	61
Cost	0/28	C2	nVENT	D	1	16,715 (39)	42	4,953	48
(CO)	1381/84	B3	VENT	В	3	11,855 (39)	44	6,307	61
	0/28	B3	nVENT	D	1	16,067 (39)	39	4,953	48
	186/96	C2	VENT	А	4	10,134 (51)	59	24,477	237
Deep	1468/48	C2	nVENT	В	3	13,084 (52)	58	25,210	244
(DR)	186/96	B3	VENT	А	4	9,482 (51)	59	24,477	237
	1468/48	B3	nVENT	В	3	12,633 (52)	58	25,210	244

Table V.5 Summary of the impact of the cost optimal and deep renovation scenarios for the dwelling located in two climates (Barcelona (C2) and Tarragona (B3)) and with or without natural ventilation (VENT and nVENT, respectively).

Finally, Figure V.14 compares the energy demand distribution for the different scenarios. In this case, the difference between climates is more obvious due to the higher cooling demand in Tarragona (B3) climate. This fact is also visible in the dwelling without natural ventilation, where the cooling demand achieves values of 7% and 11%, in Barcelona and Tarragona. Analysing the BC, the higher energy demand is the heating followed by the appliance demand. The DHW represents around 14% of the energy demand of the dwelling and the lighting only around the 3%. While the building improves their performance, the heating demand tends to be lower to the point that the appliance demand becomes the most important energy demand of the dwelling. This fact is more significant in Tarragona climate where the heating demand is smaller. These results remark the need to include the appliances consumption in the cost-

optimal studies and refurbishment analysis, in order to start to implement measures to reduce them.



Figure V.14 Comparison in terms of energy demand, between climates (Barcelona (C2) and Tarragona (B3)) and the dwelling with or without natural ventilation (VENT and nVENT, respectively).

V.2.3 Conclusions: active measure evaluation

The section presents a cost-optimal analysis to evaluate energy efficiency measures for a residential building in Catalonia, considering three main criteria: thermal comfort, primary energy use and global costs. The method is divided in two stages: passive evaluation, where the passive measures are evaluated from the point of view of the thermal comfort and the initial investment cost; and the active evaluation, where all the energy efficiency measures are analysed using the global cost and the primary energy consumption.

There have not been found significant differences between the two climates analysed in the study. However, the natural ventilation represents an important impact in the results. It could conclude that in dwellings where natural ventilation is possible, the cost optimal measures can achieve a B-label, improving 3-labels in comparison with the base case. The cost-optimal measure reduces around 40% of the primary energy consumption and 22% of the global costs. If the dwelling does not have natural ventilation then, the situation is worse. The base case is

also an E-label, however the cost-optimal measure achieves only a D-label with around 40% of energy saving and 17% of economic savings. The main difference between both cases is that in the dwelling with natural ventilation, the cooling system can be avoided for most of the combination of measures, thanks to the positive effect of passive measures, which reduce the overheating hours below the discomfort level. On the contrary, the dwellings without natural ventilation include the cooling consumption and the costs related to the cooling system providing an increase in the primary energy consumption as well as in the global costs.

The Deep Renovation scenario has been also evaluated, where the measures with high energy saving are analysed. In this case, the dwellings with natural ventilation reach an A-label in comparison with the dwellings without natural ventilation that achieve a B-label. In those cases, the passive and active measures are also combined with renewable energy systems.

In addition, a comparison between the under roof dwelling and the standard dwelling has been carried out. The results show that the under roof dwellings have a higher primary energy consumption and global costs than the standard dwelling. However, this situation provides to the under roof dwelling a higher potential of improvement as well as more combination of cost effective measures.

From a general point of view, there are many strategies that can be implemented in order to reduce the energy consumption. However, if the objective is to implement cost effective measures, only some options are appropriate:

- Implementation of passive strategies to reduce the heating demand and provide comfortable conditions for the warm period without the use of cooling systems, when it is possible. This situation makes possible to avoid the cooling system and save its related costs (cooling consumption, investment, replacement and maintenance costs). However, further research related with the overheating indices and their thresholds is needed, in order to obtain robust criteria to take decisions. In addition, the implementation of passive solutions reduces the heating demand, which has an impact over one of the highest energy uses of the dwelling.
- To improve the heating system, using efficient technologies on the market (condensing boiler, in this case). As it has been said before, the heating consumption is one of the most important of the dwelling, and it is important the use of efficient systems to reduce it.
- To improve the lighting system with LED technologies. The lighting consumption represents a low fraction of the total energy consumption of the household. However, the implementation of LED systems in the dwelling provides a positive impact in both, energy and global cost savings.

- The development of awareness campaigns has a high potential to reduce the energy consumption. The awareness campaign represents the most effective measure, in terms of energy savings by euro invested.
- To achieve A-labels, the integration of renewable systems is required (PV and solar thermal system, in this case). However, the integration of renewable energy systems must be analysed deeply in the framework of this study, testing different designs and sizing of the system in order to explore their optimality.

Finally, the results show that it is important to take in consideration the lighting and appliance consumption, since these energy uses become more and more important as long as the performance of the building and its systems improve. In the case of the deep renovation, the appliance consumption becomes the greatest energy use of the dwelling.

V.3 General results

Figure V.15 represents the dwelling stock distribution around Catalonia. The left maps represent the climate of each municipality, according to the Spanish Building Regulation classification of 2006 [4], which has been used to select the climates and building typologies. The right maps represent the number of dwellings for each municipality and the building typology distribution for each province. Finally, the first two maps (top) show all municipalities and dwellings and the bottom maps the municipalities selected for the study by climate criterion (left) and by building typology and climate criteria (right) (Table V.6).

Analysing the climate distribution, the colder climates (E1 and D1) are located on the mountain areas (Pyrenees, Pre-Pyrenees and Prelitoral mountain range), the warmer and moderate climates (C1, C2 and B3) on the coastal areas and the extreme climates in the continental zone (D2 and D3). As to the dwelling distribution, it is so clear that most of the dwellings are concentrated in the Barcelona province (76%), in particular in the Metropolitan Area and in the coast municipalities. Relative to the building typology distribution, Barcelona has around the 50% of the dwellings of the BT-6 (block of apartments built in 1950-1980), followed by the BT-5 (constructed before 1950, 17%). The typology distribution of Tarragona and Girona is quite similar, as well as the number of dwellings (around 9% of the total dwellings followed by the other typologies with a similar distribution (between 5-10% each one). Finally, Lleida province is the one with lower fraction of dwellings (6%). Lleida has also the BT-6 as a main building typology with around 33%; however, in this province the single family houses built before 1950 (BT-1) represent an important fraction of dwellings (16%).

	BT-5	BT-6	BT-8	BT-4
C2	х	х	х	х
B3			х	Х
E1	х	х		
D3		х		

Table V.6 Building typology and climates selections

The total dwelling stock represents around 2.3 M of dwellings, and the dwellings included in the study are 1.5 M of dwellings. The selection of building typologies (Table V.6) shows that Barcelona, Girona and Tarragona provinces include all the typologies; however, the Lleida province does not have C2 and B3 climates, and then the BT-8 and BT-4 are not analysed in this region of Catalonia.



Figure V.15 Building stock distribution in Catalonia. Top-left: Climate characterization according to the Spanish Building Regulation (Código Técnico de la Edificación, 2006 [4]). Top-right: Number of dwellings for each municipality and typology distribution for each province. Bottom-left: Selection of municipalities according to the climate criterion (grey represents not selected municipalities). Bottom-right: Number of dwellings of the final selection of municipalities according to climate and building typology criteria.
V.3.1 Typology results

The main results and conclusions of the whole study are explained in the following section. Around 30,000 simulations have been carried out to accomplish the two step evaluation for all building typologies and climates, which are detailed in Table V.7. The co-simulation configuration and the main computational resources are described in [5, 6].

N° of simulations	BT-4	BT-5	BT-6	BT-8
Passive evaluation	3,000	2,142	10,500	6,000
Active evaluation	4,320	840	2,528	2,048

Table V.7 Number of simulation done for each building typology

In order to present all the results, it has been designed a group of factsheet to synthetize all the information. The summary is attached as Annex II OptiHab and is organized in the following structure: 1) Introduction and summary of the methodology; 2) Results and conclusions by typologies; 3) Comparison of typologies; 4) Conclusions. Below it is described the structure and the information included in the factsheet of typology results. As example, the BT-6 simulated for the C2 climate with natural ventilation is presented (Figure V.16).



Figure V.16 Example of the factsheet of results. Building typology BT-6 in climate C2 without natural ventilation.

The factsheet is divided in three areas of information. The first one, on the top-left of the page, includes general information about the building typology: main characteristics, drawings and information about the simulation (climate and natural ventilation configuration). Below the general information of the typology, there is the area of passive evaluation results. Figure V.17 shows the passive analysis, where the left graph represents the annual discomfort index and the initial investment cost for each combination of passive measures. This information is complemented with the right graph, where the warm season discomfort index and the cold season discomfort index are plotted, including the overheating hours as a colour scale. The table includes the details of the energy efficiency measures that have been selected for the second step of the process.



Figure V.17 Information about passive evaluation results included in the factsheet. Example BT-6 in C2 climate with natural ventilation

Figure V.18 shows the information included in the active measure evaluation. There are four graphs that provide detailed information about the energy consumption of the packages of measures. The first graph (top-left) shows the results obtained in terms of annual primary energy consumption (x-axis) and global costs over 30 years (y-axis). In addition, the total energy labelling scale is introduced as a background of the graph. Each dot of the graph represents the results of one simulation, highlighting three points: BC represents the base case; CO, the cost optimal measure; and DR, the deep renovation scenario, which provides the maximum energy saving with the lowest global cost. The top-right graph represents the global cost, investment cost, replacement cost and maintenance costs. The x-label represents the code of the measures implemented in each scenario (passive-active). The bottom graphs complement the information giving details about the distribution of the energy demand (left) and the final energy consumption (right). Finally, there is a table with the main information about the BC, CO and DR scenarios.



Figure V.18 Information about active evaluation results included in the factsheet. Example BT-6 in C2 climate with natural ventilation

This factsheet is available for each typology, climate and natural ventilation configuration, followed by a summary and conclusion per typology (Figure V.19). After analysing typology by typology, there is a factsheet comparing all of them, by typology and climate (Figure V.21 and Figure V.21).



Figure V.19 Building typology concluding remarks. Example of BT-6

The last section of the Annex II OptiHab is the general conclusion of the analysis, which is included in the following section as main conclusions of the whole study. The conclusions provide a general view of the study including a qualitative description of the main outcomes. The detailed results have been presented in the concluding remarks of each building typology.

DETAILED ENERGY AND COMFORT SIMULATION OF INTEGRAL REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING BUILDINGS IN CATALONIA

				BC				CO		
Tipology	Dwelling area	Climate	Natual ventilation	Energy Label	Energy Label	Label Improve	Primary Energy Savings	CO ₂ emissions reduction	Initial Investment	Initial Investment
	m2						%	%	€/dw	€/m ²
		C2	Yes	E	В	3	38	43	5 051	83
BT-5	60.5	C2	No	E	С	2	42	47	6 430	106
		E1	Yes	E	В	3	45	49	5 051	83
		C2	Yes	E	С	2	42	47	4 594	58
		C2	No	F	D	2	47	50	5 973	76
		E1	Yes	E	В	3	50	55	5 441	69
BT-6	78.8	B3	Yes	E	С	2	40	44	4 594	58
		B3	No	G	D	3	47	49	5 973	76
		D3	Yes	E	С	2	45	50	4 594	58
		D3	No	F	D	2	49	52	5 973	76
		C2	Yes	E	В	3	38	45	6 307	61
DT O	102.2	C2	No	E	D	1	39	42	4 953	48
DITO	105.2	B3	Yes	E	В	3	39	44	6 307	61
		B3	No	E	D	1	39	39	4 953	48
		C2	Yes	D	В	2	39	44	6 741	38
PT 4	175.2	C2	No	E	В	3	49	49	6 741	38
01-4	1/3.5	B3	Yes	D	В	2	40	43	6 741	38
		B3	No	E	В	3	50	50	6 741	38

				BC				DR		
Tipology	Dwelling area	Climate	Natual ventilation	Energy Label	Energy Label	Label Improve	Primary Energy Savings	CO ₂ emissions reduction	Initial Investment	Initial Investment
	m2						%	%	€/dw	€/m ²
		C2	Yes	E	А	4	60	67	15 872	262
BT-5	60.5	C2	No	E	А	4	59	64	14 164	234
		E1	Yes	E	А	4	65	69	14 492	240
		C2	Yes	E	А	4	66	70	19 971	253
		C2	No	F	В	4	63	68	19 971	253
		E1	Yes	E	А	4	69	74	18 592	236
BT-6	78.8	B3	Yes	E	А	4	65	70	19 971	253
		B3	No	G	В	5	63	69	19 971	253
		D3	Yes	E	А	4	69	74	19 971	253
		D3	No	F	В	4	66	72	19 971	253
		C2	Yes	E	А	4	51	59	24 477	237
DT O	102.2	C2	No	E	В	3	52	58	25 210	244
D1-0	105.2	B3	Yes	E	А	4	51	59	24 477	237
		B3	No	E	В	3	52	58	25 210	244
		C2	Yes	D	А	3	67	84	38 926	222
PT-4	175.2	C2	No	E	А	4	72	86	38 926	222
01-4	1/3.5	B3	Yes	D	А	3	65	82	38 926	222
		B3	No	E	А	4	71	84	38 926	222

Figure V.20 Building typology comparison by typologies



Figure V.21 Building typology comparison by climates

V.3.1.1 General conclusions

- OptiHab gives detailed information of the current situation of the most representative building typologies and climates which represents around 65% of the building stock of Catalonia.
- Complete process for developing cost-effective studies of energy efficiency measures for building renovation. The method introduces:
 - innovative approaches, as the two-step optimization considering comfort, energy and economic criteria;
 - realistic characterization, with the use of stochastic profiles for the user behaviour and its interaction with the building, and the building parameters related to measurement and survey campaigns;
 - the economic evaluation and the cost-effective analysis follow the European regulation;
 - to prioritize the passive measures rather than the active ones guaranteeing the thermal comfort of the users.

V.3.1.2 Passive measure conclusions

The analysis of the results show that from a general point of view, the building typologies located in temperate climates, as C2 and B3, have an annual discomfort index (LDP) around 30%, in comparison with colder climates that present around 45% of annual discomfort. In relation with the seasonal discomfort index, the temperate climates have around 50% of cold period discomfort and the colder climates around 65%. All the climates achieve the comfort level for the warm period discomfort index; presenting values lower than 15%. However, if the warm period discomfort index is complemented with the hours of overheating, the results vary depending on the building typology, the climate and the natural ventilation configuration. Figure V.22 shows that there is not overheating in any building typology in the coldest climate (E1). Nevertheless, the overheating in the other climates depends on the building typology. The BT-5 and BT-6 have always problems of overheating; the overheating of BT-8 depends on the natural ventilation configuration, and the BT-4 does not present overheating risk.



Figure V.22 Thermal discomfort due to overheating depending on building typology and climate

Then, it is possible to say that the older typologies analysed in the study (BT-5 and BT-6) do not have an appropriate design for the natural ventilation (single side ventilation and /or small courtyards), providing overheating problems. The natural ventilation and the optimal use of the solar protections are effective strategies to reduce the overheating being possible to avoid the cooling system. The optimal use of the solar protection provides better comfort during the warm season, especially when there is no natural ventilation in the household.

After the passive measures implementation, it is possible to improve the levels of thermal comfort, achieving annual discomfort indexes around 20% in temperate climates (C2 and B3) and around 30-40% in cold period discomfort index. In the colder climates (E1 and D3), the annual discomfort index is around 35% and the cold period discomfort index is around 50%. For the overheating point of view, the results depend on the combination of passive measure. There are some combinations of passive measures that reduce below the threshold the hours of overheating, as in the Figure VI.1 has been introduced. This situation makes possible to avoid the cooling system and save its related costs (cooling consumption, investment, replacement and maintenance costs). Focusing on the building typology BT-8 which is the one that is able to reduce the hours of overheating below the threshold depending on the combination of passive measures, the combination that includes internal insulation in the roof makes worst the overheating situation. On the contrary, the façade insulation improves the situation, having more impact the external insulation.

Some particular conclusions related to the passive energy efficiency measures are:

- > The passive measures have an important reduction of the energy demand, especially on the older building typologies (E and G).
- In general, the external insulation in the façade has a better thermal performance; however its initial investment cost is higher.

- The roof insulation has an important benefit on the under roof dwellings improving the thermal comfort during the cold and warm season, especially in the older building typologies (BT-5 and BT-6).
- The improvement of the window performance has a high impact in the annual discomfort (around 5-10% of reduction) and in the energy demand, nevertheless its initial investment cost is high.

V.3.1.3 Cost-effective analysis conclusions

The energy efficiency measures must be adapted according to the building typology. The influence of the climate in the measure selection has been mainly observed in the cooling strategies, where the solar protection and the cooling system improvements are not needed in the coldest climate (E1). Table V.8 and Table V.9 summarize the most appropriated measures obtained by the cost-optimal evaluation. In general, the cost-optimal intervention includes thermal insulation in the façade; improve the performance of the natural gas boiler; improve the lighting system; and implement an awareness campaign. The deep renovation scenario goes further, implementing a deep energy renovation of the envelope and including renewable energy systems.

	Passive	Passive measures					
	Cost-optimal	Deep renovation					
PT 5 and PT 6 (< 1090)	Building without air chamber: Façade \rightarrow Internal insulation	Façade \rightarrow External insulation					
0 (2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Building with air chamber: Façade → Air chamber insulation	Windows \rightarrow 4/16/4 PVC					
BT-8 and BT-4 (> 1990)	Façade \rightarrow Internal insulation	Façade \rightarrow External insulation Roof \rightarrow External insulation Windows \rightarrow 4/16/4 PVC					

Table V.8 Passive measure selection according to the building typology and the level of actuation: costoptimal and deep renovation

 Table V.9 Active measure selection according to the building typology and the level of actuation: costoptimal and deep renovation

	Active	Active measures				
	Cost-optimal	Deep renovation				
BT-5 and BT-6 (< 1980)	Condensing boiler	Cost-optimal package + Banawakia anarawa watan				
BT-8 and BT-4 (> 1990)	- LED + Awareness campaign	(depending on the building typology)				

Some particular conclusions related to the active energy efficiency measures are:

- The active measures, in particular the improvement of the heating systems performance, provide a high reduction of the primary energy consumption. However, the active measures have to be combined with the passive ones in order to achieve the A-class of the energy efficiency labelling.
- > The optimal measures are able to achieve B/C class of the energy efficiency labelling in buildings with natural ventilation, and C/D class in buildings without natural ventilation.
- The measures that include a deep renovation and renewable energy systems can achieve an A class of the energy efficiency labelling in buildings with natural ventilation and a B class in buildings without natural ventilation.
- > The cost-optimal analysis is an appropriate method to choose the most suitable measure depending on:
 - The building typology and the climate
 - The objectives of the users: environmental and/or economical.



> The effect of the measures can be summarize in Figure V.23:

Figure V.23 Summary of the energy efficiency measures effect in building typologies with or without natural ventilation.

- The energy renovation of the building increases the quality of the life of the users and at the same time increase the value of the building and its lifespan. There is a study [7] that shows how the economic value of the building can increase up to 25%. If this increase of value were included in the cost-optimal analysis, probably most of the measures would become cost optimal. Further studies are needed to quantify the revaluation and the increase of the lifespan of the buildings after the energy renovation.
- As the heating demand is reduced, the electric consumption becomes more important. In this study, measures related with lighting performance improvement and awareness campaign to reduce the electric consumption are evaluated. However, specific solutions to reduce the appliances consumption have to be considered in future studies.

V.4 Application

The method provides complete information for final users, professionals and policy makers and it could help them in the process of taking decisions. In this case, the results have been used to define a proposal for a subsidy plan to improve the energy efficiency of the residential buildings. This work was published in [3]. The building typology used for this proposed is the BT-6 which is the most representative typology of residential buildings of Catalonia, representing the 45% of the dwellings [8]. This typology was built before the first building regulation (1950-1980) and

is characterized for having a low thermal performance. The characteristics of the building typology and the main results of the cost-optimal evaluation are described Annex II OptiHab.

Three parameters are needed to define the subsidy plan: the energy requirement to receive the subsidy, the percentage of initial investment to be paid by the subsidy, and the maximum amount of the subsidy. The rationale to define the subsidies wants to distinguish two levels of actuation: the minimum required expending the same or less money than the reference building in a long-term period (30 years) and the measures that go beyond the minimum requirement and imply a higher cost. Thus, the energy requirement can be divided in: the cost-effective measures and the deep renovation.

In the first case, all the simulations with a global cost lower than the base case (BC, below the dash-line) have been analysed. The best class achieved for this group of measures is a B-class and implies an improvement of 3-classes in comparison with the BC. For that reason, the requirement to receive the first level of subsidy is to improve 3-classes of energy. The second level of subsidy is defined by the simulations that improve more than 3 energy classes. Then, the requirement to receive the second level of renovation is to improve 4 or more energy classes. To define the amount of subsidy, the two groups of measures of the Figure V.24 are analysed (black-dot square for the first level of subsidy and black-dash square for the second level of subsidy). In both cases, two scenarios are evaluated: the minimum initial investment cost and the average initial investment cost. The minimum is used to define the maximum amount of subsidy. Complementary, the average helps to define the percentage of initial investment to be paid by the subsidy. Table V.10 shows the information of the minimum and average simulations in both levels of intervention.



Figure V.24 Group of measures analysed to define the two levels of subsidies: cost-energy measures (red square) and deep renovation (purple-dash square).

Table V.11 and Table V.12 show the relation between the maximum amount of subsidy and the percentage of subsidy for the first and second level of actuation. Different percentages of subsidy are applied to the average intervention and the selected percentage corresponds when the subsidy is equal or close to the minimum initial investment cost scenario. It means that for the first level of subsidy the percentage of initial investment to be paid by the subsidy is the 70% with a maximum of 5,000€/dw; and for the second level is 50% of initial investment with a maximum of 9,000€/dw.

Table	V.10	Simulations	used	to define	the	subsidies	for	the	two	levels	of	actuation:	cost-energy	and	deep
						renov	atic	on.							

Actuation		Initial investment	Primary energy saving
		€/dw	%
Cast offective	Minimum	5,123	48
cost-enective	Average	7,133	51
Deen venevation	Minimum	9,188	54
Deep renovation	Average	16,863	56

Percentages	Initial invest. ¹	Subsidy	Private investment
%	€	€	€
30		2,140	4,993
40		2,853	4,280
50		3,567	3,567
60	7,133	4,280	2,853
70		4,993 ²	2,140
80		5,706	1,427
90		6,420	713

Table V.11 First level of intervention: subsidy definition

¹ Initial investment cost of the average measure

² Equivalent to the minimum initial investment cost

As it is introduced in the rationale of the subsidy definition, the first level of subsidy wants to be available to most of the population of the region (excluding the social housing, which needs specific plans of actuation). For that reason, economic data has been collected in order to verify that the subsidy definition and, in particular, the average private investment is coherent with the incomes and expenditures of an average household in Catalonia. Table V.13 summarizes the annual incomes [9] and expenditures [10] of the average household in Catalonia in 2013. In global, the 4% of the income can be saved by a household during a year (around 1,000€/yr). In addition, if the expenditures are analysed in detail, there is a group of expenditures that are related with furniture and maintenance costs of the household and represents around

1,000€/yr. Finally, after the intervention the group of expenditure related with the energy costs (housing, water, electricity, gas and other fuels) will be reduced around 450€/yr (electricity and natural gas savings). Then, assuming these figures and in comparison with the average intervention, the private investment of 2,140€ seems a reasonable amount of money to be assumed for an average household in Catalonia.

Percentages	Initial invest. ¹	Subsidy	Private investment
%	€	€	€
30		5,059	11,804
40		6,745	10,118
50		8,432 ²	8,432
60	16,863	10,118	6,745
70		11,804	5,059
80		13,490	3,373
90		15,177	1,686

Table V.12 Second level of intervention: subsidy definition

¹ Initial investment cost of the average measure

² Equivalent to the minimum initial investment cost

 Table V.13 Annual net incomes and expenditures for the average household in Catalonia (Source: INEa, 2013 and INEb, 2013)

Average annual net income	€/yr∙dw
Total	30,423
Average annual expenditure	€/yr∙dw
Food	4,394
Clothing and footwear	1,476
Housing, water, electricity, gas and other fuels	9,786
Furniture and maintenance costs of house	1,192
Others	12,461
Total	29,309

After checking the reasonability of the subsidy definition, both subsidy levels are applied to the results of the cost-energy optimization in Figure V.25. In comparison with the results without subsidy, there are more combinations of measures (simulations) that are below the global costs of the base case. Regarding the measures that are related with the second level of subsidy, some of them are also below the global costs of the base case, becoming the deep renovation more interesting for the users.



Figure V.25 Cost-energy optimization including the two levels of subsidies: primary energy consumption and global costs (colour background: energy label scale of Total consumption of dwelling).

V.5 References

[1] J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, J. Salom, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca, V. Russo, Comfort and economic criteria for selecting passive measures for the energy refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 110 (2016) 195-210.

[2] J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca i Casas, J. Salom, N.G. Soriano, P. Fonseca i Casas, Cost-effective analysis for selecting energy efficiency measures for refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings.

[3] J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, J. Salom, V. Russo, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca, Optimization of energy renovation of residential sector in Catalonia based on comfort, energy and costs, IBPSA 2015: International Building Performance Simulation Conference, Hyderabat, India, December 7-9th 2015.

[4] CTE, Código Técnico de la Edificación, 2006

[5] P. Fonseca i Casas, A. Fonseca i Casas, N. Garrido-Soriano, J. Ortiz, J. Casanovas, J. Salom, Optimal Buildings' Energy Consumption Calculus through a Distributed Experiment Execution, Mathematical Problems in Engineering, 2015 (2015) 12.

[6] P. Fonseca i Casas, A. Fonseca i Casas, N. Garrido-Soriano, J. Ortiz, J. Casanovas, J. Salom, Distributed experiment for the calculus of optimal values for energy consumption in buildings, Energy, Environment, Ecosystems and Development, Barcelona, Spain, 2015.

[7] tinsa, Working paper: Rehabilitación, aumento de valor y mejora de la eficiencia energética, 2014.

[8] N. Garrido-Soriano, M. Rosas-Casals, A. Ivancic, M.D. Álvarez-del Castillo, Potential energy savings and economic impact of residential buildings under national and regional efficiency scenarios. A Catalan case study, Energy and Buildings, 49 (0) (2012) 119-125.

[9] Instituto Nacional de Estadística - España, Encuesta de Condiciones de Vida, 2013.

[10] Instituto Nacional de Estadística - España, Encuesta de Presupuestos Familiares, 2013.

Chapter VI Conclusions and outlook for future research

VI.1 Conclusions and relevant findings

The aim of the thesis is to evaluate and provide the cost-optimal measures for the energy renovation of residential buildings of Catalonia, considering three main criteria: thermal comfort, primary energy use and global costs.

The conclusions of the thesis can be divided in two main groups: building model and costoptimal evaluation. The building model includes the methods and hypothesis implemented in the simulation in order to estimate accurately the energy use of the households. The costoptimal evaluation based on two-step process represents the methodology proposed to analyse the energy efficiency measures, considering the three criteria: thermal comfort, primary energy use and global costs.

Building model

The building model has been implemented in TRNSYS and it has the objective to reduce the uncertainties associated to the building and its use, and to improve the estimation of the primary energy use. The milestones and conclusions of the thesis related to the building model are described and cover the Specific Objective 1.1, Specific Objective 1.2, Specific Objective 1.3, Specific Objective 1.4 and Specific Objective 1.5.

How can it relate the actual state of the building with the simulation model?

Different sources of information have been used to relate the simulation to surveys and monitoring data. The household features are adapted to its building period, including information about the air leakage of the building (n_{50}). The building is divided in day and night zone, in order to reproduce better use of it. The use of natural ventilation and solar protections has been configured according to the survey's results. Similarly, the setpoint and the use of the heating and cooling system are adapted to the surveys. In addition, the energy performances of both systems are related to the weather conditions. The characterization of the building model is described in Chapter II.

How can it be introduced realistic user behaviour in the simulation?

The occupancy has been defined as the main driver of the building. For that reason, one of the needs is to use realistic profiles of the occupants. This profile has to reproduce the variability of the real occupants and, at the same time, their behaviour has to be representative of the average occupant. To achieve this challenge, stochastic occupancy

profiles have been generated based on Time Use Data surveys. This profile is adapted to the characteristics of each household and is related to the use of the building (heating and cooling systems, natural ventilation, solar protections, and lighting). The occupancy implementation is described in Chapter II. In addition, the energy consumption of appliances is dependent on the occupancy behaviour. Chapter II.6 details the electrical stochastic model to generate the appliances consumption of each building typology, according to their appliance stock. The electrical stochastic model is based on data from the SECH-SPAHOUSEC project.

The validation of the building model provides the reliability of the method implemented in the building simulation model, making possible to extrapolate the method to other building typologies.

A pilot site has been used to test the building model and to implement the validation process. The ASHRAE and IPMVP protocols are used to define the indicators of the validation. For the electrical consumption, the results of the validation shows how the building model is close to the thresholds stablished by the validation protocols. For the natural gas consumption, after an iterative process of testing different configurations of occupancy, setpoint temperature and level of infiltration, the building model meets the validation protocol. For that reason, and despite the uncertainty associated to the user behaviour and the billing periods, the results are considered valid for using the building model approach in the typology analysis. Chapter III presents the validation process of the building model.

Defining a complete method to implement the whole process in a single simulation, integrating the three main criteria in the building simulation. The building simulation model must be designed to be used in a co-simulation process, in order to run all the combination of measures automatically.

The building model has been implemented in TRNSYS and includes the energy, economic and thermal comfort calculations. The building model has been configured to be simulated in two different modes: free running and conditioned. This configuration permits to run the simulation according to the two-step methodology proposed by the thesis. If the simulation is executed in free running mode, the outputs of the simulation will be thermal comfort and investment cost; and if the simulation is run in conditioned mode, the outputs will be primary energy consumption and global cost. This configuration makes possible to implement the calculations in a co-simulation process. The co-simulation is carried out using SDLPS as a management tool and TRNSYS as a calculus engine for the energy simulation. SDLPS launches TRNSYS with different configuration of measures and collects the results in a common file. This configuration automates the simulation process and helps to manage properly a big number of simulations. Around 30,000 simulations have been carried out in the framework of the thesis in order to obtain the cost-optimal evaluation for every building typology and climate. Chapter IV describes the co-simulation process.

Cost-optimal evaluation based on two-step process

The cost-optimal evaluation based on two-step process, passive and active evaluation, is the novel method proposed to evaluate the energy efficiency measures for each building typology and climate, considering three criteria: thermal comfort, primary energy use and global costs. The objective of the passive evaluation is to obtain the passive measures that provide a better thermal comfort without the use of mechanical systems and considering the investment cost of the measure. Then the passive and active measures are combined in the active evaluation to develop a cost-effective analysis, where the non-renewable primary energy consumption and the global costs are used to select the cost-effective energy efficiency measures. Chapter II explains how the different methods and hypothesis have been introduced in the building model. The assessment about the results and their usefulness are described, answering the Specific Objective 2.1, Specific Objective 2.2 and Specific Objective 3.1.

Which are the thermal comfort differences between typologies and climates? What are the differences between warm season and cold season thermal comfort? Is it possible to avoid active cooling systems in some locations and for some typologies with appropriate passive solutions?

The thermal comfort analysis proposed is based on the adaptive comfort model and two long term indices have been used to evaluate the comfort over the year: Long-term Percentage of Dissatisfied (LDP) and Hours of Overheating (OH). The LDP describes the average comfort of the household over a period and it can be calculated for different periods (annual, warm and cold season). The hours of overheating (OH) have been included for complementing the LDP index in the comfort evaluation in order to identify overheating problems. The thermal comfort requirements have been adjusted to the particularities of each climate and have been used in the passive evaluation to select the appropriate combination of passive measures in each case. The comfort method is explained in Chapter IV.2.1, and Chapter V.1 presents the results for the passive evaluation.

The analysis of the results show that from a general point of view, the building typologies located in temperate climates, as C2 and B3, have an annual discomfort index (LDP) around 30%, in comparison to colder climates that present around 45% of annual discomfort. In relation to the seasonal discomfort index, the temperate climates have around 50% of cold

period discomfort and the colder climates around 65%. All the climates achieve the comfort level for the warm period discomfort index; presenting values lower than 15%. However, if the warm period discomfort index is complemented with the hours of overheating, the results vary depending on the building typology, the climate and the natural ventilation configuration. Figure VI.1 shows that there is not overheating in any building typology in the coldest climate (E1). Nevertheless, the overheating in the other climates depends on the building typology. The BT-5 and BT-6 have always problems of overheating; the overheating of BT-8 depends on the natural ventilation configuration, and the BT-4 does not present overheating risk.

	C2 (Bar	celona) B3 (Ta		ragona)	D3 (Lleida)		E1 (Pre-Pyrenee)	
	VENT	nVENT	VENT	nVENT	VENT	nVENT	VENT	
BT-5								
BT-6								
BT-8								
BT-4								
		-						

Thermal discomfort due to overheating

There are combination of energy efficiency measures that reduces the overheating below the threshold, making possible to avoid the cooling system

Figure VI.1 Thermal discomfort due to overheating depending on building typology and climate

Then, it is possible to say that the older typologies analysed in the study (BT-5 and BT-6) do not have an appropriate design for the natural ventilation (single side ventilation and /or small courtyards), providing overheating problems. The natural ventilation and the optimal use of the solar protections are effective strategies to reduce the overheating being possible to avoid the cooling system. The optimal use of the solar protection provides better comfort during the warm season, especially when there is no natural ventilation in the household.

After the implementation of the passive measures, it is possible to improve the levels of thermal comfort, achieving annual discomfort indexes around 20% (C2 and B3) and around 30-40% in cold period discomfort index in temperate climates. In the colder climates (E1 and D3), the annual discomfort index is around 35% and the cold period discomfort index is around 50%. For the overheating point of view, the results depend on the combination of passive measures. There are some combinations of passive measures that reduce below the threshold the hours of overheating, as in the Figure VI.1 has been introduced. This situation makes possible to avoid the cooling system and save its related costs (cooling consumption, investment, replacement and maintenance costs). The combination of measures that includes internal insulation in the roof worsens the overheating situation. On the contrary, the façade insulation improves the situation, having more impact the external insulation.

Are all the measures appropriate in all the typologies and climates? Which are the most effective measures in each building typology and climate?

The energy efficiency measures must be adapted according to the building typology. The influence of the climate in the measure selection has been mainly observed in the cooling strategies, where the solar protection and the cooling system improvements are not needed in the coldest climate (E1). Table VI.1 and Table VI.2 summarize the most appropriated measures obtained by the cost-optimal evaluation. In general, the cost-optimal intervention includes thermal insulation in the façade; improves the performance of the natural gas boiler; improves the lighting system; and implements an awareness campaign. The deep renovation scenario goes further, implementing a deep energy renovation of the envelope and including renewable energy systems.

 Table VI.1 Passive measure selection according to the building typology and the level of actuation: costoptimal and deep renovation

	Passive	measures
	Cost-optimal	Deep renovation
PT 5 and PT 6 (< 1090)	Building without air chamber: Façade \rightarrow Internal insulation	Façade \rightarrow External insulation
0 (2001)	Building with air chamber: Façade → Air chamber insulation	Windows \rightarrow 4/16/4 PVC
BT-8 and BT-4 (> 1990)	Façade \rightarrow Internal insulation	Façade \rightarrow External insulation Roof \rightarrow External insulation Windows \rightarrow 4/16/4 PVC

Table VI.2 Active measure selection according to the building typology and the level of actuation: costoptimal and deep renovation

	Active	measures				
	Cost-optimal	Deep renovation				
BT-5 and BT-6 (< 1980)	Condensing boiler	Cost-optimal package				
BT-8 and BT-4 (> 1990)	– LED + Awareness campaign	(depending on the building typology)				

Some particular conclusions related to the active energy efficiency measures are:

The heating consumption is one of the most important consumption of the dwelling, and the improvement of the heating system is important to reduce significantly the energy consumption. However, the measure has to be combined with the passive measures in order to achieve the A-class of the energy efficiency labelling.

- The lighting consumption represents a low fraction of the total energy consumption of the household. However, the implementation of LED systems in the dwelling provides a positive impact in both, energy and global cost savings.
- The development of awareness campaigns has a high potential to reduce the energy consumption. The awareness campaign represents the most effective measure, in terms of energy savings by euro invested.

How much would the refurbishment of my home cost?

The optimal measures are able to achieve B/C class of the energy efficiency labelling in buildings with natural ventilation, and C/D class in buildings without natural ventilation. The initial investment is around $35-100 \in /m^2$ and the primary energy savings around 30-50%, depending on the building typology, climate and natural ventilation configuration.

The measures that include a deep renovation and renewable energy systems can achieve an A class of the energy efficiency labelling in buildings with natural ventilation and a B class in buildings without natural ventilation. In this situation, the appliances consumption becomes the greatest energy use of the dwelling. The initial investment is around $200-300 \in /m^2$ and the primary energy savings around 50-75%, depending on the building typology, climate and natural ventilation configuration.

Which would the amount of my bills be after the renovation?

In general, the energy savings achieved with cost-optimal measures will reduce the energy bills around $450 \in$ per year. Despite the energy and economic savings achieve by the intervention, the initial investment cost are relatively high providing high payback periods, especially for the deep renovation scenario. In addition, the initial investment has been compared with the average net income of the Catalan families, making more evident the difficulty to assume the investment cost by the families. For that reason and in order to make more attractive the energy refurbishment of the households, the results have been used to define a subsidy plan. The subsidy plan consists in two levels of actuation: for the first level of subsidy the percentage of initial investment to be paid by the subsidy is the 70% with a maximum of $5,000 \in$ /dw; and for the second level is 50% of initial investment with a maximum of $9,000 \in$ /dw.

VI.2 Contributions of the thesis

The main contributions of the thesis are listed below:

- I. A detailed building model has been developed in TRNSYS with the objective to obtain a realistic model and to relate the input of the model with monitoring and survey information. The model introduces stochastic occupancy profiles to introduce a more realistic use of the building.
- II. The thesis proposes the two-step methodology to analyse energy efficiency measures focusing on the thermal comfort, energy performance and economic parameters. This methodology prioritizes the passive measures rather than the active ones guaranteeing the thermal comfort of the users and reducing the number of combinations to be simulated.
- III. The thermal comfort indices are used to select the energy efficiency measures, choosing the most appropriate according to the climate characteristics and the thermal comfort requirements.
- IV. The thesis gives detailed information of the current situation of the most representative building typologies and climates, representing around 65% of the building stock of Catalonia.
- V. The thesis provides a detailed analysis for each building typology, climate and natural ventilation configuration, giving information to choose the most suitable measure depending on: the building typology and the climate; and the objectives of the refurbishment (environmental and/or economical).
- VI. Two scenarios have been analysed to propose a subsidy plan to improve the energy efficiency of the residential buildings: cost-optimal refurbishment and deep energy renovation.

VI.3 Outlook for future research

The thesis concludes with an outlook on possible future research topics:

- I. To improve the overheating index to achieve a better representation of the phenomenon. The hours of overheating only consider the number of times that the temperature is above the overheating threshold; however, aspects as the amplitude of the overheating, the duration of the overheating incident and the humidity are not included in the index, despite of their influence in the comfort of the users. There are some international research initiatives that try to improve in the thermal comfort analysis, as for example "EBC Annex 69 Strategy and Practice of Adaptive Thermal Comfort in Low Energy Buildings" and "IEA EBC Annex 62 Ventilative cooling".
- II. To improve some systems/methods of the detailed building model. On the one hand, to improve the natural ventilation and air tightness of the building model through new or improved experimental correlations. On the other hand, to reproduce the heating system in the model with the implementation of all elements of the system (emitters, boiler, pumps...) in order to simulate the real behaviour of the system, instead of simplified approach.
- III. To develop a stochastic occupancy model linked with the electrical consumption and the domestic hot water consumption. To increase the resolution of the occupancy model lower than 10 minutes to have a better representation of the electrical and domestic hot water consumptions. In addition, to improve the knowledge of the occupant behaviour and its implementation in the building model and to reduce the uncertainty related to the use of the building.
- IV. To develop an extensive economic evaluation considering not only the energy benefits, but also some co-benefits achieved by the energy refurbishment of households. Some of these co-benefits are related to the improvement of the health of the occupants due to a reduction of discomfort conditions (cold temperatures in winter, hot temperatures in summer, air quality, humidity and mould...). Other co-benefit of the energy renovation of buildings is the appreciation in value of the households thanks to the improvement of the living conditions, increase of the energy efficiency standard and increase of lifespan of the building.

J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, J. Salom, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca. Cost-effective analysis for selecting energy efficiency measures for refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 128 (2016) 442-457.



Cost-effective analysis for selecting energy efficiency measures for refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia

Joana Ortiz^{a,} 🎍 🎬, Antoni Fonseca i Casas^b, Jaume Salom^a, Nuria Garrido Soriano^b, Pau Fonseca i Casas^c

doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2016.06.059

J. Ortiz, A. Fonseca, V. Russo, J. Salom, N. Garrido, P. Fonseca. Comfort and economic criteria for selecting the optimal passive measures for the energy renovation of residential buildings in Catalonia, Energy and Buildings, 110 (2016) 195-210.



Comfort and economic criteria for selecting passive measures for the energy refurbishment of residential buildings in Catalonia

Joana Ortiz^{a, I}, Antoni Fonseca^b, Jaume Salom^a, Nuria Garrido^b, Pau Fonseca^c, Verdiana Russo^a

doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2015.10.022

J. Ortiz, F. Guarino, J. Salom, C. Corchero, M. Cellura, Stochastic model for electrical loads in Mediterranean residential buildings: Validation and applications, Energy and Buildings, 80 (2014) 23-36.



Stochastic model for electrical loads in Mediterranean residential buildings: Validation and applications

Joana Ortiz^{a, 🎍} 🏁, Francesco Guarino^b, Jaume Salom^a, Cristina Corchero^c, Maurizio Cellura^b

doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2014.04.053

-



OptiHab - Method [1/2] MARIE MARIE MARI	OptiHab - Method Detiment Particular Contractions Contrac	
Objectives	Building simulation	
• To develop a technical study to optimize the energy renovation of residential sector in Catalonia.	 Detailed characterization of the building: Constructive solutions (ACH and ERF⁵) 	
 To establish the techno-economic criteria to develop regional strategies and policies to improve the energy efficiency of residential buildings in Catalonia 	 Thermal bridge (CE3X Handbook⁷) Tightness of the construction (UNI-EN 15242^{8,9,10}) 	
Specific objectives:	Occupancy and their use of the building	
 To define the minimum requirement for: Energy demand 	 Family type and occupancy profiles (Time Use Data, INE¹¹) Natural ventilation (British Standard (BS 5925-1991¹²), W. De Gids, H. Phaff (1982¹³)) 	
Renewable energy contribution Ininitations of energy consumption	- Solar protections	Primary energy
 To consider particularities of the Mediterranean buildings To improve and guarantee the levels of thermal comfort of the proposed measures for the energy renovation 	 Artificial lighting and daylighting (Th-BCE^{1.4}) Energy systems 	balance
Method overview ¹	 Domestic hot water (Transol, DTIE 1.01) Heating system (Handbook 6 Calener¹⁵, EN 15316-2-1¹⁶) 	
 Two-step optimization: Passive and comfort optimization: the objective is to reduce. as much as possible, the thermal 	 Cooling system (Handbook 6 Calener¹⁵, EN 15316-2-1¹⁶) Appliances and electric devices (Ortiz 2014¹⁷, SECH-SPACHOUSEC¹⁸) 	
 discomfort with the minimum initial investment cost of the passive measures. Cost-energy optimization: the objective is to obtain the cost-effective measures, minimizing the primary energy use and the global costs². 	 Solar thermal system (Transol) Photovoltaic system (TRNSYS) 	
	Comfort index (Carlucci 2013 ¹⁹ , ASHRAE ²⁰)	ifort evaluation
Data Evoluation Pattice Active Evoluation >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	Economic calculation (EN 15459 ²) Economic calculation (EN 15459 ²)	omic evaluation
· Software	Energy efficiency measures	
• TRNSYS → energy simulation of the building • SDLP5 ^{3,4} → optimization process (inLab) • Around 30,000 simulation	 Passive measures: façade insulation, roof insulation, improve the windows performance and the use of solar protections. 	ASURES
Building stock characterization ⁵	Improvement of the tightness of the construction and reduction of the cold bridge.	
Year for construction: 1950 Up to 50s 1951-1980 National building regulation (NBE-CT-79)	 Active measures: improvement of the performance of the heating and cooling systems, strategies of management, improvement of the energy performance of lighting. 	INCREASE RENEWABLE ENERGIES
1391-12000 regionario regulation (NNENI-97) 2000 regulation (NNENI-97) 2010 regulation regulati	 renewane energy systems: solar thermal, photovoltaic system and biomass boiler EFFICIENT Comments: 	IMPROVE EE
Trevous sucres Trevous sucres Statistical data Statistical data Surveys Surveys Climate: climate zones from CTE ⁶ X	The biomass boiler is not considered in the multi family building due to technical limitations. Then, only the semi-detached house (D) includes the biomass boiler as	а т О т
C2: Barcelona. B3: Tarragona. D3: Lleida. E1: Pre-Pyrenees Datural ventilation by pothesis Two confinues have bothesis	a active measure. • Active measures like mechanical ventilation systems, • Active measures like mechanical ventilation level. district	M K Z
 With natural ventilation (FSE): it is possible to use the natural ventilation as strategy for cooling the household Without natural ventilation (VSE): it is possible to use the natural ventilation as strategy for cooling the household Without natural ventilation (NO: it is no possible to use the natural ventilation for cooling the household the environment/location of the building (noise, contamination, etc) 	heating and cooling, are outside the scope of the study. • The characteristics of the measures are described in the Appendix II.	ED

OptiHab - Method [2/2] MARIE And State and S	OptiHab - Method 2000 Control
Passive and comfort optimization	Energy labelling
 Objectives: Evaluation of the passive measures in order to: Evaluation of the passive measures in order to: Guarantee the thermal confort of the user during the warm and cold period Reduce as much as possible the thermal discomfort of the users only with passive measures Priories the passive measure in front of the active ones Comfort parameters: Long-term percentage of dissatisfied (LPD)^{19:} Based on ASHRAE adaptive^{a021} model (no cooling systems) It evaluates the percentage of the intervel discomfort conditions for the users. 	Objective: • Evaluate the effect of the energy efficiency measures in terms of energy labelling. Method: • Adaptation of the energy label scale is needed in order to obtain the TOTAL primary energy consumption: • EU Directive ^{22,23} → includes heating, cooling and domestic hot water, lighting and appliances consumption • OptiHab → includes heating, cooling, domestic hot water, lighting and appliances consumption Fanergy label (regulation)
 It is calculated over three periods: annual, cold season and warm season. 	References
 Comfort conditions: LPD-20% Hours of overheating (OH) It evaluates when the occupants are in overheating conditions. 	¹ J. Salom, J. Ortiz, V. Russo, Method to develop cost-effective studies of energy efficiency measures for Mediterranean residential existing buildings with multi-criteria optimization, in: World Sustainable Building 2014, Barcelona, 2014.
 Competitioning the second se second second s	² CEN, EN 15459: Energy performance of buildings - Economic evaluation procedure for energy systems in buildings, 2008.
Cost-energy optimization	4. Fonsea i Casas, Arinancing Socra with Cosmulation, in: 2012 write: Dimination Conference, permit, 2012. 4. Fonseca i Casas, A. Fonseca i Casas, N. Garrido-Soriano, J. Casanovas, Formal simulation model to optimize
Objective:	building sustainability, Advances in Engineering Software, 69 (0) (2014) 62-74 ⁵ Agencia Catalana de l'Habitatge i Estudi Ramon Folch (2014). Caracterització del parc existent d'edificis
 Follows the current directives and standards: European Directive: 2010/31/UE (EPBD)²² and UE No. 244/2012²³ EN15459² 	d'habitatges de Catalunya, Barcelona © CTE, Código Técnico de la Edificación, in: BOE 08/11/2013
Evaluation of the combination of the passive and active measures using:	י ונאבר, ואמחעמו ספ דעחסמדופרונסג נפרטונסט ספ כמווזרסגנוסה פהפרקפרונס טפ פסוזרנסט פאנאנפרונפט נבסגן. וה, ואסמרוט 2012.
 Global cost → technological neutrality Primary energy → energy balance 	⁸ UNE, UNE-EN 15242: Ventilation for buildings. calculation methods for the determiantion of air flow rates in buildings including infiltration, in, 2007.
Parameters: • Global cost: represents all the costs generated over a period (30 years), which included:	⁹ F.R.d.A. Alfano, M. Dell'Isola, G. Ficco, F. Tassini, Experimental analysis of air tightness in Mediterranean buildings using the fan pressurization method, Building and Environment, 53 (0) (2012) 16-25.
 <u>Energy costs</u>: cost due to energy consumed and annual taxes (for example, the power rix term of the electricity contract). 	¹⁰ A. Jimenez Tiberio, P. Branchi, A study of air leakage in residential buildings, in: New Concepts in Smart Cities: Esterine Public and Private alliances (SmartMII E) 2013, no. 1-4
 Initial investment cost: cost of the energy efficiency measures. Replacement cost: each measure/system has to be replaced depending on its corresponding lifespan (for 	¹¹ trostering routine and interest eminierus (anta territe), existo per a
example, the boiler every 15 years has to be replaced). • <u>Maintenance cost</u> : the annual cost for the maintenance of the building and their systems (for example, once	¹³ W. de olicy, n. ritiati, ventulation nates and chiefy Consumption due to Open windows. A bitel Overview of Research in the Netherlan, in: Third IEA Air Infiltration Center Conference, 1982. ¹³ British Standard, BS 5925:1921 Code of practice for ventilation principles and designing for natural ventilation.
every two year, the natural gas installation needs a technical revision by the company). • Economic parameters: to consider the evolution of the money (inflation rate and market interest rate).	in, 1991. ¹⁴ Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment (CSTB), Méthode de cakul Th-BCE 2012, in, 2012. ¹⁵ IDAE (2009).CALENER-VYP. Viviendas y edificios terciarios pequeños y medianos. Factores de corrección de
Hrimary energy:	equipos. ¹⁶ UNE (2008). EN 15316-2-1: Heating systems in buildings. Method for calculation of system energy
Energy demand Energy Final energy Conversion Total Primary energy factor energy	requirements and system efficiencies. Space heating emission systems. ¹⁷ Ortiz, J., F. Guarino, J. Salom, C. Corchero, M. Cellura (2014). Stochastic model for electrical loads in
-Heating -Boiler - Electricity to primary energy	Mediterranean residential buildings: validation and applications. <i>Energy and buildings</i> ; solupi.z3-36 ¹⁸ IDAE (2011). PROFECTO SECH-SPAHOUSEC: Analisis del consumo energético en el sector residencial en
Cooling Cooling Cooling Cooling Cooling Coolection Cooling Coolection Cool	espana, instituto para la uwersineacion y Anorro de la Energia. ¹⁹ S. Carlucci, Thermal comfort assessment of buildings, 2013.
Lighting Appliances Solar thermal Solar thermal Solar photovoltaic Solar photovoltaic	²⁰ ASHRAE 55, ANSI/ASHRAE Standard 55-2004, Thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy, American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers Inc., Atlanta, 2004.
Simulation configuration: •	²¹ ISO 7730:2006 Ergonomics of the thermal environment - Analytical determination and interpretation of thermal comfort using calculation of the PMV and PPD indices and local thermal comfort criteria
appliances. appliances. • The confect is released in the second she have a set to be have been and a second second second second second	²⁴ European Commission (2010). Energy Performance of Building Directive (EPBD), 2010/31/EU. ²³ European Commission (2012). Energy Efficiency Directive. 2012/27/EU.
 The comfort is already guarantee with the use of the mechanical systems. 	²⁴ Rehabilitación. aumento del valor y meiora de la eficiencia energética. Tinsa Research



IPEEC PARTICIPACION PARTICIPAC		IVERSITAT POLITEON. CATALUNYA RICELONATECH IM Laid inLaid	Allow Medite Med	ARIE ARIE REAMEAN BUILDING REAME AND BUILDING REAME AND ADDING REAME ADDING REAM	11ed en biat EDG European FEGE	OptiHab	- Typology BT-5	B CATALINYA B CATA		LE BUILDEND VIIDEND VEROV EUROPEAN ER	eo t
ldings	Building	g representati	ion: No huildinge	4 %	ilding stock	Equipmer	t Characteristics				Π
	C2 (Barc E1 (Pre-l	celona) Pyrinees)	284 230 6 922		12.3 0.3	System	Description		Perform	ance	
						Heating and	DHW Conventional natural gas boiler for indi	vidual centralize system	ו (24kW) ח = 0.75		
						Cooling	Conventional air conditioning system (s	plit) installed in 2 zones	5 (5kW) COP = 2.	0	
	4		Dwelling 1			Lighting	Compact fluorescent lamps (2 W/m^2)		Luminou	is efficacy = 0.	9
			PT_E1	937	Dwelling 2	Appliances	Refrigerator, washing machine, dishwa and computer.	sher, microwave, electri	ic oven, TV Average multifan Mediter	household of nily building ir ranean region	, o – –
L L	1 I					Energy eff	iciency measures				Π
Ī	L L	t				Measure	Description	Performance	Investment cost	Mainte- nance cost	Life- span
							External – EPS 4-12 cm	0.60 - 0.26 W/m ² K	2,300 - 2,900 €/dv		40
							External – XPS 4-12 cm	0.63 - 0.27 W/m ² K	2,600 - 3,300 €/dv	'	40
Description	5		Thic	ckness	U-value W/m²K		Air chamber – mineral wool 3-10 cm	,		•	÷
	:			;	1	Façade insulation	Air chamber – EPS + graphite 3-10 cm			•	÷
d brick with ex	xterior and in	nterior claddin	а В	0.34	1.78		Air chamber – cellulose 3-10 cm	,	ı	•	÷
es, ceramic ti.	les, wooden	beams ceiling	g and 0.	.12	1.27		Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	0.60 - 0.36 W/m ² K	1,100 - 1,200 €/dv	'	40
							Internal –mineral wool 4-8 cm	0.68 - 0.42 W/m ² K	750 - 850 €/dv	'	40
ck and siding in	n both sides		0	0.18	2.38		Inverted – XPS 8-12 cm	,	ī	,	÷
brick and sidi	ing in both sid	des	Ö	60.	2.12	Roof insulation	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm	0.59 - 0.39 W/m ² K	600 - 650 €/dv	-	30
	0		,				Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	0.53 - 0.33 W/m ² K	800 - 900 €/dv	'	30
g of wooden by	eams and cer	ramic brick	0	1.22	2.16	Windows	4/16/4 Aluminium with thermal break	2.8 W/m ² K	3,400 €/dv	'	30
			-0	alue	e-value	change	4/16/4 PVC	2.8 W/m ² K	3,000 €/dv	'	30
Descriptio	5		(M	/m²K	-	Sol. protec.	Awnings		258 €/dv	'	15
l break						Heating	Condensing boiler + Improve install. Performance	η = 1.09	2,740 €/dv	v 109 €/dw	20
			S	.68	0.85	and DHW	Biomass boiler + Improve install. Performance				÷
						system	Heat pump air-wat. + Improve install. Performance		ı		÷
			L			Cooling	Efficient Air conditioning system (split)	COP = 4.0	1,380 €/dv	v 48 €/dw	15
	AIF IEBK	age (n ₅₀)	Ú,			system	No cooling system	,	,	•	÷
Opening	Shutter box	Wall-floor	Wall-roof	Wall over	Cantilever-	Lighting	LED	Luminous eff. = 0.8	546 €/dv		20
	NVA	Junction 238	Junction		waiijuncuon	Awareness	Awareness campaign	,	290 €/dv	v 24 €/dw	20
TZZZ		IN N	INI			Solar	16 m^2 /building + 1500l storage tank		3,300 €/dv	v 10€/dw	15
		INT	<u>77</u>		EXI 74	thermal				•	÷
0.33		1.51	0.97		1.51	PV system	20 m²/building - 240 Wp/module (12 modules)		1343 €/dv	v 73€/dw	20
										,	i.

Building type: Block of apartments between buildings Year of construction: up to 1950 Nº Floors: commercial floor + 4 Nº Dwellings: 8 Dwellings: 60.5 m² Occupants: 2 adults: 2 adults

OptiHab - Typology BT-5

		Thickness U-value M/m²K	0.34 1.78	0.12 1.27	0.18 2.38	0.09 2.12	0.22 2.16	U-value g-value W/m ² K -	10 C	00.0		-roof Wall over Cantilever- tion external slab wall junction		97 - 1.51
			and interior cladding	ooden beams ceiling and	sides	ooth sides	and ceramic brick				r leakage (n _{so}) 7.5	r box Wall-floor Wall junction junc		1.51 0.
		Description	m solid brick with exterior	bic tiles, ceramic tiles, wo	id brick and siding in both	rated brick and siding in b	aming of wooden beams a	Description	ermal break	/12/4	Ai	a Opening Shutter r frame		- 0.33
<u>-</u>	eristics		Structural wall of 29cn	Sloping roof with Arak hurdle ceiling	Partition wall with soli	Wall of 14cm of perfor	Unidirectional floor fra		Aluminium without th	Clear double glazing 4,	Blinds	Pilar in a wall corner		0.81 0.60
	Building Characte	Envelope	Façade	Roof	Party wall	Internal wall	Floor framing	Window	Window frame	Glazing	Solar protection	Cold bridge	Description	Linear thermal conductivity (Ψ, W/mK)






OptiHab - Typology BT-5 [4/4]



	Year of construction: up to 1950	Roof: without insulation
CONCLUDING	N ⁹ Floors: Commercial floor + 4	Windows: aluminium without thermal bree
REMARKS	N ^g Dwellings: 8	Solar protection: blinds
	Dwelling surface: 60.5 m ²	> Observations: each dwelling has only one
	Occupants: 2 adults	external wall with two windows



- The typology has a small area of external facade and there is only two external windows:
 - Heating demand is relatively low
- Solar protection has a low impact during the warm season
 - Effect of insulation in the facade:
- The external insulation has a better energy performance than the internal insulation, however the cost is higher. If the thickness of the insulation increase, the cold comfort is improve. However, the warm comfort and the overheating are increased, specially when the ventilation is not possible.
 - Effect of insulation in the roof:
- Only the internal insulation has been considered for this typology
- The increase of the thickness have a positive impact on the cold comfort and the effects on the warm comfort are not significant.
 - The improvement of the window performance has a high impact in the annual discomfort (around the 10% of reduction), nevertheless its initial investment cost is high (around 3,000 €/dw).
 - The measures that provide a lower primary energy consumption imply a deep renovation and the use of There are cost-optimal solutions that include a combination of passive and active measures.
- renewable energy systems.
- As the heating demand is reduced, the electric consumption due to appliances becomes more important. Specific solutions have to be considered in future studies.

CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: C2 (Barcelona) – NATURAL VENTILATION: YES

- There are problems of overheating during the warm season (>150hours). The The annual discomfort can be reduced from 31% to 21% only with passive cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions. Comfort evaluation measures.
 - Base case (BC)
- Energy label = E (200 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO, emissions = 30 kgCO,/m²·yr
 - Cost Optimal measures (CO)
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the Energy label= B (124 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO₂ emissions = 17 kgCO₂/m²·yr primary energy consumption (25% of reduction)
 - Low energy measures (DR)

Energy label = A (80 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO₂ emissions = 10 kgCO₂/m²·yr Heating demand could be reduced in 67%. Primary energy savings: up to 60%







a

CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: C2 (Barcelona) – NATURAL VENTILATION: NO

Comfort evaluation

al break

The annual discomfort can be reduced from 32% to 26% only with passive measures.

discomfort is getting worse (opposite behaviour than the buildings with natural As the annual and cold season discomfort are improved, the warm season ventilation).

There are problems of overheating during the warm season (>150hours). The cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions.

Energy label = E (253 kWhEP/m² yr). Base case (BC)

- CO₂ emissions = 36 kgCO₂/m²·yr Cost Optimal measures (CO)
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the Energy label= C (145 kWhEP/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 19 kgCO₂/m²·yr
 - primary energy consumption (20% of reduction) Energy label = A (105 kWhEP/m²·yr). Low energy measures (DR)

.

Heating demand could be reduced in 61%. Primary energy savings: up to 58% CO_2 emissions = 13 kgCO_2/m²·yr





COST-OPTIMAL Edemand = 4,713 kWh/dw-y



LOW ENERGY E.demand = 4,150 kWh/dw-yr





CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: E1 (Pre-Pyrenees) – NATURAL VENTILATION: YES

Comfort evaluation

.

- There are no problems of overheating during the warm season (<33 hours). The The annual discomfort can be reduced from 44% to 29% only with passive measures.
 - cooling system could be avoid to guarantee comfort conditions. **Base case (BC)**
 - Energy label = E (248 kWhPE/m²·yr).
 - CO, emissions = 39 kgCO₂/m²·yr
- Energy label= B (138 kWhPE/m²·yr).
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the primary energy consumption (30% of reduction) CO₂ emissions= 20 kgCO₂/m²·yr

COST-OPTIMAL Edenmed = 4,657 kWhidw-yr

11%

Heating demand could be reduced in 65 %. Energy label = A (88 kWhPE/m²·yr). Primary energy savings: up to 65% CO_2 emissions = 12 kgCO₂/m²·yr Low energy measures (DR)

LOW ENERGY B.demand = 3,758 kWh/dw-yr



















OptiHab - Typo	logy BT-6		Rest of Level of Leve		VERSITAT РОЦПЕСИЮ САТАЦИИУА ССЕОНАТЕСН ССЕОНАТЕСН М ∟а́b inLab [*]			lied	OptiHab	- Typology BT-6	REC				ed
Building type: Block	k of apartment	s between buildi	ngs	Building	representation		NCY IMPROVEMENT BRIDE	n Européenne FEOEB	Fauinmen	t Characteristics		Provident sport to some research functioners of a	EFFICIENCY IMPROV	MENT BRICK Earopteans	100
Year of constructio	on: 1951-1980		,	Climat	te N	1º buildings	% pr	uilding stock							
Nº FIGORS: COMMER Nº Dwellings: 10				CZ (Barc) B3 (Tarra	elona) igona)	910 046 71 683		3.1	System	Description			Perform	ince	
Dwelling surface: 7 Occupants: 2 adult:	78.8 m² s + 1 child			D1 (Lleid E1 (Pre-P	la) 'yrinees)	32 725 10 230		1.4 0.4	Heating and	DHW Conventional natural gas	boiler for individ	dual centralize system	(24kW) n = 0.75		
					Dwell	hg1		~	Cooling	Conventional air condition	ning system (spl	it) installed in 2 zones	(5kW) COP = 2.	-	
						ū	8		Lighting	Compact fluorescent lam	ps (2 W/m ²)		Luminou	s efficacy = (.9
						8 8	54 63		Appliances	Refrigerator, washing ma and computer.	chine, dishwash	er, microwave, electr	c oven, TV Average multifarr Mediterr	nousehold c ily building i anean regio	e c c
									Energy eff	iciency measures					
						E6	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		Measure	Description		Performance	Investment cost	Mainte- nance cost	Life- span
:	7				Dwell]	ſ		External – EPS 4-12 cm		0.52 - 0.24 W/m ² K	3,700 - 4,500 €/dw		40
Building Characte	eristics									External – XPS 4-12 cm		0.54 - 0.26 W/m ² K	4,100 - 5,300 €/dw	i.	40
Envelope			Descriptio	-		Thic	kness M	U-value W/m²K		Air chamber - mineral wool 3-10 cm		0.76 - 0.34 W/m ² K	850 - 1,200 €/dw	,	40
1	14 cm wall h	ollow brick with	siding with	plaster morta	ır, air chamber	. 10	ç		Façade insulation	Air chamber – EPS + graphite 3-10 cm		0.65 - 0.27 W/m ² K	1,100 - 2,200 €/dw	1	40
raçade	cm weakly ve	entilated, brick o	f 5 cm and p	laster coating	D0	D'	57	77.1		Air chamber – cellulose 3-10 cm		0.52 - 0.31 W/m ² K	850 - 1,000 €/dw		40
Roof	Catalan flat	roof, double par	vement of (ceramic tile, r	mortar layer, :	slab	VC	117		Internal – EPS 4-8 cm		0.50 - 0.32 W/m ² K	1,700 - 1,900 €/dw		40
	pre-stressed	concrete joists a	nd plaster o	bating.		5	ţ			Internal –mineral wool 4-8 cm		0.56 - 0.37 W/m ² K	1,000 - 1,100 €/dw	ł	40
Party wall	Partition wall	with perforated	I brick and si	ding in both s	sides	.0	18	2.25		Inverted – XPS 8-12 cm		0.34 - 0.25 W/m ² K	2,700 - 2,900 €/dw		30
						c	2		Roof insulation	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm		0.57 - 0.38 W/m ² K	750 - 850 €/dw		30
Internal wall	Wall of 14cm	of perforated t	Drick and sid	ng in both sic	les	0	60	2.46		Internal – EPS 4-8 cm		0.51 - 0.32 W/m ² K	1,000 - 1,200 €/dw		30
Floor framing	Unidirections mortar and p	al floor framing r avement tiles.	reinforced c	oncrete, joist,	, slab of concr	ete, 0.	.28	1.86	Windows	4/16/4 Aluminium with thermal break	v	2.8 W/m ² K	8,700 €/dw		30
						N-N	alue	g-value	change	4/16/4 PVC		2.8 W/m ² K	7,900 €/dw		30
Window			Descriptio	-		/M	'm²K		Sol. protec.	Awnings		ı	309 €/dw	÷	15
Window frame	Aluminium w	ithout thermal b	break						Heating	Condensing boiler + Improve install. P	erformance	η = 1.09	2,740 €/dw	109 €/dw	20
						5	68	0.85	and DHW	Biomass boiler + Improve install. Perfu	ormance			÷	1
Glazing	Clear double	glazing 4/12/4							system	Heat pump air-wat. + Improve install.	Performance	ı		i.	1
	Directo			A in looks	-	U			Cooling	Efficient Air conditioning system (split	(COP = 4.0	1,380 €/dw	48 €/dw	15
	Spillio			All leaka		ņ			system	No cooling system					1
Cold bridge	Pilar in a wall	Pillar in a	Opening	Shutter box	Wall-floor	Wall-roof	Wall over	Cantilever-	Lighting	LED		Luminous eff. = 0.8	546 €/dv	•	20
			allell		Junction	Junction		waiijuiicuoii	Awareness	Awareness campaign			290 €/dw	24 €/dw	20
Description	INI		TV2		IN STATE	INT		EXT 3	Solar thermal	16 m^2 /building + 1500l storage tank			2,640 €/dv	10€/dw	15
l inear thermal		:			238	-14-						1		,	1
conductivity	0.81	09.0	0.33		1.51	0.49		1.51	PV system	20 m ² /building - 240 Wp/module (12	modules)		1,074 €/dw	73€/dw	20

Linear thermal conductivity (Ψ, W/mK)

















- The annual discomfort can be reduced from 30% to 21% only with passive Comfort evaluation measures.

There are problems of overheating during the warm season (41-150 hours). The cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions. Base case (BC)

- Energy label = E (192 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO, emissions = 30 kgCO,/m²·yr
 - Cost Optimal measures (CO)
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the Energy label= C (110 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO., emissions = 16 kgCO₃/m²·yr primary energy consumption (32% of reduction)
 - Energy label = A (66 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO₂ emissions = 9 kgCO₂/m²·yr Heating demand could be reduced in 68%. Primary energy savings: up to 65% Low energy measures (DR)



LOW ENERGY 3.demand = 4,756 kWh/dwry

- There are problems of overheating during the warm season (>150hours). The CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: C2 (Barcelona) – NATURAL VENTILATION: NO The annual discomfort can be reduced from 30% to 22% only with passive The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions. Energy label = F (274 kWhEP/m²·yr). Energy label= D (145 kWhEP/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 38 kg CO_2/m^2 ·yr CO_2 emissions = 19 kgCO₂/m²·yr Cost Optimal measures (CO) Comfort evaluation Base case (BC) measures.
 - primary energy consumption (26% of reduction) Energy label = B (101 kWhEP/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 12 kgCO₂/m²·yr Low energy measures (DR)
 - Heating demand could be reduced in 68%. Primary energy savings: up to 63%



MARIE MARIE

🐝 SUMM Lab in Labi

OptiHab - Typology BT-6











CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: E1 (Pre-Pyrenees) – NATURAL VENTILATION: YES

- Comfort evaluation .
- The annual discomfort can be reduced from 45% to 34% only with passive neasures.
- There are no problems of overheating during the warm season (<33 hours). The The use of solar protections has a negligible effect in this climate during the cooling system could be avoided to guarantee comfort conditions. warm season.
 - Base case (BC)

BASE CASE 3.demand =8,412.kWh/dw-yr

- Energy label = E (253 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 42 kgCO₂/m²·yr
 - Energy label= B (125 kWhPE/m²·yr). Cost Optimal measures (CO)
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the primary energy consumption (36% of reduction) CO_2 emissions = 19 kg CO_2/m^2 ·yr

COST-OPTIMAL E.demand = 6,476 kWhdwryr

Heating demand could be reduced in 65 %. Energy label = A (79 kWhPE/m²·yr). Primary energy savings: up to 69% CO_2 emissions = 11 kg CO_2/m^2 ·yr Low energy measures (DR)













the second
_
ົງ
6
<u> </u>
ę
÷
8
2
ö
-
ă
2
· .
ò
a
T
Ē
8
0



 Flocade: with air chamber Roof: with air chamber Windows: aluminium without thermal break 	with clear double glazing 4/12/4	Solar protection: blinds	> Observations:
Block of apartments between buildings Year of construction: 1951-1980 Ng Floors: Commercial floor + 5	Nº Dwellings: 10	Dwelling surface: 78.8 m ²	Occupants: 2 adults + 1 child
CONCLUDING	REMARKS		

CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: B3 (Tarragona) – NATURAL VENTILATION: YES

Comfort evaluation

There are problems of overheating during the warm season (in most of the The annual discomfort can be reduced form 25% to 17% only with passive measures.

cases >150hours). The cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions.

Base case (BC)

Energy label = E (179 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 27 kg CO_2/m^2 ·yr

- Energy label= C (108 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 15 kgCO₂/m²·yr Cost Optimal measures (CO)
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the primary energy consumption (29% of reduction) Low energy measures (DR)
 - Heating demand could be reduced in 52%. Energy label = A (62 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 8 kgCO₂/m²·yr

Primary energy savings: up to 65%



LOW ENERGY 3.demand = 5,510kWh/dw-yr

CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: B3 (Tarragona) – NATURAL VENTILATION: NO

- The annual discomfort can be reduced from 25% to 19% only with passive Comfort evaluation
- There are problems of overheating during the warm season (>150hours). The measures.
- cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions. Base case (BC)
 - Energy label = G (260 kWhPE/m²·yr).
 - CO_2 emissions = 35 kg CO_2/m^2 ·yr
- Energy label= D (139 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 18 kgCO₂/m²·yr Cost Optimal measures (CO)
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the primary energy consumption (20% of reduction) Low energy measures (DR)
 - Heating demand could be reduced in 70%. Energy label = B (96 kWhPE/m²·yr). Primary energy savings: up to 63% CO, emissions = 11 kgCO,/m²·yr



BASE CASE Ldemand = 7,966 kWhidwryr

COST-OPTIMAL 3.demand = 6,233 kWh/dw-yr











CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: D3 (Lleida) – NATURAL VENTILATION: YES

Comfort evaluation

II

BASE CASE demand = 7,677 kWh/dwryr

The annual discomfort can be reduced from 44% to 35% only with passive measures.

- There are problems of overheating during the warm season (>150hours). The cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions. Base case (BC)
 - Energy label = E (259 kWhEP/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 42 kgCO_2/m²·yr Cost Optimal measures (CO)
 - Energy label= C (142 kWhEP/m²·yr).
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the primary energy consumption (35% of reduction) CO_2 emissions = 21 kgCO₂/m²·yr

COST-OPTIMAL 3.dcmand = 5,949 kWhktwryr

Heating demand could be reduced in 66%. Energy label = A (81 kWhEP/m²·yr). Primary energy savings: up to 69% CO_2 emissions = 11 kgCO_2/m²·yr Low energy measures (DR)



BASE CASE 3.demand = 11,729.kWh/dwryn











CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: D3 (Lleida) – NATURAL VENTILATION: NO

Comfort evaluation

- There are problems of overheating during the warm season (>150hours). The The annual discomfort can be reduced from 45% to 37% only with passive measures.
 - cooling system is required to guarantee comfort conditions. Base case (BC)
 - Energy label = F (332 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO_2 emissions = 50 kg CO_2/m^2 yr
- Energy label= D (170 kWhPE/m²·yr). CO₂ emissions= 24 kgCO₂/m²·yr Cost Optimal measures (CO)
- The condensing boiler is the active measure that has a high impact on the primary energy consumption (27% of reduction) Low energy measures (DR)
 - Heating demand could be reduced in 66 %. Energy label = B (112 kWhPE/m²·yr). Primary energy savings: up to 66% CO_2 emissions = 14 kgCO₂/m²·yr



















OptiHab - Typo	logy BT-8		International Parameter Search of Parameter Se	BE CONTRACTOR DE	тациита атациита зегонатесн М ∟аЮ inLab ⁴	MEDITER RETHING	A R I E	Vled an bion EBD	OptiHab	- Typology BT-8	en traga de Cadatris No Genera Resarcis	DE CATUMA DE CATUMA BRACELONATECH SUMM LEID InLal			led materia
Building type: Isola	ted block of apar	tments		Building	representatio	n: De buildinge	9 14	ilding of och	Equipmen	t Characteristics					
Nº Dwellings: 12	cial floor + 3			C2 (Barce B3 (Tarra	elona) gona)	139 532 24 301	nn %	6.1 1.1	System	Description			Perform	Jance	
Dwelling surface: 1 Occupants: 2 adult:	.03.2 m² s + 1 child								Heating and	DHW Conventional natural gas boiler f	or individua	al centralize system	(24kW) n = 0.75		
						Dwe	the 1		Cooling	Conventional air conditioning sy	stem (split)	installed in 2 zones	(5kW) COP = 2	0	
-						Í	8		Lighting	Compact fluorescent lamps (2 V	V/m²)		Lumino	us efficacy	= 0.6
		. il	┫╘╫┫┝╫ [┨] ┇╫╢				E8 89		Appliances	Refrigerator, washing machine, electric oven, TV and computer.	dishwasher,	microwave, electri	c stove, Average multifar Mediter	e househo mily buildi rranean re	ld of a ng in gion
							63		Energy eff	iciency measures					
R									Measure	Description	Pe	rformance	Investment cost	Mainte	- Life- cost span
3		/				Dwe	ding 2			External – EPS 4-12 cm	0	.37 - 0.20 W/m ² K	8,000 - 9,900 €/d	' ^	40
Building Characte	FIISTICS									External – XPS 4-12 cm	0	.38 - 0.21 W/m ² K	8,900 - 11,400 €/d	- N	40
Envelope			Descriptio			Thic	kness n	U-value W/m²K		Air chamber – mineral wool 3-10 cm	0	.48 - 0.27 W/m ² K	1,900 - 2,500 €/d	' ^	40
	Wall of 14 cm	hollow brid	ick with exter	ior mortar si	iding, 5cm of	air			Façade insulation	Air chamber – EPS + graphite 3-10 cm	0	.43 - 0.23 W/m ² K	2,300 - 4,800 €/d¹	' M	40
Façade	chamber not holes hrick with	ventilated, 4	10mm insulati	on and parti	tion wall of	5cm 0.	26	0.625		Air chamber – cellulose 3-10 cm	0	.37 - 0.25 W/m ² K	1,900 - 2,200 €/d	- N	40
	Flat roof with	double law	er of ceramic	c tile morta	r waternroof	μ				Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	0	.37 - 0.26 W/m ² K	3,700 - 4,100 €/d	-	40
Roof	cellular concre	te, 40mm o	of insulation v	vith joist floo	r slab with jo	nist- 0.	43	0.546		Internal –mineral wool 4-8 cm	0	.40 - 0.29 W/m ² K	2,700 - 2,900 €/d¹	-	40
	filler-block of c	oncrete and	plaster.							Inverted – XPS 8-12 cm	0	.26 - 0.20 W/m ² K	5,400 - 5,800 €/d	- M	30
Party wall	Partition wall w	vith perforat	ed brick and s	iding in both s	ides	0	18	2.254	R oof insulation	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm	0	.37 - 0.27 W/m ² K	1,600 - 1,700 €/d	- N	30
Internal wall	Wall of 14cm o	f perforated	brick and sid	ing in both sid	es	0	11	2.240		Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	0	.34 - 0.25 W/m ² K	2,100 - 2,400 €/d'	' M	30
Floor framing	Unidirectional mortar and pav	floor framing rement tiles	g reinforced c	oncrete, joist,	slab of concr	ete, 0.	28	2.304	Windows	4/16/4 Aluminium with thermal break		2.8 W/m ² K	8,200 €/d	-	30
						<u>-</u> -0	alue	g-value	change	4/16/4 PVC		2.8 W/m ² K	7,400 €/d	- N	30
Window			Descriptio	e		///	m²K		Sol. protec.	Awnings			1,200 €/d ¹	- N	15
Window frame	Aluminium with	houtthermal	l break						Heating	Condensing boiler + Improve install. Perform	ance	η = 1.09	2,740 €/d	w 109€	/dw 20
							44	0.76	and DHW	Biomass boiler + Improve install. Performand	e			1	•
Glazing	Clear double gl	azing 4/12/4	-						system	Heat pump air-wat. + Improve install. Perfor	mance		ı	1	
	Blinde			A is look	F	u			Cooling	Efficient Air conditioning system (split)		COP = 4.0	1,380 €/d	w 48€	/dw 15
						ņ			system	No cooling system				1	•
Cold bridge	Pilar in a wall	Pillar in a	Opening	Shutter box	Wall-floor imetion	Wall-roof	Wall over	Cantilever-	Lighting	LED	Lu	minous eff. = 0.8	546 €/d	N	- 20
					Internet	in and the second			Awareness	Awareness campaign			290 €/d	w 24€	/dw 20
Description			TZZ/		IN N	INI		EXT 3	Solar thermal	16 m^2 /building + 1500l storage tank			2,200 €/d	w 10€	/dw 15
Linear thermal		<i>τ</i> ς μ	0 33		30 0	0.65		300		- 20 m²/building - 240 Wp/module (12 module	es)		895 €/d	w 73€	dw 20
conductivity (Ψ, W/mK)		77.0	0.32		0.85	ca.U		C8.U	PV system					'	1





BRA do floren en casional matter	Longa de Catarya	инистватат роцтесни ре саталинуа валесноматесн MM Lab inLab		A A R I E ITERANKAN BUILDING INCOND FOR ENERGY BURGE	Veda *	OptiHab	- Typology BT-4				ed,
ouse	Buildir	ng representativ	on: Nº huildinge	8	ilding ct och	Equipmen	t Characteristics				\square
10	C2 (Ba B3 (Tai	rcelona) rragona)	57 650 15 044		2.5 0.6	System	Description		Perforn	lance	
						Heating and	DHW Conventional natural gas boiler for indi	vidual centralize system	i (24kW) n = 0.75		
						Cooling	Conventional air conditioning system (s	plit) installed in 2 zones	(5kW) COP = 2	0	
						Lighting	Compact fluorescent lamps (2 W/m^2)		Lumino	us efficacy = 0	9
		P2_E3	P1_E2	PB_E2		Appliances	Refrigerator, washing machine , drier, c stove, electric oven, TV and computer.	lishwasher, microwave,	electric Average multifa Medite	e household of mily building ir ranean regior	
		Ĩ		PB_E1		Energy eff	iciency measures				Π
		P2_E1		0		Measure	Description	Performance	Investment cost	Mainte- nance cost	Life- span
					ſ		External – EPS 4-12 cm	0.37 - 0.20 W/m ² K	8,300 - 10,200 €/d	- N	40
							External – XPS 4-12 cm	0.38 - 0.21 W/m ² K	9,300 - 11,900 €/d	- N	40
Descri	ption		ŧ	ickness m	U-value I W/m²K		Air chamber – mineral wool 3-10 cm	0.48 - 0.27 W/m ² K	1,900 - 2,600 €/d	- N	40
cm hollow brick with	exterior mortar	siding. 5cm o	of air			Façade insulation	Air chamber – EPS + graphite 3-10 cm	0.43 - 0.23 W/m ² K	2,400 - 5,000 €/d	- ~	40
ot ventilated, 40mm ins	sulation and pa	rtition wall of	5cm	0.26	0.625		Air chamber – cellulose 3-10 cm	0.37 - 0.25 W/m ² K	2,000 - 2,300 €/d	- N	40
with internal plaster sidir.	lg.	to to to to to to	Gio <i>c</i>				Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	0.37 - 0.26 W/m ² K	3,800 - 4,300 €/d	- -	40
ncrete, 40mm of insulati	ion with joist fl	liar, waterproc	joist-	0.43	0.546		Internal –mineral wool 4-8 cm	0.40 - 0.29 W/m ² K	2,800 - 3,000 €/d	- N	40
of concrete and plaster.							Inverted – XPS 8-12 cm	0.26 - 0.20 W/m ² K	11,500 - 12,200 €/d	- -	30
all with perforated brick a	and siding in bot	h sides		0.18	2.254	Roof insulation	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm	0.37 - 0.27 W/m ² K	3,400 - 3,600 €/d	- ~	30
m of perforated brick an	d siding in both	sides		0.11	2.240		Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	0.34 - 0.25 W/m ² K	4,400 - 5,000 €/d	- -	30
nal floor framing reinford pavement tiles	ed concrete, jo	ist, slab of conc	crete,	0.28	2.304	Windows	4/16/4 Aluminium with thermal break	2.8 W/m ² K	10,300 €/d	- N	30
				-value	<i>e</i> -value	change	4/16/4 PVC	2.8 W/m ² K	9,400 €/d	- N	30
Descri	ption		5	V/m²K	,	Sol. protec.	Awnings	,			i.
without thermal break						Heating	Condensing boiler + Improve install. Performance	η = 1.09	3,840 €/d	v 145 €/dw	20
				3.44	0.76	and DHW	Biomass boiler + Improve install. Performance	η = 0.91	b/∋ 006'6	v 363 €/dw	15
e glazing 4/12/4						system	Heat pump air-wat. + Improve install. Performance	COP = 2.6	11,100 €/d	v 60 €/dw	15
			L			Cooling	Efficient Air conditioning system (split)	COP = 4.0	2,565 €/d	v 48 €/dw	15
callin	All Fe	Mage (II50)	Ċ,			system	No cooling system			•	
Pillar in a Opening	Shutter box	Wall-floor	Wall-roof	Wall over	Cantilever-	Lighting	LED	Luminous eff. = 0.8	719 €/d	- N	20
	2		- And			Awareness	Awareness campaign	,	290 €/d	v 24 €/dw	20
			ZINT	INT		Solar	2.2 m^2 /building + 160l storage tank		1,900 €/d	v 100 €/dw	15
		N	22		EXT MA	thermal	6.6 m^2 /building + 300l storage tank		6,800 €/d	v 100 €/dw	15
- 0.32	0.40	0.85	0.65	0.14		DV system	$3 m^2/building - 140 W p/module$		3,000 €/d	v 73€/dw	20
							$3\ m^2/building$ - $140\ Wp/module$ with batteries		4,000 €/d	v 302 €/dw	20

Building type: Semi-detached house Year of construction: 1991-2006 Ne Floors: 3 floors/dw Dwelling surface: 175, 3 m² Occupants: 2 adults + 2 child

S

z

/

OptiHab - Typology BT-4

Building Characte	istics								
Envelope			Descriptio	E			Thickne	ess	U-value W/m²K
Façade	Wall of 14 c chamber not holes brick wi	m hollow br ventilated, ² th internal pla	ick with exte 10mm insulat aster siding.	rior mortar s ion and part	siding, 5cm ition wall of	of air 5cm	0.26		0.625
Roof	Flat roof wit cellular concr filler-block of	th double lay tete, 40mm o concrete and	er of cerami of insulation v plaster.	ic tile, morta with joist floo	ar, waterpro or slab with	ofing, joist-	0.43		0.546
Party wall	Partition wall	with perforat	ed brick and s	iding in both	sides		0.18		2.254
Internal wall	Wall of 14cm	of perforated	brick and sid	ling in both si	des		0.11		2.240
Floor framing	Unidirectiona mortar and pa	l floor framin avement tiles	g reinforced c	concrete, joist	; slab of con	crete,	0.28		2.304
Window			Descriptio	c			U-valt W/m²	<u>ਭ</u>	g-value -
Window frame	Aluminium wi	thout therma	l break				, ,		1
Glazing	Clear double g	glazing 4/12/4	-				3 ,44		0.70
Solar protection	Blinds + awnir	sgr		Air leaka	ige (n ₅₀)	7.5			
Cold bridge	Pilar in a wall	Pillar in a corner	Opening frame	Shutter box	Wall-floor junction	Wall-ro junctio	of ex_	Wall over tternal slab	Cantilever- wall junction
Description	IN		INI		NT N	IN N	18/4	INT	
Linear thermal conductivity (Ψ, W/mK)	0.33		0.32	0.40	0.85	0.65		0.14	

A Contraction A Contraction of the contraction of t	ATION: NO BASE CASE th passive Base Case Att hours). The Att hours). The Att hours.	15. 66% Constraints of the constraint of the con	Vr LOW INFROM on the primary entry of the primary primary of the primary primary of the primary primary of the primary primary of the primary of the primary primary of the primary of the primary of the primary of the primary of the	LATION: YES	BASE CASE Edemmed =17,584.KWM/dm-yr	(<51 hours). The control of the c	COST-OPTIMAL Edenmed =15,466£WhVdw-yr	11 ² .yr	² , yr LOW ENERGY B. demand = 11,558,100,400 - 71 on the primary	Heating Cooling 05443 3%	LATION: NO	BASE CASE Externand - 18,017 kWMdwryn th passive	(<51 hours). The sector 15. Sector 15.	COST-OPTIMAL Externand =15,464 kWbdwryr	1 ² -yr	tyr LOUI ENERGY Edemand - 11,555 PWM/Mr-yn on the primary	0.001
	IG REMARKS - CLIMATE: C2 (Barcelona) – NATURAL VENT t evaluation annual discomfort can be reduced from 33% to 26% only w sures. The re no problems of overheating during the warm season e are no problems of overheating during the warm season	ing system could be avoided to guarantee comfort conditio se (BC) gy label = E (237 kWhEP/m ² .yr). sissions = 35 kgCo ₂ /m ² .yr ptimal measures (CO) gy label= B (121 kWhEP/m ² .yr). CO ₂ emissions = 18 kgCO ₂ /	tergy measures (DR) hergy measures (DR) biomacs balled = A (EX WhEP/m ² ,rr). CO ₂ emissions = 5 kgCO $_{d}$ /m biomacs baller is the active measure that has a high impact gy consumption (46% of reduction) gy consumption (46% of reduction) and be reduced in 44%.	VG REMARKS - CLIMATE: B3 (Tarragona) – NATURAL VENTI	rt evaluation annual discomfort can be reduced from 29% to 23% only w surve.	re are no problems of overheating during the warm season re are no problems of overheating during the comfort condition on Bot	rgy label = D (184 kWhPE/m².yr).	emissions = z8 kgCU3 im- yr ptimal measures (CO) rgy label = 8 (110 kWhPE/m².yr). CO2 emissions = 16 kgCO2/ merzv measures (DR)	rgy label = A (65 kWhPE/m ² ·yr). CO ₂ emissions = 5 kgCO ₂ /m biomass boiler is the active measure that has a high impac	rgy consumption (42% of reduction) ting demand could be reduced in 44%. hary energy savings: up to 65%	VG REMARKS - CLIMATE: B3 (Tarragona) – NATURAL VENT	rt evaluation annual discomfort can be reduced from 29% to 23% only w	sures. • are no problems of overheating during the warm season ing system could be avoided to guarantee comfort conditio	ase (BC) gy label = E (219 kWhPE/m ^{2.} yr).	emissions = 32 kgCO₂/m².yr ptimal measures (CO) 'gy label⊨ B (110 kWhPE/m².yr).CO₂ emissions = 16 kgCO₂/r	lergy measures (DR) 'gy label = A (65 kWhPE/m ² .yr). CO ₂ emissions = 5 kgCO ₂ /m biomass boiler is the active measure that has a high impac	and some set in the ADA of and the form
MARIE MARIE PARTINICATIONATIONATIONATIONATIONATIONATIONATION	air chamber and insulation ulation without thermal break the glazing 4/12/4 or: blinds and awnings or: blinds and awnings the	Cool Base c Base c Base c Cool Cool Cool Cool Cool Cool Cool Cool Cool Ene	• Low er Ene The ene Prior	he window area is big .	n is optimal	illar, however the internal The Coo fort.	Ene Ene	an internal). • Cost O omfort (around the 5% of • Low e	ion, including in the building The The	ene vation and the use of Hea Prin	Соистир	BASE CASE E.demmod = 19,6781X Whikiw yr The	esweet and a cool	COST-OPTIMAL • Base c Edemand = 17,598 kWMdwryn F	66% 66% 71% 71% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70% 70	LOW ENERGY • LOW EN Edomand = 15,003 kWbdwryn • Ene Edomand = 15,003 kWbdwryn • The	0%13% 3%
	eteached house > Forgade: with A construction: 1991-2007 > Windows suit withing withins ors: 3100rs/dw > Windows suit withing and suits > Solor protection		Number of the second se	ation in the layage and in the root. 3gade which allows natural cross ventilation and th	is and awning, then the use of the solar protection tter impact in the thermal comfort, however it is	on and the air chamber insulation, their cost is sin performance. tive effect in both cold and the warm season com	tternal and internal inculation is duite similar hein	the investment cost (external more expensive the performance has a high impact in the annual disc investment cost is high (around 9,000 \notin /dw).	ystem could be avoid, guarantying comfort condit	s include only active measures. r primary energy consumption imply a deep reno	? (Barcelona) – NATURAL VENTILATION: YES	educed from 33% to 26% only with passive	eating during the warm season (<41 hours). The d to guarantee comfort conditions.	,²-yr).	'yr). CO ₂ emissions = 18 kgCO ₂ / m²-yr	·yr). CO_2 emissions = 5 kgCO ₂ /m ² ·yr measure that has a high impact on the primary	auction)
OptiHab - Typology BT-4 [5/5]	CONCLUDING Vear of Veroo REMARKS Dwellin Occupa	or z	The base case of the building typolo	 The building has two external factors 	 The base case already has blinds Effect of insulation in the façade: The external insulation has a beti 	 Comparing the internal insulation insulation has a better thermal p The facade insulation has a positi 	 Effect of insulation in the roof: The thermal hehaviour of the ext 	 However, the main difference is a the improvement of the window particular is reduction), nevertheless its initial ir 	 In most of the cases, the cooling sy: without natural ventilation. 	 Most of the cost-optimal solutions The measures that provide a lower renewable energy systems. 	CONCLUDING REMARKS - CLIMATE: C2	Comfort evaluation The annual discomfort can be ret	measures. There are no problems of overhe cooling system could be avoided	 Base case (bc) Energy label = D (201 kWhPE/m² CO emissions - 32 kgCO /m², wr 	 Cost Optimal measures (CO) Cost Optimal measures (CO) Energy label= 8 (122 kWhE/m²· 	Energy label = A (67 kWhPE/m ²) The biomass boiler is the active r	energy consumption (22% or red

	Initial Investment	€/m²	83	106	83	58	76	69	58	76	58	76	61	48	61	48	38	38	38	38	
	Initial Investment	€/dw	5 051	6430	5 051	4 594	5973	5441	4 594	5 973	4 594	5 973	6 307	4 953	6 307	4 953	6 741	6 741	6 741	6 741	
CO	CO ₂ emissions reduction	%	43	47	49	47	50	55	44	49	50	52	45	42	44	39	44	49	43	20	
	Primary Energy Savings	%	38	42	45	42	47	20	40	47	45	49	38	39	39	39	39	49	40	20	
	Label Improve		m	2	e	2	2	e	2	e	2	2	æ	1	e	1	2	e	2	œ	
	Energy Label		8	U	80	υ	٥	8	υ	۵	υ	۵	8	۵	8	٥	8	8	8	8	
BC	Energy Label		ш	ш	ш	ш	u.	ш	ш	U	ш	L	ш	ш	ш	ш	۵	ш	۵	ш	
	Natual ventilation		Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No									
	Climate		C2	C2	E1	C2	C2	E1	B3	B3	D3	D3	C2	5	B3	B3	8	2	B3	B3	
	Dwelling area	m2		60.5					78.8					103.7	7.001			1-75-0	C.C/1		
	Tipology			BT-5					BT-6					BT.8	0			DT A			

SUMM Lab inLab

OptiHab - Summary

European Union ERDF

	Initial Investment	€/m²	262	234	240	253	253	236	253	253	253	253	237	244	237	244	222	222	222	222
	Initial Investment	€/dw	15872	14164	14492	19971	19971	18592	19971	19971	19971	19971	24477	25 210	24477	25 210	38926	38926	38926	38926
DR	CO ₂ emissions reduction	%	67	64	69	70	68	74	70	69	74	72	59	58	59	58	84	86	82	84
	Primary Energy Savings	%	60	59	65	66	63	69	65	63	69	99	51	52	51	52	67	72	65	71
	Label Improve		4	4	4	4	4	4	4	2	4	4	4	e	4	e	m	4	e	4
	Energy Label		۷	۷	۷	A	8	۷	۷	8	۷	8	۷	8	۷	8	۷	۷	۷	۷
BC	Energy Label		ш	ш	ш	ш	L	ш	ш	σ	ш	L	ш	ш	ш	ш	٥	ш	٥	ш
	Natual ventilation		Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
	Climate		C2	C2	E1	C2	C2	E1	B3	B3	D3	D3	C2	C2	B3	B3	C2	C2	B3	B3
	Dwelling area	m2		60.5					78.8					100.7	7.001			175.2	0.014	
	Tipology			BT-5					BT-6					DT 0	0			DT-A	<u>†</u>	

OptiHab - Conclusions Image: Conclusion for the optiHab state of the optiHab study are explained in the following section. The conclusions of the optiHab study are explained in the following section. The conclusions	OptiHab - Conclusions
presented below provide a general view of the study including a qualitative description of the main outcomes. The	The active measures, in particular the improvement of the heating systems performance, provide a high
detailed results have been presented above in the concluding remarks of each typology.	reduction of the primary energy consumption. However, the active measures have to be combined with the
	passive ones in order to achieve the A dass of the energy efficiency labelling.
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	The optimal measures are able to achieve B/C class of the energy efficiency labelling in buildings with natural
 OptiHab gives detailed information of the current situation of the most representative building typologies which 	ventilation, and C/D class in buildings without natural ventilation.
represents the 80% of the building stock.	The measures that include a deep renovation and renewable energy systems can achieve an A class of the
 Complete process for developing cost-effective studies of energy efficiency measures for building renovation. 	energy efficiency labelling in buildings with natural ventilation and a B class in buildings without natural
e innovative anoroacies. • innovative anoroacies as the two-sten ontimization considering comfort, energy and economic criteria.	 The cost-antimal analysis is an annomiate method, to choose the most suitable measure depending on:
 realistic characterization, with the use of stochastic profiles for the user behavior and its interaction with the 	The building typology and the climate
building, and the building parameters related to measurement and survey campaigns;	The objectives of the users: environmental and/or economical.
 the economic evaluation and the cost-effective analysis are done as defined by the European regulation; 	 The effect of the measures can be summarize in the following scheme:
 to prioritize the passive measures rather than the active ones guaranteeing the thermal comfort of the users. 	VENTLATION Cost-Optimal measures
PASSIVE MEASURES CONCLUSIONS	Primary energy savings: 35-50 % Primary energy savings: 50-70 %
The passive measures have an important reduction of the energy demand, specially on the older building	
typologies (BT-5 and BT-6).	
· In general, the external insulation in the façade has a better thermal performance, however its initial	
investment cost is higher.	
The roof insulation has an important benefit on the under roof dwellings improving the thermal comfort during	
the cold and warm season, specially in the older building typologies (BT-5 and BT-6).	Cost-Optimal measures
The improvement of the window performance has a high impact in the annual discomfort (around 5-10% of	Primary energy savings: 30-50 % Primary energy savings: 50-75
reduction) and in the energy demand, nevertheless its initial investment cost is high.	
The natural ventilation and the optimal use of the solar protections are effective strategies to reduce the	
cooling demand being possible to avoid the cooling system in some cases. However, there are situations where	
the cooling system are needed to guarantee the thermal comfort:	
The older building typologies analysed in the study (BT-5 and BT-6) do not have an appropriate design for the	 The energy renovation of building increases the quality of life of the users and at the same time, increase the
natural ventilation (single side ventilation and /or small courtyards).	value of the building and its lifespan. There are studies ²⁴ that show how the economic value of the building can
There are buildings in most of climates of Catalonia that due to their environmental conditions (noise,	increase up to 25%. If this revaluation would be included in the cost-optimal analysis, probably most of the
pollution) can not use the natural ventilation for cooling the dwelling.	measures will become cost optimal. Further studies are needed to quantify the revaluation and the increase of
· The buildings can increase the hours of overheating because of an over-insulation of the building. This	the lifespan of the buildings after the energy renovation.
situation has a reduction of the thermal discomfort of the cold season, however a negative effect over the	 As the heating demand is reduced, the electric consumption becomes more important. In this study, measures
warm season comfort.	related with lighting performance improvement and awareness campaign to reduce the electric consumption
	are evaluated. However, specific solutions to reduce the appliances consumption has to considerer in tuture
	studies.

OptiHab – Appendix		Indiana de Lerry Acordo		AARIE Contention AARIE Contention Antonional Manual Manual Antonional Manual Antonional Manual Manua	ō	ptiHab – Appendix I			ит роцтёсниса итесн зір in <mark>Lab</mark> [*] ти	
Active measure code - d	lescription				Ac	tive measure code - de	scription			
Code Heating + DHW system	Cooling system	Photovoltaic system	Li ghting system	Averness campaign	Code	Heating + DHW system	Cooling system	Photov oltai c system	Lighting system	Awarness campaign
1 Conventional NG boiler	Conventional heat pump	N	CFL	NO	D1	Conventional NG boiler	Conventional heat pump	NO	CFL	N
2 Conventional NG boiller	Conventional heat pump	ON ON	CFL	YES	D2 D2	Conventional NG boiler	Conventional heat pump	ON ON	CFL CFL	YES
4 Conventional NG boiler	Conventional heat pump	ON		YES	04 0	Conventional NG boiler	Conventional heat pump	2 00		YES
9 Conventional NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	NO	сн	N	D13	Conventional NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	ON	CFL	ON
10 Conventional NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	ON	CFL	YES	D14	Conventional NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	ON	CFL	YES
11 Conventional NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	NO	CED	NO	D15	Conventional NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	ON	LED	ON
12 Conventional NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	NO	LED	YES	D16	Convertional NG boller	Efficient heat pump	N	LED	YES
17 Condensing NG boiler Immrove afficiency installation	Conventional heat pump	NO	CFL	NO	D25	Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	CFL	NO
18 Condensing NG boller	Conventional heat pump	NO	CFL	YES	D26	Conventional NG boiller	NO	NO	CFL	YES
Improve efficiency instalation to Condensing NG boiler	Contractional hard number	QN	5	QN	D27	Conventional NG boiler	N	N	LED	ON
Condensing NG boiler		2			D28	Conventional NG boller Condensing NG boller	NO	NO	LED	YB
20 Improve efficiency instalation	Conventional heat pump	NO	TED	YES	D37	Improve efficiency instalation	Conventional heat pump	NO	CFL	NO
24 Condensing No boller Improve efficiency instalation	Conventional heat pump	YES (12m ² /building)	LED	YES		Solar thermal system 2.2m ⁺ Condensing NG boiller				
25 Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency instalation	Efficient heat pump	NO	CFL	NO	D38	Improve efficiency instalation	Conventional heat pump	NO	CFL	YES
26 Condensing NG boller Immovus afficiancy installation	Efficient heat pump	ON	CFL	YES		Condensing NG boiler	:	:		
27 Condensing NG boiler	Efficient heat pump	NO	LED	NO	680	 Improve etriciency installation Solar thermal system 2.2m² 	Conventional heat pump	NO	LED	NO
28 Condensing NG boller	Efficient heat pump	N	93	YES	D40	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency instalation	Conventional heat pump	NO	LED	YES
Improve efficiency instalation 21 Condensing NG boiler	Efficient hant arread	VEC 11 Dave Burning Con	9	Q		Solar thermal system 2.2m ²				
³¹ Improve efficiency instalation Condensing NG boiler	numeric rice of branch	(Summer upt) car		2	D-48	contrems ing ivo pointer Improve efficiency instalation	Conventional heat pump	YES (3m ² without battery)	LED	NO
32 Improve efficiency instalation	Efficient heat pump	YES (12m ⁻ /building)	LED	YES		Solarthermal system 2.2m ²				
Condensing NG boiler 40 Improve efficiency instalation Solar tharmal sustam 12m ² Buildia	Conventional heat pump	YES (12m ² /building)	LED	YES	D61	Improve efficiency instalation Solar thermal system 2.2m ²	NO	ON	CFL	YES
Condensing NG boile r 41 Improve efficiency instal ation	Efficient heat pump	ON	CFL	N	D62	Condensing NG boiller Improve efficiency installation	N	ON	CFL	ON
Solar thermal system 12m / puildi Condensing NG boile r 42 Improve efficiency installation	ng Efficient heat pump	ON	Ct	YES	D63	Condensing NG boiller Improve efficiency instalation	NO	ON	TED	YES
Solar thermal system 12m2/buildin	80					Solar thermal system 2.2m ²				
Condensing NG boiler 43 Improve efficiency instalation 541-44-44-44-44-44-44-44-44-44-44-44-44-4	Efficient heat pump	ON	LED	ON	D64	Condensing to bollier Improve efficiency instalation Solarthermal system 2.2m ²	NO	NO	LED	YES
Condensing NG boller Condensing NG boller 44 Improve efficiency instalation	Efficient heat pump	ON	TED	YES	D72	Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency instalation	ON	YES [3m ² without battery]	LED	YES
Solar thermal system 12m ⁴ /buildi Condensing NG boiler	Bu				0110	Biomass boiler	Conventional heat numb	ON	Ē	VPC
48 Improve efficiency instalation Solar thermal system 12m ² /buildin	Efficient heat pump 1g	YES (12m ² /building)	LED	YES	D12	Improve efficiency instal ation Biomass boiler	Conventional heat pump	YES (3m ² without batterv)	ſĘŊ	YES
65 Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	CFL	NO	10	Improve efficiency instalation Biomass boiller		Q	9	NE
66 Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	CFL	YES		Improve efficiency instalation Biomass holler	2	2		3
67 Conventional NG boiler	NO	NO	LED	NO	D14/	Improve efficiency instalation	NO	YES (3m ² without battery)	LED	YES
68 Conventional NG boller Condensing NG boller	NO	NO	LED	81						
81 Improve efficiency installation	NO	NO	CFL	NO						
Contensing No boller Improve efficiency instalation	NO	NO	CFL	YES						
83 Condensing NG boiller Improve efficiency instalation	NO	NO	TED	NO						
81 Condensing NG boller Improve efficiency instalation	NO	NO	CFL	NO						
82 Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency instalation	NO	NO	CFL	YES						
83 Condensing NG boller Improve efficiency instalation	NO	NO	LED	NO						
84 Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency instalation	NO	ON	TED	YES						
88 Condensing NG boiler Improve efficiency instalation	NO	YES (12m ² /building)	TED	YES						
Condensing NG boller 96 Improve efficiency instal ation Solar thermal system 12m ² /buildin	NO Ng	YES (12m ² /building)	LED	YES						

OptiHab – Appendix II		Induction for Energy free		A MARIE Concernance accente active active accente active ac
Active measure description				
		Typ	ology	
Active measure	Performance –	E-G-I	٩	Comments / reference
Conventional NG boiler	0.7	24 kW	24 kW	IDAE (2009). CALENER-VYP. Viviendas y edificios ferciarios pequeños y meclanos. Factores de corrección de equipos.
Condensing NG boiler	1.09	20 kW	35 kW	IDAE (2009). CALENER-VYP. Viviendas y edificios ferciarios pequeños y meclanos. Factores de corrección de equipos.
Biomass boiler			15 kW	IDAE (2009). CALENER-VYP. Viviendas y edificios ferciarios pequeños y meclanos. Factores de corrección de equipos.
Heat pump Air-water	2.6		11 kW	IDAE (2009). CALENER-VYP. Viviendas y edificios ferciarios pequeños y meclanos. Factores de corrección de equipos.
Improve efficiency installation		Programmab Thermostatic Tap a Water vol	le thermostat radiator valve erators ume saving	EN 15316-2-1:2008 He ating systems in buildings. Method for calculation of system energy requirements and system efficiencies. Space heating emission systems.
Solar Thermal system	e.	16m²/building 1500l storage tank	 2.2 m²/household 160l storage tank 6.6 m²/household 300l storage tank 	
Conventional AC Split	2	5 kW	5 kW	IDAE (2009). CALENER- VYP. VIviendas y edificios terciarios pequeños y medianos. Factores de corrección de equipos.
Efficient ACSplit	4	5 kW	5 kW	IDAE (2009). CALENER-VYP. V Wiendas y edificios terciarios pequeños y medianos. Factores de corrección de equipos.
NO cooling system	,			Only natural ventilation
PV system		12 m²/building 240 Wp	3m²/household 140 Wp 3m²/household	
	Cm/W C		140 Wp With batteries	tumitorius afficianor. 60 %
5				
LED	1.5 W/m2			Luminous efficiency: 80 %
Awareness campaign				Reduction of the 13% of the lighting and appliances consumption.

Passive measure descriptio	c		
Measure	Code	Description	Additional benefits
	F11-F15	External – EPS 4-12 cm	
	F16-F20	External – XPS 4-12 cm	
	F21-F23	Air chamber – rock wool 3-10 cm	
Façade insulation	F24-F26	Air chamber – EPS + graphite 3-10 cm	Reduce the thermal bridge.
	F27-F28	Air chamber – cellulose 5-10 cm	
	F29-F31	Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	1
	F32-F34	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm	
	C11-C13	Inverted – XPS 8-12 cm	
Roofinsulation	C14-C16	Internal – rock wool 4-8 cm	
	C17-C19	Internal – EPS 4-8 cm	
Witedow do wedow	W11	4/16/4 Aluminium with thermal break	Boduco the siriafilteration (nE0=E)
	W12	4/16/4 PVC	עבממרה חוה מור ווווו המרוחוו (כ=חכוו)
Solar protection	S11	Awning	

RECCI CONTRACT POLICIAN CONTRACTOR AND A RIE CONTRACT CONTRACTOR AND A RIE CONTRACT CONTRACTOR AND A RIE CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR A RIE CONTRAC

OptiHab – Appendix II

European Union

I